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A Wo r d o f I n t r o d u c t i o n
“The secret of success is constancy
of purpose”
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B oa r d o f D i r e c t o r s

Mr. Mohammed Hariri
Chairman of the Board
Mr. Hariri is the Chairman - General Manager of GroupMed,
sal (Holding), IRAD Investment Holding, Al Mal Investment
Holding, as well as BankMed and its banking subsidiaries. He
is also Senior Vice President and General Secretary of the
Board of Directors of Saudi Oger Ltd. He is in charge of
investments and transactions on behalf of Saudi Oger Ltd.
and its associates. He is the Chairman of Oger TeleCom and
serves on the boards of directors of various companies of the
Saudi Oger Group, including Oger Telekomunikasyon, Turk
Telecom and AVEA Ilepisim Hizmetleri (AVEA) (in Turkey), 3C Telecommunications
(in South Africa), Medgulf Holding sal, Oger international S.A. and Entreprise de
Travaux Internationaux (ETI). Mr. Hariri is also a board member of Arab Bank plc - Jordan.

GroupMed sal Holding
Member

The principal shareholder of the Bank.

Board of Directors
Members
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Mrs. Nazek Audi Hariri
Member
Mrs. Hariri, the wife of H.E late Prime Minister, Mr. Rafic
Hariri, is a board member of GroupMed (Holding) and Arab
Bank plc - Jordan. She is also the President of the Rafic Hariri
Foundation and several other humanitarian, cultural and
educational institutions in the Lebanese Republic and the
Gulf region. She is the First Ambassador of the International
Osteoporosis Foundation, as well as President of this
Foundation's 206-A Bone Fund.
Mr. Maroun Asmar
Member
Mr. Asmar is the Advisor of the Management Committee at
BankMed. He is also the Chairman General Manager of MIB
(Holding). He is the former Dean of the Faculty of
Engineering at Saint Joseph University. Mr. Asmar served as
the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Electricité du Liban.

Usama Mikdashi
Member
Mr. Mikdashi is a former Managing Director of Citigroup,
Corporate and Investment Banking-Risk Management for
Europe, Middle East and Africa. Mr Mikdashi spent his entire
career with Citibank and Citigroup working in many countries. He had senior responsibilities in the areas of corporate
lending, risk management, operations, project finance and
general management. He serves as a non executive director
on a number of business entities and in several non-profit
organisations. Mr. Mikdashi holds a BBA and an MBA from
the American University of Beirut.
Nemeh Sabbagh
Member
Mr. Nemeh Sabbagh is Executive General Manager and Board
member of BankMed and its banking subsidiaries. He is also
Chairman of Turkland Bank (T-Bank) in Turkey, Board member of Oger Telecom (in Dubai), The Mediterranean and Gulf
Insurance and Reinsurance Co. (in Saudi Arabia), the
Mediterranean and Gulf Insurance Co. P.L.C.-Jordan,
SaudiMed Investment Company (in Saudi Arabia) and
Chairman of Med Securities Investment Company (in
Lebanon). Previously he was Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer of Arab National Bank (in Saudi Arabia).
Basile Yared, ESQ
Member
Mr. Yared is an attorney at law, with law offices in Paris and
Beirut. He is a Board Member of GroupMed sal (Holding), The
Lebanese Company for the Development and Reconstruction
of the Beirut Central District sal (Solidere), Saudi Oger Ltd.
and Oger International.
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c h a i r m a n ’s l e t t e r

WE AT BANKMED ARE FULLY
PREPARED TODAY TO REAP THE
BENEFITS OF OUR LOCAL
EXPANSION AND TO CARRY ON
WITH OUR PLANS FOR REGIONAL INTEGRATION.
It seems that challenges simply bring
out the best in us. If 2006 was the year
of consolidation and new beginnings,
a year in which we have laid the
grounds to reposition ourselves
among the leaders of the Lebanese
banking sector, 2007 was indeed the year of turnaround and achievement.
Amidst challenging times, our determination and hard work kept us
moving along the path of our promised mission. We at BankMed are fully
prepared today to reap the benefits of our local expansion and to carry on
with our plans for regional integration.
Despite the difficult political environment, the Lebanese economy
surprised on the upside and achieved a 4% growth rate in 2007. The fiscal
deficit was reduced to $2.5 billion, or 10% of GDP, down from 13% of GDP
the previous year. These results have brought us closer to our potential. For
Lebanon, with its well established financial system, modern laws and
regulations, developed institutions, vibrant private sector, and highly
talented human capital, remains the natural destination of oil-generated
inflows seeking investment opportunities in the region.
In parallel, the banking sector has recorded another stellar performance. Total
assets of the commercial banking sector increased by 10.7% over 2007 and
reached $83 billion. Meanwhile total private sector deposits increased to $68
billion, almost three times GDP. The sector remains very liquid, and its foreign
assets are over 80% of GDP. Net profits have totaled $846 million in 2007.
While the return on assets and return on equity ratios are still below their
Arab counterparts, the Lebanese banks have proved once more that they are
capable to adapt quickly to challenging environments, and still grow their
balance sheets regardless of the harshness of the external conditions.
At BankMed, we have contributed our bit in this shining mosaic. In 2006,
we undertook a massive revamping of the way we conduct business, by
consolidating our banking operations, reorganizing our structure, and
expanding both vertically and horizontally to tap into new markets,
segments, and products. In 2007, we consolidated our position on the local
scene, implemented the first round of our expansion strategy, and turned
around our bottom line.
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Liquidity in the system remains abundant and profitability of the sector
increased year-on-year despite all the challenges. The sector, which
BankMed, whose assets constitute 11% of those of the Lebanese banking
employs some 16,000 individuals, represents a beacon of stability, with
sector, has positioned itself in the Lebanese market as a financial
implications beyond the orderly functioning of the financial market and
institution that caters to its clients’ needs in their various aspects:
the value it adds to the economy, to touch upon the overall well being of
corporate, retail or investment products. In recent years, we have been
Lebanese society.
known as the corporate lender who significantly contributed to the
reconstruction and development of the Lebanese economy. We will
We, at BankMed, took the time this year to consolidate and reorganize the
continue to assign an important weight to our corporate operations and we
way we conduct business in order to become more efficient and hence
are proud that our list of clients comprises the best names in Lebanon
deliver better services and products to our client base. We completed, in difacross industries. In addition we have significantly boosted our retail
ferent ways, the integration of the two smaller banks of the Group into the
banking activities, and are increasingly being recognized for introducing a
larger BankMed. This was conducted smoothly and with no interruption of
range of loans and facilities through branches that have been transformed
service or impact on its quality. All of our banking activities are now delivinto sales outlets. Meanwhile, we introduced a broad range of investment
ered by a universal entity that employs around 1,000 persons, and is repreand hedging products allowing clients to participate in the global foreign
sented by 45 branches throughout the country. Consolidation provided an
exchange and equity markets.
occasion to reorganize ourselves in a way that geared the bank towards a bottom-line-driven business model. In the process, some executives were offered
Vertical expansion into new segments of the market has been key to
greater responsibilities while others with valuable experience were added to the
allowing a horizontal expansion into the region and beyond. T-Bank, our
team. To enhance shareholder value, we restructured the balance sheet and
bank in Turkey, is in a position that would enable it to benefit from one of
diversified revenue resources by looking beyond our borders. In that conthe most promising markets in the region. Our investment banking entity
text, we completed an acquisition of a bank in Turkey, and initiated plans
in Saudi Arabia, the SaudiMed Investment Company, is ready to provide
to expand regionally in carefully selected markets.
corporate advisory, capital markets and asset management services to
clients in the Kingdom where our broader group has significant presence.
The change of culture at BankMed has been significant. We are more servMeanwhile, we are expanding the operations of our branch in Cyprus, and
ice-oriented and customer-focused than ever. We are more efficiently
we are beefing up our private banking activities through our subsidiary in
organized and our operations and processes are now fully geared to optiSwitzerland, BankMed Suisse.
mize results. Our strategy for the coming period is to become a leader in
retail banking, in parallel to our already established position as a leading
Indeed 2007 was the year of turnaround. From our expansion and
corporate banking institution in Lebanon. Our aim is also to continue our
integration, to the modernization of our infrastructure and systems, to our
carefully planned expansion program in markets where we can add value
investment in human capital, we achieved a significant improvement in
and achieve solid progress.
the bottom line. None of this could have been done without the hard work
and dedication of our management and staff and the loyalty and trust of
2006 was a year in transition for BankMed. It was a year of new beginnings,
our clients.
of preparing better for tomorrow. Now we are eager to perform, achieve
greater returns to our shareholders, and place our institution on the platMohammed Hariri
form it deserves. This institution, which dates back to 1944, is now more than
ever prepared to reap the benefits of the integration and advancement in
the financial services industry, not just in Lebanon, but on a regional scale.
Mohammed Hariri
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Executive General
M a n a g e r ’s L e t t e r
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Executive General
c h a i r m a n ’s l e t t e r
M a n a g e r ’s L e t t e r

IN 2007, BANKMED HAS
ACHIEVED NOT ONLY GREATER
DIVERSIFICATION, BUT ALSO
A MAJOR LEAP IN THE
BOTTOM LINE, AND THE
NUMBERS CLEARLY SPEAK FOR
THEMSELVES.
2007 was the year of turnaround at
BankMed. Coming out of a veritable
construction site in the previous year,
which included a major restructuring,
reorganization and revamping of the Bank’s operations, and defying the
challenging political circumstances that the country has been going
through, BankMed managed to simply reinvent itself. The process resulted
in the emergence of a modern and universal bank that is highly sensitive
to clients’ needs and increasingly capable of meeting them in all aspects.
This is evident across a range of retail and investment products that were
introduced this year, as well as via the constant drive to improve customer
service, now enshrined as one of the pillars of BankMed. The Bank, always
recognized as the financial institution that played a key role in supporting
corporate Lebanon during the last decade, continues to be one of the
largest corporate lenders in the country, but is also increasingly recognized
as the Bank of the individual customer and investor, regardless of what
their needs are. In 2007, BankMed has achieved not only greater
diversification, but also a major leap in the bottom line, and the numbers
clearly speak for themselves: after averaging $13.8 million in the last 5
years, net profits reached $40 million in 2007. This is not to say that we are
fully satisfied, but just to underline that at BankMed, a new phase has
indeed started.
BankMed has come a long way in a very short period of time, completing to
a large extent a total revamp of its operations. Last year, the operations of
three banks, members of GroupMed, were consolidated into one. The
consolidation provided an opportunity for the new entity to be reorganized
into a more flexible and modern institution, and as a result, significant
changes took place on the levels of human resources, organizational
structure, and systems. This has happened within a relatively compressed
time schedule and in the context of a difficult political environment. This
has made the turnaround that took place at the level of the bottom line
very revealing of the determination and efforts that went into the
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restructuring, reorganization and re-branding process.
In last year’s annual report, we promised that 2007 would be the year of
performance after two years of transition in 2005 and 2006. Indeed, net
profits increased to $40 million. This was due, above all, to the commitment
of BankMed staff and their determination to live up to the challenges.
Specifically, net interest income was $98 million, or 36% above last year,
while fees & commissions revenue was $27 million, or 64% above last year.
We have thus improved significantly but we are not yet where we want to
be and we are aware that we still have some hard work ahead of us.
The expansion into promising markets like Turkey and Saudi Arabia have
placed BankMed on the regional banking scene and constituted a major step
in the diversification of the sources of revenue. Turkland Bank (T-Bank) was
acquired in January 2007 and has since undergone a major reorganization
that has touched upon management, premises and overall operations.
Meanwhile, the SaudiMed Investment Company received the approval from
Saudi regulators, and has been operational since the third quarter of 2008. It
is involved in corporate finance through capital raising in debt or equity
structures as well as in managing and offering investment funds to high net
worth individuals and institutional investors in the Kingdom.
Domestically, the change at BankMed was felt across the board. However,
the most fundamental transformation was the one that touched upon the
underlying culture of the Bank. Be it on the corporate, retail or investment
level, customer service has clearly made a leap forward to become central
in our business model. This has happened through a reengineering of all
major processes in the Bank, and centralizing non-sales related operations
out of the branches. This has allowed more flexibility for the branches to
become sales outlets. Meanwhile, several initiatives have been taken in
order to ensure quality and continuity of service as well as to evaluate the
service at BankMed and compare it to its peer group.
BankMed has always been recognized as the Bank that supported corporate
Lebanon in the post-war years. Our clients’ portfolio boasts the top names
in Lebanon across industries. Our commitment to corporate banking runs
deep into our history and culture and we remain as dedicated as ever to
this sector. Furthermore, in a constant drive to meet increasing demand, a
middle market team has been established to be solely dedicated to this
business segment. Fees generated by trade services were boosted, and a
senior participation in a high profile international syndication for a major
regional telecom company constituted the first ever for BankMed.
BankMed’s strategic decision to enhance its retail operations and be
equally recognized for being the Bank of choice for the consumer started to
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Executive General
M a n a g e r ’s L e t t e r

materialize clearly in 2007, a year that witnessed the launch of a whole
range of products for retail clients. On the consumer lending front, there
was a significant growth in the number of loans as well as the portfolio
amount. The surge in credit card issuance was equally impressive, with the
number of cards tripling in 2007 in comparison with the previous year. In
addition, the total number of bancassurance policies issued in 2007
surpassed by a significant amount the total volume of 2006.
BankMed was one of the top banks in terms of introducing investment
products in 2007 and in offering growing brokerage services. A variety of
innovative capital guaranteed products was launched and sold to clients
such as the dual currency, the global financial certificate and the 3continents income note. New trading services are now available as well as
a Treasury night shift for FX trading. The successful placement as the joint
distribution agent for a prime regional institution’s international equity
placement was a reflection of the teamwork and coordination effort of
several divisions at BankMed.
We believe that our support operations should be as ready as possible to
properly back and sustain the growth that is taking place at the level of the
business lines. As a result, several initiatives were taken on the level of
human resources, aimed at improving issues relating to job evaluation,
performance measurement and career planning. Also, our training
capabilities have been significantly boosted and are more than ever in-line
with our business priorities.
2007 was a reassuring year to us at BankMed. It underlined the importance
of the tremendous effort we have invested over the last two years. We are
now better positioned both locally and regionally, we are bottom-line
driven, and we are more customer-focused than ever. We are aware that we
have still some hard work ahead of us in order to reach our full potential.
But if the process of change is a long journey, then the results of 2007 were
at least a strong signal that we are on the right path.

Nemeh Sabbagh
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K E Y F I N A N C I A L I N F O R M AT I O N

In billion LBP

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

Total Assets

7,628

8,115

8,858

9,835

13,769

Total Deposits

5,517

6,161

6,144

7,127

10,538

794

781

1,022

857

1,106

Total Equity

In million USD

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

Total Assets

5,060

5,383

5,876

6,524

9,134

Total Deposits

3,660

4,087

4,076

4,727

6,991

527

518

678

569

734

Total Equity

2003
1,026
53

Other Data (including overseas entities)
Total Staff
Number of branches

2004
1,027
54

T O TA L A S S E T S I N U S D M I L L I O N

19

2005
989
53

2006
961
47

2007
1390
63

Annual Report 07-08-2008 dergh (1-69):Layout 1

8/11/08

2:13 PM

Page 20

Executive General
M a n a g e r ’s L e t t e r

T O TA L L OA N S I N U S D M I L L I O N

T O TA L D E P O S I T S I N U S D M I L L I O N

20
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NET INTEREST INCOME IN USD MILLION

COMMISSIONS & FEES IN USD MILLION

L OA N L O S S P R OV I S I O N S TO D O U B T F U L L OA N S
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Management Team
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management team

Front Row
• Diala Choucair Marketing & Communication • Ziad Ghosn Financial Institutions & Trade Finance
• Samer Salam Investment Banking
Back Row
• Mazen Soueid Market & Economic Research • Mohammed Ali Beyhum Advisor
• Khaled Zeidan MedSecurities • Lina Jebeile Office Manager for Chairman General Manager

Front Row
• Faten Matar Advisor • Samir Hammoud Remedial Management
• Ahmad Kanaan Remedial Management
Back Row
• Aref Mneimne Legal Advisor • Omar Sultani Saudi Lebanese Bank
• Ameen Bissat Chief Audit Executive • Joy Saba Legal Management
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Front Row
• Antoine Boustany Operations • Iman Baba Information Security & Business Continuity
• Mahmoud Kebbe Administration • Samir Mouawad Risk Management
Back Row
• Fouad Baalbaki Information Technology • Marwan Abiad Financial Control, Information
Technology & Operations • Nabil Zakka Commercial Credit Risk • Adel Hechme Human Resources

Front Row
• Fouad Saad Advisor • Walid Cheikha Large Corporate Credit
• Basil Karam Retail Banking • Mohamad Loutfi Corporate Banking
Back Row
• Muhieddine Fathallah Consumer Credit Products
• Hatem Chaarani Electronic Delivery Channels & Card Products
• Fadi Flaihan Branch Network & Retail Liability Products • Adel Jabre Treasury
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Group Structure
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BankMed History
One of the oldest banking and financial groups in Lebanon
and the region, BankMed was originally established in 1944 as
a credit institution. Since then, it has grown and flourished to
become one of the country's largest financial institutions,
with assets constituting 11% of the total of the Lebanese
banking sector.
Its role in financing commercial, industrial, and contracting
activities has contributed to the growth of these sectors and
the resurgence of the Lebanese economy since 1990. BankMed
is also giving increasing emphasis to developing its retail
banking business and intends to expand its customer base by
ensuring that its products and services are competitive,
relevant and innovative.
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Beyon d Borders
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beyon d borders

BANKMED HAS COMPLETED AN IMPORTANT
STAGE OF ITS EXPANSION STRATEGY,
WHICH AIMS AT GROWING ITS BALANCE
SHEET AND DIVERSIFYING ITS INCOME
SOURCES. NOW IT HAS PRESENCE IN FOUR
COUNTRIES, OTHER THAN LEBANON, AND IT
PROVIDES VARIOUS SERVICES IN VERY
DIFFERENT MARKETS.
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TURKEY

GDP PER CAPITA: $ 5,400
POPULATION: 73 MILLION
Turkland Bank (T-Bank), acquired at the beginning of 2007, has been
completely revamped. Many senior managers are new recruits who bring a
wealth and breadth of experience in their relevant domains. This includes
the CEO and most business lines heads. A new Board has been put in place,
representing both the Arab Bank and BankMed. An Audit Committee of
three board members oversees Internal Audit, Internal Control and Risk
Managment Departments, and in this respect, all the Bank’s risk guidelines
have been changed. The policies and procedures have also started to be
revamped in 2007.
Heavy investment has been made at the level of the infrastructure. T-Bank
was moved to a new head office as the staff doubled to around 430
employees. Operations have been beefed up significantly. Branches were
expanded from 10 to 25, located mostly in major commercial centers. Doubling
T-Bank’s balance sheet is not a goal far from reach, and to that end, the
shareholders have pumped in more than $100 million in additional capital.
BankMed hopes to capitalize on the high growth and increased
liberalization and openness of the Turkish economy. Going ahead, T-Bank
will continue to carve its niche, focusing mostly on small and medium-size
enterprises, which is one of the most promising sectors in Turkey.
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beyon d borders

SWITZERLAND

GDP PER CAPITA: $ 57,000
POPULATION: 7.5 MILLION
BankMed (Suisse), the banking subsidiary in Switzerland, continues to
provide first rate asset management services to high net worth individuals
from the most important private banking hub in the world. The Bank
benefits from more than 20 years of proven track record in the field, and
enjoys a loyal customer base of Lebanese and Arab investors. With the
opening of its Beirut representative office, BankMed (Suisse) firmly
established its position as a safe haven for the Lebanese and other regional
high net worth clientele.
The Bank intends to implement a more aggressive marketing strategy
aimed at attracting new private banking business from the Middle East
and the GCC. In this context, new investment products are constantly being
introduced to clients according to their needs.
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CYPRUS

GDP PER CAPITA: $ 21,000,
POPULATION: 0.79 MILLION
The Cyprus branch provides BankMed with a convenient geographical
location given that it is simultaneously nearby and within the European
community. BankMed has taken a fresh look in 2007 at the operations of
the Cyprus branch and considered ways to take advantage of its strategic
position. Indeed, many of the major corporate clientele have started to
make use of its facilities.

SAU D I A R A B I A

GDP PER CAPITA:
$ 12,500, POPULATION: 24 MILLION
BankMed has established a financial services company in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia under the name “SaudiMed Investment Company”, which will
act as a financial intermediary offering the following services: arranging
and advising (financial and investment advisory services), managing
(investment funds management), dealing (as principal and as underwriter)
and custody. The company was incorporated as a closed joint stock in Saudi
Arabia in December 2007 and will be regulated by the Saudi Capital Market
Authority (CMA).
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The Bank of Choice
A culture that puts customers first, is now enshrined as one
of BankMed’s main pillars and guiding principles. Whether
a corporation, a consumer, or an investor, clients will find at
BankMed a genuine partner, an investor in their future, and
a believer in their potential.
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the bank of choice

T H E B A N K O F C H O I C E F O R C O R P O R AT E S

The Bank that played a major role in the reconstruction of Lebanon, after a
devastating civil war, has always been the Bank of choice for corporate and
commercial banking. BankMed’s list of clients boasts the top names
throughout the country and across industries. For instance, it provides
banking services to around 90% of the top Lebanese groups. In addition,
and in an effort to diversify its income sources, the Bank is boosting its
emphasis on the small and middle markets segments (SME), and to that
purpose, two dedicated teams have been established to focus solely on
these increasingly important segments of the Lebanese economy.
Indeed, given the importance of the SME sector to BankMed, an agreement
was signed with the European Investment Bank (EIB) in December 2007 in
order to secure long-term financing in favor of the SME customers of
BankMed. This shows the strong commitment that EIB and other agencies
have to Lebanon in general and to BankMed in particular. Other long term
funding agreements for BankMed are under discussion with one or more
regional counterparties and are expected to be closed in 2008.
BankMed provides clients with solutions covering their entire balance sheet,
ranging from day-to-day banking transactions to more complex needs such
as equity financing, structured finance, trade finance, correspondent
banking, securities services, and employees’ solutions. Its large spectrum of
skills and expertise allows the flexibility needed to respond to the everchanging needs of its corporate clients. BankMed has defied very difficult
political and economic circumstances in 2007 and has grown both its book
and list of corporate customers in all different segments.
BankMed explored in great depth the numerous opportunities available in
the international and regional primary debt capital market and took part in
a number of transactions involving Islamic sukuks and international
syndicated loans. This includes the senior participation in a high profile
multi-billion US dollar international loan syndication for a large player in
the regional telecom industry. Participation in other syndications has been
done for the same company in the prior year and for which BankMed and
other arrangers of the transaction have obtained in 2007 EUROMONEY’S
2006 European Telecom Project Finance Deal of the Year.
Despite the prevailing challenging situation in Lebanon, BankMed was able
to widen the scope of credit facilities availed by its large network of
correspondents worldwide in order to support the Bank's various activities
as well as the expanding business of its clientele overseas.
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BankMed will continue to assign great importance to its corporate lending
business, be it the large corporate segment or the SME market. The Bank is
committed to a continued involvement in both the development and the
growth of the Lebanese private sector and intends to enhance further its
role as a conduit to foreign investment into the country. In addition,
BankMed plans to extend its corporate finance services regionally to new
lucrative markets, in line with its geographical expansion.

THE BANK OF CHOICE FOR CONSUMERS

BankMed is increasingly recognized as the Bank of choice for the individual
consumer, after taking giant steps to alter its long time image as a mainly
large corporate financial institution. The Bank's strategic plan has been to
actively increase its retail market share by introducing new consumer
credit products, enhancing the branch network, and implementing a sales
culture at the level of the branch.
The numbers for 2007 reflect that this strategy has started to bear fruits.
The total retail loan portfolio increased significantly without affecting the
asset quality of the retail portfolio. The retail loan portfolio increased
considerably in all categories, be it housing, car financing, personal, or
credit cards. Add to this a wide range of innovative and smaller scale loanproducts such as the student loan and the wedding loan. As a result,
BankMed’s market share in retail lending exceeds now 9% of total retail
loans of the banking sector in Lebanon.
A large web of branches and ATMs are spread all over Lebanon to support
retail banking. Throughout 2007, the Bank continued to build a diverse and
extensive distribution network, acquiring more competitive locations such
as Sineek in the South and Mina in the North. As of end of 2007, and with
the completion of the consolidation of Allied Bank and Saudi Lebanese
Bank (SLB), BankMed operated a total of 45 (including Cyprus) conveniently
located, more sales oriented branches. The organization as well as the
policies and procedures at the level of each branch were reengineered in
order to improve the quality of service, and to free up front line time to
focus more on customers, to grow the customer base, and to increase cross
selling opportunities. Furthermore, in order to improve customer
satisfaction and reduce waiting time, the electronic queuing systems were
introduced in two pilot branches, and will be deployed throughout the
network by first half 2008. BankMed has also launched a project to
modernize the Bank’s ATM controller, replacing it by a new user friendly
and larger capacity ATM switch.
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the bank of choice

The Bank upgraded its technology to meet the increasing demand of
clients, be it through the state of the art call 24/7 center, or through a user
friendly and highly interactive e-banking service. Using a secure personal
access number, BankMed customers have now access to many services
including inquiries on accounts and cards balances as well as transactions,
and can effect transfers between their own accounts and settle their credit
cards bills. The center can also respond to current and potential customers’
inquiries about the Bank’s products and services (loans, cards,
Bancassurance), branch and ATM locations and indicative currency
exchange rates. It is also capable of launching telemarketing campaigns.
Its increasing emphasis on retail banking is a strategic decision of
BankMed. The coming years are sure to enhance the Bank’s position in this
line of service, providing customers with products designed and sold to
cater to their growing needs, while allowing an important diversification of
income sources for the Bank.

THE BANK OF CHOICE FOR INVESTORS

BankMed has been more involved than almost any other Lebanese bank
during 2007 in providing investment and hedging products to its clients.
Two divisions, MedSecurities and Treasury are heavily involved in the
design as well as distribution of both tailor-made and retail investment
products. These products are often structured with a view to capitalizing on
potential changes in global financial trends in ways that benefit the clients
and investors in the stock, currencies or commodities markets.
MedSecurities, the brokerage arm of the Bank, is set to become a wholly
owned subsidiary of BankMed (MedSecurities Investment SAL) by mid
2008. Such a structure will enable it to expand this business and run it
more efficiently. During 2007, MedSecurities total assets under
management increased significantly, total investment accounts doubled,
and volumes of its active trading on the local fixed income and local
equities increased 5 times. In addition, MedSecurities participated as a
distribution agent in the private placement of a high profile regional
company.
The Treasury, composed of the money market desk, the foreign exchange
desk, the capital markets desk, and the treasury marketing unit, has been
very active in structuring and distributing hedging and investment
products in addition to its traditional role of managing the Bank’s liquidity
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needs and required funding. The division organized in January 2007 a
seminar on alternative investments, in which a product aiming to
capitalize on dollar weakness against a basket of currencies was introduced
and sold to clients. The product had returned 22% when it closed in
February 2008.
Both MedSecurities and the Treasury work constantly to enhance internal
control and monitor market risk while working closely with the Risk
Management division. The internal policies and procedures of doing
business were revisited with the objective of tightening the operational
and execution cycle in line with the Bank’s risk division guidelines.
Investment in human capital and in systems are undertaken to constantly
upgrade BankMed’s ability to meet its growing clients’ needs in the
investments domain. All the trading desk team at MedSecurities passed the
SII Unit 2 Securities Certification which is an international certification
required by the London Stock Exchange and recently required by the
Central Bank of Lebanon. Meanwhile, on the Treasury side, almost all
internal procedures have become fully automated in order to be better
prepared for today’s market challenges. In addition, a fully automated
asset-liability module has been established that will dynamically measure
liquidity, forecast growth, and enhance balance sheet management.
BankMed will continue to work hard on providing its clients and affiliates
with more innovative and exciting financial and investment opportunities.
Both MedSecurities and Treasury plan to offer more capital guaranteed
products, in addition to a diverse array of derivatives instruments, and
structured deposits.
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t h e s u p p o r t syst e m

SEVERAL DIVISIONS AND DEPARTMENTS
WORK BEHIND THE SCENES TO ENSURE THE
CONTINUITY, EFFICIENCY, AND EXCELLENCE
OF SERVICE THAT BANKMED PROVIDES TO
ITS CLIENTS. THESE SUPPORT UNITS, WHICH
ARE A VITAL COMPONENT OF THE BANK,
HAVE WORKED VERY HARD IN 2007 ON
UPGRADING

THE

QUALITY

OF

THEIR

SERVICE, AND CONTRIBUTING THEIR PART
IN THE BIG STEP FORWARD THAT BANKMED
HAS ACHIEVED DURING THE YEAR.
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I N F O R M AT I O N T E C H N O L O G Y & O P E R AT I O N S

The Bank remains committed to the full implementation of process
reengineering throughout the branch network and transforming them
into sales and customer service outlets by centralizing all processing
support. In addition, notable achievements concluded in 2007 included:
• The successful implementation of a state-of-the-art system for
measuring profitability performance. This new system, provided by
Sunguard, uses a multi-dimensional matrix to measure
performance by business unit, activity sector, product, customer
and individual customer account, all on a daily basis. The second
phase of this project is now underway and includes further system
implementations to calculate capital adequacy ratios for Basel II
reporting, together with enhanced asset/liability monitoring.
• The Bank took a quantum leap in customer service by
implementing in a short period a highly scalable, modular and
state-of-the-art phone banking contact center. The 24/7 call center
is capable of delivering IVR and operator assisted services.
• The Bank has upgraded its main computers to HP state-of-the art
and top-of-the-range Blades server systems. These top performance
and highly scalable machines will facilitate BankMed’s growth
strategy going forward. Together with the introduction of EVA
Storage Area Network (SAN), the performance of both online and
batch processing has increased manifold.
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• Building on the Bank’s technological edge, several programs
featuring Straight-Through-Processing (STP) were implemented
resulting in marked improvements in speed, accuracy, flexibility
and, more importantly, capacity.
• The Bank successfully centralized a substantial proportion of the
branches' daily operations and relocated the Operations Division to
more suitable premises. The well-planned and executed move went
smoothly during the third quarter of the year, causing no
disruptions to customer service or internal processes.
• In view of the heightened security situation, there has been a
considerable focus on contingency planning in order to mitigate
any business disruption. An enhanced master business continuity
plan for BankMed has been prepared, tested and implemented. The
Bank has also initiated a project to relocate the current disaster
recovery site and upgrade its infrastructure to a more modern and
scalable one. A new location has been selected, the design has been
finalized and refurbishment work is expected to be completed by
the first quarter of 2008. The new site will be operational in the
second quarter of 2008.
During the year, the Bank continued to improve customer service by
developing the single point of contact concept, making each transaction as
efficient as possible for its corporate and security trading customers, while
sustaining and improving existing services for retail customers. A number
of banking functions, such as incoming clearing and export & import
letters of credit were centralized and automated, building on the already
high level of automation in BankMed and further improving productivity
and service delivery. In addition, a comprehensive trade finance service
center aiming to provide efficient service for corporate clients has been
established and staffed with specialized and dedicated employees.
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With the objective of better aligning the business with IT and to support
long-term transformation initiatives at BankMed, the technology support
team has formalized an IT multi-year strategy roadmap to reach an endstate vision designed to incorporate leading edge technologies and
processes across all IT domains. The Bank’s strategic decision is to integrate
all systems via a Middleware. In fact, the group started systems integration
using MS Biztalk Middleware to orchestrate cross systems messaging, build
business rules, track alerts and build transactional statistics. This platform
provides BankMed with a flexible tool to manage new systems and initiate
the proper base for a service oriented architecture.
BankMed continues to invest in as well as deploy technology with a view to
better serving customers and increasing productivity. A significant upgrade
of the Bank's main computers to state-of-the-art systems is in progress.
Stringent risk management and information security compliance processes
have been put in place to protect the Bank and its customers from cyber
crimes such as information theft, computer hacking and viruses.
The Bank will continue to focus on creating a work environment that
delivers superior customer service by leveraging on the Bank’s optimized
processes, motivated staff and modern banking technology.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The staff of BankMed remains its strongest asset. In that context, the Bank
thrives to provide the work force with the best support and guidance in
terms of career planning, training and compensation.
In 2007, the Bank moved ahead with the project on "Building an Integrated
HR system”, introducing an integrated advanced approach in job analysis
defining job families and role profiles for BankMed staff; a behavioral
competency framework to drive performance and achieve superior results;
a performance management system that sets ahead measurable key
performance indicators and allows for true measure of performance and
potential; and the globally acclaimed Hay Guide Chart method of job
evaluation that is a basis for designing and recommending an optimum
grading structure.
The Bank engaged an international consulting company specialized in HR
to prepare new policies and procedures for employees’ compensations
based on the Bank’s long-term and strategic objectives. In that context, the
Bank intends to implement a newly installed performance management
system that leads to the achievement of a performance based pay and
reward scheme.
The Bank has installed and implemented the HeRMeS system, a human
resources management system which incorporates the recruitment,
personnel administration, organizational design, and career management
aspects of HR, and allows for easier analysis and management of data.
The Bank assigns great importance to investing in its existing staff. To that
aim, it has implemented a training program that is designed to enhance
staff skills across a broad range of important functions including customer
service, sales and marketing, credit analysis, product knowledge and risk.

50

Annual Report 07-08-2008 dergh (1-69):Layout 1

8/11/08

2:17 PM

Page 51

LEGAL SUPPORT

The Legal Division underwent, in 2007, a reorganization process with a
view to allowing efficient legal assistance and support to the Bank and its
affiliates both locally and overseas. The process included an overhaul of the
infrastructure as new advanced legal software programs were installed,
allowing rapid processing and sharing of legal services and knowledge
within the Legal division, with other divisions and with the Bank's
counterparties. The whole legal work process (input and output) was
subject of a deep review in coordination with various divisions and is
currently being remodeled to establish a new efficient approach of legal
services aiming to avoid work overload problems.
Notwithstanding its involvement in major international loan syndication,
initial public offering, private placement and other major local and
international deals, the Legal Division managed to complete
standardization of the Bank's legal documentation, introduced a new
comprehensive version of the Bank's General Terms and Conditions
applicable to accounts and operations, and developed a set of standard
legal documents and contracts for various products and fields, such as
securitization, risk participation, retail lending, corporate lending,
electronic banking, private banking, as well as securities, and capital
market products.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

R I S K G OV E R N A N C E
BankMed considers that the foundation of a successful risk management
practice is the pragmatic and consistent implementation of strong risk
governance. BankMed's risk governance platform is based on "three lines
of defense" consisting of the business lines, risk management and internal
audit. The risk management framework includes a strong emphasis on
accountability, responsibility, independence, reporting, communications
and transparency, both internally and with all key external stakeholders as
indicated in the various existing policies and procedures.
BankMed's risk management's framework has a number of essential
elements:
• Clearly defined management responsibilities and accountability.
• Clear separation of responsibilities and reporting lines between risk
management functions, business lines and support functions in
order to avoid or manage conflicts of interest.
• A system of approvals, limits and authorizations, delegated by the
Board to senior management and then cascaded through the Bank.
• Detailed risk controls for each business line.
• A comprehensive and independent internal audit or compliance
process for reviewing and testing internal controls and risk
management systems.

R I S K C U LT U R E A N D V I S I O N
However, there is more to effective risk management than formal
structures and policies. The risk "culture" of the Bank is crucial. In that
respect, the Bank aims to ensure that the risk management framework
permeates the organization and that staff at all levels understand their
responsibilities with respect to risk management. Moreover, an ethos of
respect of risk is developed starting from the top as set by the Board and
encompassing the buy-in of business line managers who "own the risk".
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The vision and key set objectives of the Risk Management Division are
summarized as follows:
• To manage risks on a holistic approach at enterprise-wide level
(credit; market; operations; compliance; etc).
• To play an integral role in supporting management's strategy and
growth agenda.
• To ensure that understanding, measuring and managing risk are
central to everything we do.
• To be a partner to growth and value creation instead of a controller
to downside risks as banking is about controlling risk rather than
avoiding it.
• To enable the businesses to achieve their targeted growth by
delivering risk solutions within a well coordinated risk
management framework.
• To facilitate a decentralized business model based on delegation of
risk-based decisions to the respective business units (with clear
accountability) while maintaining a strong independent group risk
function and enterprise-wide risk culture.
• To achieve world-class
methodologies.

best

practice

risk

management

• To employ and retain high-caliber risk professionals.

RISK MEASUREMENT AN D REPORTI NG
Risk Management calculates and reports regulatory capital requirements
under Basel I and Basel II (according to regulatory projected quantitative
impact studies). In this respect, the Bank has contracted for Basel II
implementation the solution of SunGard’s BWCM, which was achieved
through a team led by Risk Management in conjunction with members from
IT and Financial Control. Under Basel II, credit risk will be reported according
to the comprehensive standard methodology; market risk as per the standard
methodology and operations risk along the basic indicator method.
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Moreover, the Bank plans to shift to the standard calculation method for
operations risk in 2009. Finally, the Bank is enhancing its disclosure policy as
required under Pillar III for market discipline and aims to start implementing
this new policy in 2008.
There are other types of risks that BankMed assumes but that are not
quantifiable and managed via the capital allocation model. These are
mitigated through periodic management controls, governance and risk
management. Reputation risk which is difficult to quantify and is managed
via controls and processes and liquidity risk which is managed by a rigorous
control and Asset and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) process, are both
examples of such risks.
Stress and scenario testing constitutes a critical component of the proactive
risk management framework. Rapid portfolio reviews are conducted on the
credit portfolio as circumstances arise and stress testing is a core component
of assets and liabilities management (ALM).

RISK APPETITE
Risk appetite is established at BankMed in light of the Bank's strategy,
stakeholders' requirements and risk-reward trade-offs. BankMed's risk
appetite is defined across four categories within the risk appetite
framework:
• Group level risk appetite metrics
• Specific risk-type limit setting
• Stakeholders targets (e.g. target debt rating; dividend policy etc)
• Policies, procedures and controls
An Operational Risk Management Unit (ORMU) has been established with
a view to providing oversight and control of operational risk across the
Bank and to ensuring that it remains within acceptable levels. The prime
responsibility for the management of operational risk is embedded in
business line management in order for the risks to be managed where they
arise. This is supported by an oversight of the independent ORMU. In
addition, an operational risk management framework is being established
to ensure that an integrated and effective risk management approach is
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applied consistently across BankMed. The process will include the
following steps: identify and assess key operational risks, establish key risk
indicators, and produce a comprehensive operational risk report.
Market risk management was also addressed more comprehensively. In
that context, a Market Risk Management (MRM) unit was established in
July 2007, in order to support the ALCO and supervise MedSecurities, the
brokerage business. In addition, Treasury worked with the ALCO on
reviewing and updating the guidelines. It has also worked with the MRM
unit on drafting and putting into action the necessary market risk policies
dealing with liquidity and pricing issues. As a result, a set of various
liquidity and investment ratios were defined and are monitored and
updated on a daily basis.
The ALCO is responsible for setting and supervising the implementation of
asset/liability management policy which the Treasury is responsible to
execute. The objective of the MRM is to oversee interest rate, liquidity,
foreign exchange and price risks. This is done through various monitoring
of periodic reports (interest rate gap; market access reporting; liquidity; etc)
and daily internal limits and trigger reports in order to ensure that actual
exposure remains within applicable limits and managed against ALCO
imposed triggers.
MRM oversees also the brokerage business. In that respect, policies,
procedures and IT systems were established in order to ensure the orderly
and efficient conduct of MedSecurities' business. MRM's responsibility is to
ensure compliance with these policies and procedures and adequate
preventive and detective controls of the day-to-day activities of the
business.
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I N T E R N A L AU D I T

BankMed Internal Audit Division (IA) pursues a risk-based audit approach
that relies on effective use of technology in the conduct of its business. The
Division has extensive experience and know-how concerning auditing tools
and techniques and is composed of a dynamic, flexible, and experienced staff.
IA operates in accordance with an approved Internal Audit Charter which
clearly specifies the reporting level, mission and scope of its work. The
mission is to provide independent, objective assurance and consulting
services designed to add value and improve the Bank’s operations.
IA is independent of the Management of the Bank, supervised by the Chief
Audit Executive who, in turn, reports both functionally and administratively to the Chairman with full access to the Board of Directors.
IA’s work is guided mainly by: 1) requirements of BDL regulations, 2)
international auditing standards 3) internal audit charter 4) standards of
other related professional organizations.
IA plays a vital role in providing an internal checking mechanism to ensure
adherence to sound policies and procedures, assures the accuracy of information and makes a major contribution to overall control, compliance and corporate governance at the Bank. In addition, and as required by the Lebanese
regulatory oversight bodies and professional standards, IA reviews the Bank's
affiliated branches, other Group banks and financial institutions' operations
and reports on their status and conditions to the Board. IA also reviews the
quality of Internal Audit functions at these affiliated branches and units.
Staff and management of IA stay abreast of the constant changes in the
banking inspection and supervision fields and they are always introducing
new techniques and tackling new areas to introduce continuous improvements to the existing controls at the Bank and to the audit methodology.
IA has set high standards in qualifying for the certified internal auditor certification (CIA) and the certified information systems auditor certification (CISA),
which create a knowledgeable and well-trained team of internal auditors.
During 2008, the Internal Audit is planning to enhance the audit
methodology over "continuous auditing" by implementing one of the best
computer aided audit techniques (CAATs) known in the industry audit
commant language(ACL). ACL will aid IA in advising the Bank's
Management on the status of compliance with regulatory requirements,
effectiveness of internal control systems and fraud detection in a timely
fashion.

58

Annual Report 07-08-2008 dergh (1-69):Layout 1

8/11/08

2:17 PM

Page 59

C O R P O R AT E G O V E R N A N C E

BankMed is committed to practice and promote a responsible and sound
corporate governance policy. The Board of Directors is actively involved in
setting the highest standards of corporate governance and in exercising
strong oversight of an independent management team. These standards
are founded on the core principles of transparency and accountability at all
levels of the organization and are ultimately safeguarded by a longstanding commitment to a high moral standard of honesty and integrity.
Sound corporate governance at the Bank emphasizes a set of fundamental
principles that include protecting shareholders' rights, respecting,
protecting and treating equitably the interests of all other stakeholders,
clearly defined responsibilities of the Board and Executive Management,
pursuing a policy of full disclosures, transparency and sound practice, and
enforcing the functions of internal and external auditors, as well as those
of other Banking inspectors and supervisors.
The Board also ensures that any issues with the potential to prevent
management from running the Bank according to the best interests of
shareholders and other stakeholders are identified, and that processes are
in place to address those issues in a timely manner.
To that effect, the Board has approved an organizational structure that
reflects best practices in corporate governance. The Bank has an
organizational structure in place that segregates functions and
responsibilities, reflecting a division of roles and responsibilities between
the Board, Executive Management and Operating Management.
1- Members of the Board have a clear understanding of their role in
corporate governance. The Board includes independent members who
are committed to comply with best practices in corporate governance,
including those set by the Central Bank of Lebanon and Basel II
recommendations. The Board also observes the regulatory
requirements of other countries in which the Bank operates.
a- New members are elected to the Board as needed to address the
changes in the size and complexity of the Bank's operations and its
strategic plans. During 2007, two additional members were elected to
serve on the Board. Further, several committees are in place to review
and study special operations, among these committees are "ALCO –
Assets & Liabilities Committee" and an "Investment Committee".
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b- The Board includes members that are independent from the Bank's
Executive Management, which helps strengthening the objectivity of
the Board's monitoring and review activities.
c- The shareholders' assembly elects the external auditors based on
reputation and experience of the auditors and the Board exercises due
diligence and oversight of the external auditors work.
d- The Board reviews and approves the Bank's overall business strategy,
especially those related to investment, sources of borrowing and
financing.
e- The Board exercises oversight over senior management of the Bank
through exercising its duty and authority.
f- The Board reviews internal audit reports regularly in order to assess
policies, establish communication lines and monitor progress toward
achieving corporate objectives.
g- The Board selects, monitors, and, when necessary, replaces key
executives, ensuring at the same time that the Bank has an
appropriate plan for executive succession. In this respect, during 2007,
the Board made several resolutions concerning replacements and new
appointments at the Executive and Senior Management levels.
2- "Code of Ethics and Professional Conduct" issued by the Chairman of
the Board. The Code was circulated to the Bank's entire staff for use as
a guideline while conducting the Bank's business.
3- The Board has set and enforced, through its Chairman, clear lines of
responsibility and accountability at all levels throughout the Bank.
a- The Bank's By-Laws clearly defines the Board's rights, duties and
responsibilities in managing the Bank and monitoring the work of its
top management. The By-laws also defines the powers of the
Chairman of the Board, and requires that any amendment to these
powers must be subject to the Shareholder’s Assembly approval.
b- The Board and Executive Management, acting in the discharge of their
own corporate governance responsibilities, have established the
general strategy and policies of the corporate governance structure at
affiliated foreign banks that corresponds with the bank's own policies
and with the local laws in the hosting countries. In this respect, during
2007, the Bank has established several policies in the Turkish affiliated
Bank (T-Bank) including a corporate governance policy, Audit
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Committee, and internal policies for the Internal Audit and Internal
Control functions and a Code of Ethics and Professional Conduct.
c- As per Central Bank's Circular No. 110 which requires Banks to perform
an effective and adequate control over the bank's affiliated foreign
banks (units), the Bank has established a committee to follow up on
the status of these "units". The Committee consists of members from
the Board and specialists in risk management. Further, IA regularly
visits these "units" to review their operations and prepare reports on
their status and financial conditions.
4- The Board works to ensure that Senior Management exercises effective
supervision over the Bank's operations consistent with the Board's
policy and guidelines.
a- The Board acknowledges the importance of senior managers in
contributing to the Bank’s sound corporate governance by overseeing
line managers in specific business areas and activities consistent with
policies and procedures set by the Bank’s Board. In this respect, the
Board ensures that individuals appointed to senior positions have the
necessary skills to manage the business under their supervision as
well as have the appropriate control over the key individuals in those
areas.
b- The senior management, in return, established, enforced and
maintained systems of internal control that require appropriate
segregation of duties and duality in completing and reviewing
operations, in order to ensure that all banking operations are
completed as per related policies and procedures.
5- The Board, executive and senior management utilize effectively the
results of work conducted by the internal auditors, external auditors
and other control functions at the Bank.
a- The Board undertakes all necessary measures to ensure the
independence and adequate qualifications of IA and other control
functions at the Bank. In this respect, the Chairman of the Board
approved and issued an Internal Audit Charter. The Charter required
the Chief Audit Executive to report directly to the Board of Directors.
Also, the Charter authorized the staff of IA, under the supervision of the
Chief Audit Executive, to have unrestricted access to all functions,
records, property and personnel. Further, Central Bank Circular No. 77
requires the Board to determine the remunerations for the Chief Audit
Executive.
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b- The Internal Audit, based on its Charter and Central Bank Circular No.
77, prepares and sends to the Board, semiannually, activity reports
detailing the results of their audits. Also, IA is required to opine on the
adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the systems of internal
control and other control functions at the Bank. All reports sent, are
thoroughly reviewed by the Board, and the related Divisions are
requested to comply with the Internal Audit recommendations.
c- To emphasize independence and objectivity of the external audit
function, the shareholders' assembly elects external auditors. The
Board is also responsible to exercise due diligence and oversight of the
external auditors' work. The external auditors are also required to
review and prepare reports to the Board concerning the internal audit's
review methodologies and anti-money laundering activities.
d- Based on Law 28 issued in 1967, the Banking Control Commission
(BCC), an oversight body in Central Bank, is required to prepare periodic
reports about the Bank's operations and the degree of compliance with
the Banking Laws and Central Bank circulars. These reports are
forwarded to the Board, who in return, reviews these reports and take
necessary measures based on the recommendations of the BCC.
6- The Board, through its Chairman, is effectively involved in setting and
implementing the frameworks of compensation and remuneration
policies and practices that are consistent with the Bank's corporate
culture, long-term objectives and strategy and control environment.
7- The Bank is governed in a transparent manner.
a- In order to enable the shareholders and other stakeholders to
effectively monitor and properly hold accountable the Board and
Senior Management, the Bank's By-Laws stipulate the following:

• Any shareholder has the right, fifteen days before the shareholders
assembly meeting, to have a copy of the Board of Directors reports,
external audit reports, financial statements and the list of
shareholders.
• The regular Shareholders' Assembly enjoys extensive powers. It reviews
Board of Directors and external auditors reports related to the Bank's
activities and statements and it has the right to accept or reject these
statements as well as the right to take decisions in all matters that it
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sees fit or adequate for the proper progress and prosperity of the Bank.
The assembly's decisions are binding to the Board and its Chairman.
• The Board is required, within two months from the date of approval
of the Shareholders' Assembly, to publish in the official gazette, in an
economic and in a local daily newspaper, the financial statements,
lists of board members and the appointed external auditors.
b- Article 190 of the Commercial Law stipulates that if shareholders
attending the general assemblies find that their knowledge of the
issues listed in the meeting agenda is inadequate, a quarter of the
assembly's members can request to postpone the meeting for eight
days.
c- The BCC requires Banks to periodically provide it with financial data and
other information related to the activities of the Bank, which helps these
controlling bodies to constantly monitor the financial position of the
Bank.
d- The Bank discloses several topics of interest to stakeholders and those
interested, through the annual reports, or through the Bank's internet
site (www.bankmed.com.lb).
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community contribution

SOCIAL AND CULTURAL RESPONSIBILITIES
CONTINUE TO BE AT THE CORE OF BANKMED’S
VIEW OF ITS ROLE AND CONTRIBUTION IN THE
COMMUNITY IN WHICH IT EXISTS AND
OPERATES. THE BANK CONSTANTLY ACTS AS A
DIRECT SPONSOR OF VARIOUS EVENTS THAT
ATTEMPT TO REFLECT THE TRUE FACE OF
LEBANON AND THE BREADTH AND WEALTH OF
ITS CULTURAL HERITAGE. DIRECT SUPPORT
THROUGH DONATIONS IS ANOTHER VENUE FOR
BANKMED TO CARRY ITS MORAL OBLIGATIONS
TO THE SOCIETY IT SERVES. IN THIS CONTEXT
DONATIONS WERE GIVEN, AMONG OTHERS, TO
ASSOCIATIONS OR PROJECTS THAT ARE RELATED
TO THE DISABLED, ORPHANS, STUDENTS’
SCHOLARSHIPS AND HEALTH SUPPORT.
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BANKMED S.A.L. AND SUBSIDIARIES
C O N S O L I D AT E D B A L A N C E S H E E T

Notes

December 31, 2007
LBP’000

December 31, 2006
LBP’000

Cash, compulsory reserves and central banks

5

1,440,295,836

1,168,340,877

Deposits with banks and financial institutions

6

2,921,412,313

931,091,065

ASSETS

Trading assets

7

171,352,969

5,045,894

Loans and advances to customers

8

2,709,908,881

1,715,244,196

Loans and advances to related parties

9

393,664,515

452,141,600

Available-for-sale investment securities

10

3,622,741,068

2,923,805,532

Held-to-maturity investment securities

10

1,701,039,678

1,968,440,545

Customers' acceptance liability

11

62,304,148

46,338,621

Investments in associates and investments
held for sale

12

72,263,795

83,048,106

6,034,649

5,175,375

Investment properties
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

13

81,565,839

86,732,018

Goodwill

14

166,868,380

86,861,653

Property and equipment

15

181,582,521

180,581,041

Other assets

16

238,396,386

182,393,145

13,769,430,978

9,835,239,668

Guarantees and standby letters of credit

328,883,212

329,301,545

Documentary and commercial letters of credit

640,429,345

87,938,148

Forward exchange contracts

354,517,309

800,939,755

1,958,509,804

1,683,465,536

Total Assets
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH
OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISK

38

FIDUCIARY DEPOSITS

39
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BANKMED S.A.L. AND SUBSIDIARIES
C O N S O L I D AT E D B A L A N C E S H E E T

Notes

December 31, 2007
LBP’000

December 31, 2006
LBP’000

Deposits and borrowings from banks

17

728,889,109

725,017,807

Customers’ deposits designated at fair value
through profit or loss

18

155,797,027

31,212,505

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

19

7,669,874,068

5,890,758,108

Related parties' accounts at fair value through
profit or loss

20

3,207,682

-

Related parties' accounts at amortized cost

21

2,709,500,463

1,204,632,116

Acceptances payable

11

62,304,148

46,338,621

Other borrowings

22

417,352,068

7,694,034

Certificates of deposit

23

715,609,642

946,542,355

Other liabilities

24

179,434,847

107,297,551

Provisions

25

21,546,043

18,427,427

12,663,515,097

8,977,920,524

LIABILITIES

Total liabilities
EQUITY
Share capital

26

530,000,000

530,000,000

Legal reserves

27

25,212,282

23,458,080

3,213,000

3,213,000

Property revaluation surplus
Reserve for general banking risks

27

Retained earnings
Cumulative change in fair value of
available-for-sale securities

28

Currency translation adjustment
Profit for the year net of deferred tax
Equity attributable to the Group
Minority interest

29

Total equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

41,168,527

40,271,533

109,862,157

107,734,650

251,366,987

146,834,366

7,976,435

-

55,154,633

4,778,703

1,023,954,021

856,290,332

81,961,860

1,028,812

1,105,915,881

857,319,144

13,769,430,978

9,835,239,668
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BANKMED S.A.L. AND SUBSIDIARIES
C O N S O L I D AT E D I N C O M E S T AT E M E N T

Year Ended December 31,
Notes

2007
LBP’000

2006
LBP’000

Interest income

31

795,671,563

598,819,730

Interest expense

32

(648,516,296)

(490,690,442)

147,155,267

108,129,288

45,477,281

26,883,751

Net interest income
Fee and commission income

33

Fee and commission expense

34

Net fee and commission income
Net interest and gains and losses on
trading portfolio

35

(5,035,748)

(2,256,028)

40,441,533

24,627,723

24,620,341

(58,628)

Net interest and gains and losses on financial
instruments designated at fair value through
profit or loss

36

(4,664,338)

(428,732)

Other operating income

37

85,972,896

55,843,977

293,525,699

188,113,628

Net financial revenues
Allowance for impairment of loans and
advances less write-back

8

900,815

(18,162,420)

Provision for collective impairment less write back

8

(36,554,792)

(12,373,560)

Loss from write-off of loans

(659,864)

(3,932,728)

Net financial revenues after impairment charge
for credit losses

257,211,858

153,644,920

Staff costs

(82,023,999)

(56,334,833)

Administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization

15 & 16

Provision for impairment of assets acquired in
satisfaction of loans

13

(87,777,450)

(59,663,586)

(14,116,596)

(12,504,316)

(1,434,937)

(4,424,817)

(1,700,123)

(3,800,000)

Profit before taxes

70,158,753

16,917,368

Income tax provision

(2,962,261)

(4,268,093)

Tax withheld on interest on account of
corporate income tax

(6,550,482)

(7,794,156)

60,646,010

4,855,119

61,184,633

4,778,703

(538,623)

76,416

60,646,010

4,855,119

Provision for contingencies

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

30

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Group
Minority interest
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Change in fair value of
available-for-sale securities

Currency translation adjustment

Total Comprehensive income

Allocation of 2006 profit

Minority interest in subsidiary bank
530,000,000

-

Deferred tax on undistributed
income from subsidiaries

25,212,282

-

1,754,202

-

-

-

-

-

3,213,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,213,000

41,168,527

-

896,994

-

-

-

-

-

40,271,533

-

918,330

-

-

-

39,353,203

Reserve for
General
Banking Risk
LBP’000

109,862,157

-

2,127,507

-

-

-

-

-

107,734,650

-

16,400,265

-

-

-

91,334,385

Retained
Earnings
LBP’000

251,366,987

-

-

104,532,621

-

104,532,621

-

-

146,834,366

-

-

(135,323,359)

(135,323,359)

-

Cumulative
Change in Fair
Value of
Available-forsale securities
LBP’000
282,157,725

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,976,435

-

-

7,976,435

7,976,435

Currency
Translation
Adjustment
LBP’000

55,154,633

-

(4,778,703)

55,154,633

-

-

(6,030,000)

61,184,633

4,778,703

-

(19,366,856)

4,778,703

-

4,778,703

19,366,856

Profit for
the year
LBP’000

1,023,954,021

-

-

167,663,689

7,976,435

104,532,621

(6,030,000)

61,184,633

856,290,332

-

-

(130,544,656)

(135,323,359)

4,778,703

986,834,988

Total
LBP’000

81,961,860

69,854,495

-

11,078,553

11,617,176

-

-

(538,623)

1,028,812

(34,160,882)

-

76,416

-

76,416

35,113,278

Minority
Interest
LBP’000

1,105,915,881

69,854,495

-

178,742,242

19,593,611

104,532,621

(6,030,000)

60,646,010

857,319,144

(34,160,882)

-

(130,468,240)

(135,323,359)

4,855,119

1,021,948,266

Total
Equity
LBP’000

2:21 PM

Balance 31/12/2007

-

Profit for the year 2007

-

23,458,080

530,000,000

-

-

-

-

3,213,000

Property
Revaluation
Reserve
LBP’000

8/11/08

Balance 31/12/2006

-

2,048,261

-

Purchase of minority interest
in a subsidiary

Total Comprehensive income

Allocation of 2005 profit

-

Change in fair value of
available-for-sale securities

-

21,409,819

530,000,000
-

Balance 31/12/2005

Capital
LBP’000

Profit for the year 2006

Legal
Reserves
LBP’000

Equity Attributable to the Group

BANKMED S.A.L. AND SUBSIDIARIES
C O N S O L I D AT E D S T AT E M E N T O F
CHANGES IN EQUITY
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BA N K M E D S . A . L . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S
C O N S O L I DAT E D STAT E M E N T O F C A S H F L OW S

Year Ended December 31,
Notes

2007
LBP’000

2006
LBP’000

60,646,010

4,855,119

Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Provision for impairment of assets acquired in
satisfaction of loans
Depreciation and amortization
(Write-back)/provision for credit losses (net)
Provision for collective impairment
Loss from write-off of loans
Effect of exchange rate fluctuation on goodwill
Effect of exchange rate fluctuation on a loan
to an investee
Amortization of commissions and discount on
certificates of deposit
Realized gain on sale of trading securities
Realized gain on sale of available-for-sale securities

1,434,937

4,424,818

14,116,596

12,504,315

(900,815)

18,162,420

36,554,792

12,373,560

659,864

3,932,728

(2,527,534)

(2,273,587)

-

(340,094)

962,997

952,929

(418,506)

(241,622)

(5,958,748)

(14,691,366)

(10,639,208)

481,722

Equity income from investments in associates

(3,493,520)

(2,051,181)

Accretion of securities premium/(discounts)

26,010,725

22,975,198

Unrealized (gain)/loss on trading securities

Loss/(gain) from sale of property and equipment
Gain on sale of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Gain from sale of investment in an associate
Currency translation adjustment
(Increase)/decrease in trading assets
Increase in loans and advances to customers
(Increase)/decrease in loans and advances to
related parties

42

(Increase)/decrease in deposits with banks and
financial institutions and compulsory deposits
and deposits with central banks
(Increase)/decrease in other assets

42

(Decrease)/increase in deposits and borrowings
from banks
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities

42

Increase in customers’ accounts at fair value
through profit or loss
Increase in related parties’ accounts at fair value
through profit or loss
Increase in customers’ accounts at amortized cost

42

Increase in related parties’ accounts at amortized cost

78,436

(43,979)

(634,202)

(1,115,719)

(11,314,653)

-

7,976,435

-

(61,209,748)

1,179,252

(733,826,776)

(7,128,755)

58,477,085

(215,053,170)

(410,312,921)

13,819,395

(53,244,888)

3,873,648

(9,561,357)

546,985,910

39,151,971

(17,417,429)

125,865,388

31,212,505

3,207,682

-

1,411,526,144

97,331,078

1,504,868,347

783,519,462

Increase in provisions for contingencies

659,218

5,222,427

Increase/(decrease) in minority interest

36,206,335

(34,160,882)

2,024,360,086

1,269,288,702

Net cash provided by operating activities
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BA N K M E D S . A . L . A N D S U B S I D I A R I E S
C O N S O L I DAT E D STAT E M E N T O F C A S H F L OW S

Year Ended December 31,
Notes

2007
LBP’000

2006
LBP’000

(86,656,822)

-

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of subsidiary bank, net of cash acquired
Increase in available-for-sale and held to maturity
investment securities

42

(326,598,294)

(693,121,379)

Decrease in investment in associates and
investments held for sale

42

14,605,275

4,523,809

(859,274)

(150,750)

Increase in investment properties
Increase in assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

42

Increase in property and equipment
Increase in goodwill

42

Proceeds from sale of investment in an associate

(803,099)

(13,608,891)

(18,932,511)

(14,958,049)

(616,569)

(12,544,833)

25,014,598

-

Proceeds from sale of assets acquired in satisfaction
of loans

42

20,588,454

80,785,752

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

42

10,666,459

262,195

(363,591,783)

(648,812,146)

(231,895,710)

(156,445,986)

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Decrease in certificates of deposit
Increase/(decrease) in other borrowings

409,658,034

(758,540)

Net cash provided by/ (used in) financing activities

177,762,324

(157,204,526)

1,838,530,627

463,272,030

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents - Ending of year

42

1,422,521,605

959,249,575

3,261,052,232

1,422,521,605
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77

Annual Report 08-08-2008 dergh (70-200).qxd7:Layout 1

8/11/08

2:21 PM

Page 78

h i gi h
n ldiegphetnsd oe fn tt h e
a u d yi te oa rr ’s2 0r0e 7p o r t

BAN KM ED S.A.L. AN D SU BSI DIARI ES
N O T E S T O T H E C O N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L
S TAT E M E N T S Y E A R E N D E D D E C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 7

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
BankMed S.A.L. is a Lebanese joint stock company, registered under Number
5261 in the Lebanese Commercial Register on August 13, 1950 and under
Number 22 in the list of banks published by the Central Bank of Lebanon, fully
owned by GroupMed S.A.L. (the holding company). The principal activities of
the Bank and its subsidiaries consist of conventional commercial and private
banking through a network of 51 branches in Lebanon in addition to a branch
in Cyprus, a subsidiary in Switzerland and an associate in Turkey acquired
during 2007, where the Bank has control over the latter’s financial and
operational policies. The Group headquarters are located in Beirut.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS
In the current year, the Group has adopted IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2007, and the consequential amendments to IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements.
The impact of the adoption of IFRS 7 and the changes to IAS 1 has been to
expand the disclosures provided in these financial statements regarding
the Group’s financial instruments and management of capital.
Four Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee are effective for the current period. These are:
IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies; IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2; IFRIC 9
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives; and IFRIC 10 Interim Financial
Reporting and Impairment. The adoption of these Interpretations has not
led to any changes in the Group’s accounting policies.
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements the following
Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:
IAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs
(effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009);
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
(effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009);
IFRIC 11 IFRS 2
Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective March 1, 2007);
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IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements
(effective January 1, 2008); and
IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes
(effective for accounting periods beginning on or after July 1, 2008).
IFRIC 14 IAS 19
The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and
their Interaction (effective January 1, 2008).
The directors anticipate that the adoption of the above Standards and
Interpretations will have no material impact on the financial statements of
the Group in the period of initial application.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
B. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MEASUREMENT
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for the following:
• Land and buildings acquired prior to 1993 are measured at their revalued
amounts based on market prices prevailing during 1996, to compensate for
the effect of the hyper-inflationary economy prevailing in the earlier years.
• Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are
measured at fair value.
• Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.
• Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value.
Assets and liabilities are grouped according to their nature and are
presented in an approximate order that reflects their relative liquidity.
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below:
C. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements of BankMed S.A.L. include the
financial statements of the Bank as at December 31, 2007 and companies in
which the Bank has a controlling financial interest (subsidiaries and
associates, as applicable). Control is achieved where the Bank has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
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The consolidated subsidiaries and associates as at December 31, 2007 comprise:

Country of
Incorporation

Percentage of
Ownership

Date of Acquisition or
Incorporation

Business Activity

Banks and Financial Institutions
Saudi Lebanese Bank S.A.L.

Lebanon

100

January 1, 1995

Commercial Banking

Méditerranée Investment Bank S.A.L.

Lebanon

100

January 24, 1996

Investment Banking

Switzerland

100

August 31, 2001

Private Banking

BankMed Suisse - S.A.
Allied Business Investment
Corporation S.A.L.

Lebanon

66

November 30, 2001

Financial and Fund
Management

Turkey

41

January 28, 2007

Commercial Banking

Saudi Arabia

100

May 21, 2007

Corporate Finance
Advisory and Asset
Management

Lebanon

100

November 19, 2007

Financial institution

Al Hana S.A.L.

Lebanon

100

December 1, 1995

Owns Bank’s Premises

Al Jinan S.A.L.

Lebanon

100

December 1, 1995

Owns Bank’s Premises

Al Shams S.A.L.

Lebanon

100

December 1, 1995

Owns Bank’s Premises

Centre Méditerranée S.A.L.

Lebanon

100

January 16, 1996

Owns Bank’s Premises

Al Hosn Real Estate II S.A.L.

Lebanon

100

February 27, 2004

Owns Bank’s Premises

Turkland Bank A.S.
(formerly MNG Bank A.S.)
Saudi Med Investment Company

MedSecurities Investment
Company S.A.L.
Real Estate

Al Hosn Real Estate III S.A.L.

Lebanon

100

February 27, 2004

Owns Bank’s Premises

333 Achrafieh Real Estate S.A.L.

Lebanon

100

September 21, 2004

Real estate company

Lebanon

100

May 20, 2003

Insurance brokerage

BVI

100

January 1, 2003

Any activity outside
of BVI

Lebanon

100

December 24, 1996

Investment in shares

Insurance
Med Bancassurance S.A.L.
Other
Medfinance Holding Ltd.
Méditerranée Investment Bank Holding

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the
subsidiaries and consolidated associates to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other entities of the Group.
All intra-group transactions balances, income and expenses are eliminated
in full on consolidation.
Minority interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated
subsidiaries and associates are identified separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Minority interests consist of the amount of those interests
at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s share of
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changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to
the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity
are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that
the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional
investment to cover the losses.
During January 2007, the Group purchased a 41% equity state in Turkland
Bank A.S. (formerly MNG Bank A.S.) in Turkey. The Group, with the consent
of the other major shareholder, has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the bank and therefore the bank is considered as a
consolidated entity.
During the first half of 2007, the Group incorporated Saudi Med Investment
Company, a wholly owned financial institution in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia with total capital of SAR 100 million.
During November 2007, the Group incorporated Med Securities Investment
Company S.A.L., a wholly owned financial institution incorporated in
Lebanon with total capital of LBP 5 billion.
During the first half of 2006, Allied Bank S.A.L., a wholly owned subsidiary,
was merged with BankMed S.A.L. in accordance with the resolution of the
General Assembly dated April 5, 2006 and the approval of the Central Bank
of Lebanon dated May 19, 2006.
On May 11, 2006, the Group purchased the minority interest of 25% in Saudi
Lebanese Bank S.A.L. in accordance with the resolution of the General
Assembly dated November 28, 2005 and the approval of the Central Bank of
Lebanon dated June 9, 2006.
On September 8, 2006, the Group sold its entire share in Al Shua’a S.A.L. to
GroupMed S.A.L., the Group’s parent company, effective December 31, 2005, in
accordance with the resolution of the General Assembly dated July 14, 2006
and the approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon dated November 17, 2006.
Méditerranée Investment Bank S.A.L. is a wholly owned subsidiary
established on January 24, 1996. This bank is a medium and long-term
investment bank subject to the regulations provided in Decree Nº. 50 dated
July 15, 1983, and the Central Bank of Lebanon Decision Nº. 6101, dated
February 8, 1996.
“Centre Méditerranée S.A.L.” owns a commercial building used as the
headquarters of the Group.
Al Hosn Real Estate II S.A.L. and Al Hosn Real Estate III S.A.L. own land used
as an extension to the Group’s headquarters.
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D. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method.
The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values,
at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and
equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.
The acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that
meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations
are recognized at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for noncurrent assets (or business units to be disposed of) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations, which are recognized and measured at fair value
less costs to sell.
Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset and initially
measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination
over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized. If, after reassessment, the
Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business
combination, the excess is recognized immediately in the income statement.
The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured
at the minority's proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognized.
E. FOREIGN CURRENCIES
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Pound
which is the Group’s reporting currency. However, the primary currency of
the economic environment in which the Group operates (functional
currency) is the U.S. Dollar.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities,
transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise except for exchange differences on transactions entered into in
order to hedge certain foreign currency risks, and exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which

82

Annual Report 08-08-2008 dergh (70-200).qxd7:Layout 1

8/12/08

12:08 PM

Page 83

settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur, which form part of the net
investment in a foreign operation, and which are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve and recognised in profit or loss on disposal of
the net investment.
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets
and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are expressed in Currency
Units using exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Income
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and
recognized in the Group’s foreign currency translation reserve. Such
exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which
the foreign operation is disposed of.

F. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Recognition and Derecognition:
The Group initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits debt securities
issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All
other financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized on the trade
date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.
A financial asset (or a part of a financial asset, or a part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognized, when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the financial asset expire.
In instances where the Group is assessed to have transferred a financial
asset, the asset is derecognized if the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership. Where the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership, the financial asset is derecognized only if the Group has
not retained control of the financial asset. The Group recognizes separately
as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in
the process.
A financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) can only be
derecognized when it is extinguished, that is when the obligation specified
in the contract is either discharged, cancelled or expires.
Offsetting:
Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount is presented
in the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set
off the amounts or intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Fair Value Measurement:
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as
follows:
• the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market prices;
• the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities and those
traded in inactive markets (excluding derivative instruments) are
determined either based on quoted prices adjusted downward for factors
related to illiquidity or in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions, as applicable; and
• the fair value of derivative instruments, are calculated using quoted
prices. Where such prices are not available, use is made of discounted cash
flow analysis using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the
instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option pricing models for
optional derivatives.
Impairment of Financial Assets:
Financial assets, other than those at “fair value through profit and loss”, are
assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial
assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one
or more observable loss events, including significant or prolonged decline
in fair value beyond one business cycle that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset or group of financial assets, the estimated
future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the
impairment loss or specific provision for credit losses on non-performing
loans and advances to customers, is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate, taking into consideration,
for non-performing loans and advances to customers, the liquidating value
of any security on hand.
In addition to specific provision for credit losses on non-performing loans
and advances to customers, provision for collective impairment is made on
a portfolio basis for credit losses where there is objective evidence that
unidentified losses exist at the reporting date. This provision is estimated
based on various factors including credit ratings allocated to a borrower or
group of borrowers, the current economic conditions, the experience the
Group has had in dealing with a borrower or group of borrowers and
available historical default information.
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With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized.
In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, any increase in fair value
subsequent to an impairment loss is recognized directly in equity.
Designation at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss:
The Group has designated financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss when either:
• The assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on
a fair value basis;
• The designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch which would otherwise arise; or
• The asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the
contract.
Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
loss are initially recognized and subsequently measured at fair value.

G. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus incremental
direct transaction costs, and subsequently accounted for depending on
their classification as either held-to-maturity or available-for-sale.
Held-to-Maturity Investment Securities:
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Group has the positive
intent and ability to hold to maturity, and which are not designated at fair
value through profit or loss or available-for-sale.
Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized cost using the
straight line method where results approximate those resulting from the
effective interest method, less any impairment loss. Any sale or
reclassification of a significant amount of held-to-maturity investments
not close to their maturity would result in the reclassification of all held-tomaturity investments as available-for-sale, and prevent the Group from
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classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity for the current and
the following two financial years.
Available-for-Sale Investment Securities:
Available-for-sale (AFS) investments are non derivative investments that
are not designated as another category of financial assets. Available-forsale securities are stated at fair value, except for unquoted equity securities
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost. Fair value
is determined in the manner described in note 3(F). Gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value are recognized directly in equity in the
“change in fair value of available-for-sale securities” with the exception of
impairment losses, interest and foreign exchange gains and losses on
monetary assets, which are recognized directly in profit or loss. Where the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognized in the “change in fair value of availablefor-sale securities” is included in profit or loss for the period.
The change in fair value on available-for-sale debt securities reclassified to
held-to-maturity is segregated from the change in fair value of availablefor-sale debt securities under equity and is amortized over the remaining
term to maturity of the debt security as a yield adjustment.
Exchange of Debt Securities:
Debt securities exchanged against securities with longer maturities, with
similar risks, and issued by the same issuer, are not derecognized from
financial assets because they do not meet the conditions for derecognition.
Premiums and discounts derived from the exchange of said securities are
deferred to be amortized as a yield enhancement on time proportionate
basis, over the period of the extended maturities.
Cost of Put Option:
Cost of exercise of the put option related to the redemption right of debt
securities is netted from the underlying cost of the related securities.

H. TRADING ASSETS
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near
future; or
• it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or
• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
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Financial assets held-for trading are stated at fair value, with any resultant
gain or loss recognized in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 3(F).
Subsequent to their initial recognition, trading securities are not
reclassified.

I. LOANS AND ADVANCES
Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are
classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at
amortized cost, less any impairment. Interest income is recognized by
applying the effective interest rate.
Non-performing loans and advances to customers are stated net of
unrealized interest and provision for credit losses because of doubts and
the probability of non-collection of principal and/or interest.

J. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS ISSUED
BY THE GROUP
Classification as debt or equity:
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement.
Equity instruments:
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities:
Financial guarantees contracts are contracts that require the Group to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument. These contracts can have various
judicial forms (guarantees, letters of credit, credit-insurance contracts).
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair
values and are subsequently measured at the higher of:
• the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in
accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets; and
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• the amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative
amortization recognized in accordance with the revenue recognition
policies set out above.
Other financial liabilities:
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at
fair value, net of transaction costs.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost,
with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis.

K. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Derivative financial instruments including foreign exchange contracts,
currency and interest rate swaps, (both written and purchased) are initially
measured at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently re-measured to their fair value at each balance sheet
date. All derivatives are carried at their fair value as assets where the fair
value is positive and as liabilities where the fair value is negative. The
resulting gain or loss is recognized in the income statement immediately
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedge instrument in
which event the timing of the recognition in the income statement
depends on the hedge relationship. The Group designates certain
derivatives as either hedges of the fair value recognized assets or liabilities
or firm commitments (fair value hedges), hedges of highly probable
forecast transactions or hedges of foreign currency risk of firm
commitments (cash flow hedges), or hedges of net investments in
foreign operations.
Fair values are generally obtained by reference to quoted market prices,
discounted cash flow models or pricing models as appropriate as indicated
under Note 3 (F).
Embedded derivatives:
Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host
contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the
host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.
Hedge accounting:
The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include
derivatives, embedded derivatives and non-derivatives in respect of foreign
currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net
investments in foreign operations. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm
commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.
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At the inception of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the
relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along
with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and
on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging
instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.
Fair Value Hedge:
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
fair value hedges are recorded in profit or loss immediately, together with
any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable to the
hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the
change in the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in
the line of the income statement relating to the hedged item.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging
relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or
exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The adjustment to
the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is
amortised to profit or loss from that date.
Cash Flow Hedge:
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in equity. The gain or
loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in the periods
when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss, in the same line of the
income statement as the recognised hedged item. However, when the
forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a nonfinancial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously
deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial
measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging
relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or
exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or
loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when
the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss
that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations:
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly
to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to
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the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in equity in the foreign
currency translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Gains and losses deferred in the foreign currency translation reserve are
recognized in profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

L. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and
that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates, except where the Group
has control over the associates’ financial and operating policies, are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for
sale, in which case it is accounted for under IFRS 5 Non current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at
cost as adjusted for post acquisition changes in the Group's share of the net
assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual
investments. Losses of an associate in excess of the Group's interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate) are not recognized.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
associate recognized at the date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill.
The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and
is assessed for impairment as part of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is
recognized immediately in the income statement.
Temporary investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries, which the
management intends to dispose of within one year from the consolidated
balance sheet date, are reflected in the consolidated balance sheet at fair
value that is equivalent to its net realizable value as determined on the date
of the consolidated financial statements.

M. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than
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through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the
sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for
immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed
to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of the assets' previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.

N. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment except for buildings acquired prior to 1993 are
stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment loss. Buildings acquired prior to 1993 are stated at their
revalued amounts, based on market prices prevailing during 1996 less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Resulting
revaluation surplus is reflected under “Equity”.
Depreciation of property and equipment, other than land and advance
payments on capital expenditures, is calculated systematically using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets
using the following annual rates:
Buildings
Office improvements and installations
Furniture
Equipment and machines
Computer equipment
Vehicles

2%
12.5 % - 20%
8% - 20%
7% - 25%
20% - 33.33%
10% - 20%

O. INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN GOODWILL
Intangible assets consisting of computer software are amortized over a
period of three years and are subject to impairment testing. Subsequent
expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the
future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.
All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

P. GOODWILL
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled
entity represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or jointly controlled entity
recognized at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognized as an
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asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.
On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss
on disposal.
The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is
described under “Investments in Associates”.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated
are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata
on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment
loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Q. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Investment properties, which consist of properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation, are stated at amounts that approximate
their fair value at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in the
income statement in the period in which they arise.

R. ASSETS ACQUIRED IN SATISFACTION OF LOANS
Real estate property has been acquired through the enforcement of
security over loans and advances. These assets are measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. The acquisition of such assets is
regulated by the local banking authorities who require the liquidation of
these assets within 2 years from acquisition. In case of default of
liquidation the Group’s lead regulator requires an appropriation of a special
reserve from the yearly net income that is reflected under equity.

S. IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
At each balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of tangible and
intangible assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated in order to
determine the extent of impairment provision required, if any.
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Recoverable amount is defined as the higher of:
• Fair value that reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date, less
cost to sell, if any. To determine fair value the Group adopts the market
comparability approach using as indicators the current prices for similar
assets in the same location and condition.
• Value in use: the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to
arise from the continuing use of the asset and from its disposal at the end
of its useful life, only applicable to assets with cash generation units.
In this connection, the recoverable amount of the Group’s owned properties
and of properties acquired in satisfaction of debts, is the estimated market
value, as determined by real estate appraisers on the basis of market
compatibility by comparing with similar transactions in the same
geographical area and on the basis of the expected value of a current sale
between a willing buyer and a willing seller, that is, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.
The impairment loss is charged to income.

T. EMPLOYEES' BENEFITS
Obligations for contributions to defined employees’ benefits are recognized
as an expense on a current basis.
Employees' End-of-Service Indemnities: (Under the Lebanese Jurisdiction)
The provision for staff termination indemnities is based on the liability
that would arise if the employment of all the staff were terminated at the
balance sheet date. This provision is calculated in accordance with the
directives of the Lebanese Social Security Fund and Labor laws based on the
number of years of service multiplied by the monthly average of the last 12
months remunerations and less contributions paid to the Lebanese Social
Security National Fund and interest accrued by the Fund.
Defined benefit plans: (Under other jurisdictions)
Obligations in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit
is discounted to determine its present value, and any unrecognized past
service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted.

U. PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a
result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation. Provision is measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date.

93

Annual Report 08-08-2008 dergh (70-200).qxd7:Layout 1

8/12/08

12:08 PM

Page 94

h i gi h
n ldiegphetnsd oe fn tt h e
a u d yi te oa rr ’s2 0r0e 7p o r t

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows determined at by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are
expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized as
an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

V. REVENUE AND EXPENSE RECOGNITION
Interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis, taking
account of the principal outstanding and the rate applicable, except for
non-performing loans and advances for which interest income is only
recognized upon realization. Interest income and expense include the
amortization discount or premium.
Interest income and expense presented in the income statement include:
• Interest on financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost.
• Interest on available-for-sale investment securities.
• Fair value changes in qualifying derivatives and related hedged items
when interest rate risk is the hedged risk.
Net trading income presented in the income statement includes:
• Interest income and expense on the trading portfolio.
• Dividend income on the trading equities.
• Realized and unrealized gains and losses on the trading portfolio.
Interest income and expense on financial portfolio designated at fair value
through profit or loss upon initial recognition is recognized under net
income from other financial instruments carried at fair value.
Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective
interest rate on a financial asset or liability (i.e. commissions and fees
earned on the loan book) are included under interest income and expense.
Other fees and commission income are recognized as the related services
are performed.
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.
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W. INCOME TAX
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the income statement except to
the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which
case it is recognized in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using rates enacted at the balance sheet date. Income tax payable is
reflected in the consolidated balance sheet net of taxes previously settled
in the form of withholding tax.
Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable profit, and are accounted for
using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilized.

X. FIDUCIARY DEPOSITS
All fiduciary deposits are held on a non-discretionary basis and related risks
and rewards belong to the account holders. Accordingly, they are reflected
as off-balance sheet accounts.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

AND

KEY

SOURCES

OF

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

95

Annual Report 08-08-2008 dergh (70-200).qxd7:Layout 1

8/12/08

12:09 PM

Page 96

h i gi h
n ldiegphetnsd oe fn tt h e
a u d yi te oa rr ’s2 0r0e 7p o r t

A. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Classification of Financial Assets:
The Group’s accounting policies provide scope for investment securities to be
designated on inception into different categories in certain circumstances
based on specific conditions. In classifying investment securities as held-tomaturity, the Group has determined that it has both the positive intent and
ability to hold these assets until their maturity as required by in accounting
policy under Note 3G. The carrying amount of the held-to-maturity financial
assets is LBP 1,667.35 billion at 2007 year end. If the Group fails to keep these
investments until maturity other than for the specific circumstances, it will
require reclassifying the entire category as available for sale that will be
measured at fair value with the corresponding cumulative negative change
in fair value of LBP 77.47 billion at December 31, 2007 booked in equity.
In designating financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, the Group has determined that it has met one of the criteria for this
designation set out in accounting policy 3(F).
Qualifying hedge relationships:
In designating financial instruments as qualifying hedge relationships, the
Group has determined that it expects the hedge to be highly effective over
the life of the hedging instrument.
In accounting for derivatives as cash flow hedges, the Group has
determined that the hedged cash flow exposure relates to highly probable
future cash flows.

B. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Allowances for Credit Losses:
Specific impairment for credit losses is determined by assessing each case
individually. This method applies to classified loans and advances and the
factors taken into consideration when estimating the allowance for credit
losses include the counterparty’s credit limit, the counterparty’s ability to
generate cash flows sufficient to settle his advances and the value of
collateral and potential repossession. Loans collectively assessed for
impairment are determined based on losses incurred by loans portfolios
with similar characteristics.
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Determining Fair Values:
The determination of fair value for financial assets for which there is no
observable market price requires the use of valuation techniques as
described in Note 3F. For financial instruments that trade infrequently and
have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires
varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, concentration,
uncertainly of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks
affecting the specific instrument.
Impairment of goodwill:
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the directors to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.
Impairment of available for-sale equity investments:
The Group determines that available for sale equity investments are
impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value below its cost. This determination requires judgment. In making this
judgment the Group evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility
in share price. In addition, the Group considers impairment to be
appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health
of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology,
and operational and financing cash flows.

5. CASH, COMPULSORY RESERVES AND DEPOSITS AT CENTRAL BANKS

December 31,

Cash on hand

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

51,320,789

39,123,005

156,909,350

171,743,654

Current accounts with the Central Bank of Lebanon

9,386,868

10,866,316

Current accounts with other central banks

1,505,136

829,481

1,126,705,500

942,036,750

Compulsory reserves with the Central Bank of Lebanon

Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Term placements with other central banks
Accrued interest receivable

88,645,861

-

5,822,332

3,741,671

1,440,295,836 1,168,340,877

Compulsory deposits with central banks are not available for use in the
Group’s day-to-day operations and are reflected at amortized cost.

97

Annual Report 08-08-2008 dergh (70-200).qxd7:Layout 1

8/12/08

12:09 PM

Page 98

h i gi h
n ldiegphetnsd oe fn tt h e
a u d yi te oa rr ’s2 0r0e 7p o r t

Non-interest earning cash compulsory reserves with Central Bank of
Lebanon represent deposits in Lebanese Pounds computed on the basis of
25% and 15% of the average weekly sight and term customers’ deposits in
Lebanese Pounds in accordance with the local banking regulations.
Term placements with Central Bank of Lebanon include the equivalent in
foreign currencies of LBP 1,126.7 billion as at December 31, 2007 (LBP 942.04
billion as at December 31, 2006) deposited in accordance with local banking
regulations which require banks to maintain interest earning placements
in foreign currency to the extent of 15% of customers’ deposits in foreign
currencies, certificates of deposits and loans acquired from non-resident
financial institutions.
Term placements with other central banks include the equivalent in
Turkish Lira and foreign currencies of LBP 49.33 billion as at December 31,
2007 deposited in accordance with banking laws and regulations in Turkey
which require banks to maintain at the Central Bank of Turkey mandatory
interest earning deposits to the extent of 6% of their liabilities in Turkish
Lira and 11% of their liabilities in foreign currencies.
Term placements with other central banks also include the equivalent in
Euro of LBP 39.31 billion as at December 31, 2007 deposited in accordance
with banking laws and regulations in Cyprus which require banks to
maintain at the Central Bank of Cyprus mandatory interest earning
deposits in Euro to the extent of 2% of banks’ and customers’ deposits
maturing in less than two years, after deducting a fixed amount of
Euro 100,000.
Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon bear the following
maturities:
December 31, 2007
F/Cy Base Accounts
Maturity

Amount LBP’000

Average Interest Rate %

1st quarter 2008

486,470,250

4.11

2nd half of 2008

2,562,750

5.98

Year 2009

54,270,000

5.21

Year 2010

78,390,000

5.69

Year 2012

505,012,500

5.76

1,126,705,500
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December 31, 2006
F/Cy Base Accounts
Maturity
1st quarter 2007

Amount LBP’000

Average Interest Rate %

653,501,250

4.98

2nd quarter 2007

114,570,000

6.62

2nd half 2007

101,304,000

6.64

Year 2008

7,839,000

6.34

Year 2009

54,270,000

5.37

Year 2010

10,552,500

6.23

942,036,750

Term placements with other central banks bear the following maturities:
December 31, 2007
F/Cy Base Accounts
Maturity
1st quarter 2008

Amount LBP’000

Average Interest Rate %

88,645,861

4.41

88,645,861

6. DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

December 31,

Checks in course of collection

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

33,988,702

24,271,923

208,547,415

20,593,070

Current accounts - related parties

1,011,757

206,593

Call placements

6,783,750

-

630,127,500

224,316,000

Current accounts

Overnight placements
Overnight placements - related parties
Term placements
Term placements - related parties
Loans to banks
Accrued interest receivable

99

19,691,784

62,812,396

1,546,623,735

578,750,028

457,635,711

10,065,907

15,528,000

7,500,000

1,473,959

2,575,148

2,921,412,313

931,091,065
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Term placements, overnight placement and call placements bear the
following maturities:

December 31, 2007
Accounts in LBP
Maturity
1st quarter of 2008

Amount
LBP’000

Accounts in F/Cy

Average
Interest Rate %

1,500,000

4.25

1,500,000

Amount
LBP’000

Average
Interest Rate %

2,659,362,480

5.45

2,659,362,480

December 31, 2006
Accounts in F/Cy
Amount LBP’000

Maturity
1st quarter of 2007

Average Interest Rate %

875,944,331

4.98

875,944,331

Deposits with banks and financial institutions include time deposits in the
amount of LBP 9.8 billion and current accounts in the amount of LBP 739
million as at December 31, 2007 (LBP 47.48 billion and LBP6 5.87 million as at
December 31, 2006, respectively) with right of set-off, against current
deposits of banks and financial institutions amounting to LBP 3.77 billion,
acceptances payable amounting to LBP 2.05 billion, letters of guarantees
amounting to LBP 16.16 billion, letters of credit amounting to LBP 9.96
billion and forward contracts amounting to LBP 23.96 billion (LBP 1.99
billion, LBP 5.53 billion, LBP 14.48 billion, LBP 2.2 billion and LBP 49.36 billion
as at December 31, 2006 respectively).
Loans to banks bear the following maturities:

Maturity

December 31, 2007

December 31, 2006

Accounts in LBP

Accounts in F/Cy

Amount
LBP’000

Average
Interest Rate %

Amount
LBP’000

Average
Interest Rate %

Year 2016

2,700,000

5.49

3,000,000

5.22

Year 2017

4,500,000

5.49

4,500,000

5.49

Year 2019

8,328,000

5.49

-

-

15,528,000

7,500,000

On October 15, 2004, the Group contracted a 12 year financing loan of LBP 3
billion with a resident housing bank. The loan is subject to an interest rate
equivalent to 40% of the 3 years treasury bills yield plus 1.75%. The rate
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applied for the first 3 years was set at 5.22%. On October 15, 2007 interest
was reset for 3 years at 5.49%. Interest is paid semi-annually. The loan is
payable after a grace period of 2 years in 10 equal annual installments
starting October 15, 2006. As a guarantee for this loan, the borrower has
pledged in favor of the Group bills related to the housing loans granted to
its customers. The balance of these housing loans subject to the pledge
should be maintained at a minimum of 125% of the loan.
On August 4, 2005, the Group contracted another 12 year financing loan with
the same bank in the amount of LBP 3 billion subject to an interest rate
equivalent to 40% of the 3 years treasury bills yield plus 1.75%. The rate applied
was set at 5.49%. The loan is payable after a grace period of 2 years in 10 equal
annual installments starting August 4, 2008. The balance of the housing loans
subject to the pledge should be maintained at a minimum of 125%.
On December 26, 2005, the Group also contracted a 12 year financing loan
of LBP 1.5 billion with the above mentioned resident housing bank subject
to the same conditions applied to the loan granted on August 4, 2005. The
loan is payable after a grace period of 2 years in 10 equal annual
installments starting December 28, 2008. The balance of the housing loans
subject to the pledge should also be maintained at a minimum of 125%.
On October 23, 2007 the Group contracted another 12 year financing loan
with the same bank in the amount of LBP 8.33 billion subject to the same
conditions of the previous loan. As a guarantee for this loan, the borrower
has pledged in favor of the Group bills related to the housing loans granted
to its customers. The balance of the housing loans subject to the pledge
should be maintained at a minimum of 110% of the loan balance. The loan
is payable after a grace period of 2 years in 10 equal annual installments
starting October 12, 2010.
Accrued interest receivable is segregated as follows as at December 31, 2007
and 2006:
December 31,
2007

2006

Non-related
LBP’000

Related Parties
LBP’000

Current accounts

194

-

-

-

Overnight Placement

349

-

66,342

18,471

128,609

-

-

-

Call Placements
Term placements and
loans to banks

Non-related
LBP’000

Related Parties
LBP’000

1,337,887

6,920

2,466,963

23,372

1,467,039

6,920

2,533,305

41,843
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7. TRADING ASSETS
This caption consists of the following:
December 31,
2007
LBP
LBP’000

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Lebanese Government bonds

-

1,480,895

1,480,895

Foreign Government bonds

-

163,601,163

163,601,163

Certificates of deposit issued by banks
Quoted equity securities

-

-

-

720,101

5,483,075

6,203,176

Accrued interest receivable

-

67,735

67,735

720,101

170,632,868

171,352,969

December 31,
2006
LBP
LBP’000

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Lebanese Government bonds

-

1,366,049

Foreign Government bonds

-

-

-

Certificates of deposit issued by banks

-

1,507,500

1,507,500

589,765

1,521,881

2,111,646

Quoted equity securities
Accrued interest receivable

1,366,049

-

60,699

60,699

589,765

4,456,129

5,045,894

Foreign government bonds as at December 31, 2007 include bonds issued by
the Turkish Government in the amount of LBP 158.7 billion.
Equity securities as at December 31, 2007 represent quoted securities of
Lebanese banks and companies held by the Group for trading purposes and
are stated at the fair value prevailing at year-end.
Dividends received during the years 2007 and 2006 in the amount of LBP
128 million and LBP 40 million, respectively are reflected under “Net interest
and gains and losses on trading portfolio” in the consolidated income
statement (Note 35).
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Fixed income trading debt securities are segregated by remaining periods
to maturity as follows:
December 31, 2007
Amount LBP’000

Yield %

Lebanese Government bonds
1 year to 3 years

1,480,895

9.02

1,480,895

Foreign Government bonds
Up to 1 year

65,380,694

1 year to 3 years

84,305,593

15.71
17.13

3 years to 5 years

1,738,060

15.85

5 years to 10 years

7,316,127

20.50

Beyond 10 years

4,860,689

6.82

163,601,163
165,082,058

December 31, 2006
Amount LBP’000

Yield %

Lebanese Government bonds
1 year to 3 years

1,366,049

6.30

1,366,049

Certificates of deposit issued by banks
Up to 1 year

1,507,500

6.88

1,507,500
2,873,549

The movement of trading assets for the year ended December 31, 2007,
exclusive of the accrued interest, is as follows:
2007
Quoted Equity
Securities
LBP’000
Balance beginning of year

Government
Bonds
LBP’000

Foreign
Government
Bonds
LBP’000

Certificates of
deposit issued
by banks
LBP’000

Total

2,111,646

1,366,049

-

1,507,500

4,985,195

368,338

-

93,649,685

-

94,018,023

Additions

4,558,378

-

415,473,594

-

420,031,972

Sales

(980,241)

-

(377,116,299)

-

(378,096,540)

-

-

-

(1,507,500)

(1,507,500)

Positive change in fair value
(unrealized profit)

459,564

-

10,668,016

-

11,127,580

Negative change in fair value
(unrealized loss)

(383,153)

(41,361)

(63,858)

-

(488,372)

Effect of exchange difference

68,645

156,207

20,990,024

-

21,214,876

6,203,177

1,480,895

163,601,162

-

171,285,234

Effect of subsidiary acquisition

Redemption

Balance end of year
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8. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
Loans and advances to customers are reflected at amortized cost and
consist of the following:
December 31, 2007
Gross Amount
LBP’000
Regular Retail customers
• Mortgage loans
• Personal loans
• Credit cards
• Overdrafts
• Other
Classified Retail Customers
• Substandard
• Bad and doubtful
• Collective provision
Regular Corporate customers
• Rescheduled
• Corporate
• Small and medium enterprises
Classified Corporate Customers
• Rescheduled substandard
• Substandard
• Rescheduled bad and doubtful
• Bad and doubtful
Collective provision
Deferred penalties charged on excess over limit
Accrued interest receivable

Unrealized
Interest
LBP’000

Impairment
Allowance
LBP’000

Carrying
Amount
LBP’000

19,520,877
142,964,713
6,195,744
31,869,498
121,370,809

-

-

19,520,877
142,964,713
6,195,744
31,869,498
121,370,809

2,118,730
25,899,353
-

(176,514)
(14,418,012)
-

(10,037,772)
(453,984)

1,942,216
1,443,569
(453,984)

36,252,570
2,048,281,826
269,656,823

-

(2,885,028)
(353,873)

36,252,570
2,045,396,798
269,302,950

16,093,335
30,391,662
173,973,011
218,811,026
(11,440,043)
20,139,876
3,152,099,810

(4,051,543)
(6,517,097)
(124,719,396)
(114,288,355)
(264,170,917)

(34,896,544)
(81,891,876)
(47,500,935)
(178,020,012)

12,041,792
23,874,565
14,357,071
22,630,795
(47,500,935)
(11,440,043)
20,139,876
2,709,908,881

December 31, 2006
Regular Retail customers
• Mortgage loans
• Personal loans
• Credit cards
• Overdrafts
• Other
Classified Retail Customers
• Substandard
• Bad and doubtful
• Collective provision
Regular Corporate customers
• Rescheduled
• Corporate
• Small and medium enterprises
Classified Corporate Customers
• Rescheduled substandard
• Substandard
• Rescheduled bad and doubtful
• Bad and doubtful
Collective provision
Deferred penalties charged on excess over limit
Accrued interest receivable

9,077,595
74,647,185
2,987,073
35,965,137
125,054,012

-

-

9,077,595
74,647,185
2,987,073
35,965,137
125,054,012

1,590,930
30,593,395
-

(267,569)
(13,180,445)
-

(13,136,089)
-

1,323,361
4,276,861
-

55,667,992
1,311,528,013
14,807,543

(17,877,173)
-

-

37,790,819
1,311,528,013
14,807,543

10,927,522
26,318,707
167,799,028
361,239,367
(11,621,650)
5,143,621
2,221,725,470

(3,543,976)
(4,883,885)
(53,299,706)
(236,756,012)
(329,808,766)

(49,944,751)
(101,218,108)
(12,373,560)
(176,672,508)

7,383,546
21,434,822
64,554,571
23,265,247
(12,373,560)
(11,621,650)
5,143,621
1,715,244,196
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The carrying value of loans and advances to customers includes
accidentally debtors’ balances with carrying value amounting to LBP 11.25
billion as at December 31, 2007 (LBP 11.37 billion in 2006).
Loans and advances to customers as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 are
stated net of third parties’ participation to the extent of LBP 4.32 billion and
LBP 8.91 billion, respectively.
Loans and advances to customers also include net multicurrency trading
exposures amounting to LBP 19.75 million at 2007 year end (Nil at 2006 year end).
The Group has deferred penalty interest in the amount of LBP 11.44 billion
as at December 31, 2007, charged to customers’ accounts with balances in
excess of facilities’ limits (LBP 11.62 billion as at December 31, 2006).
As at December 31, 2007, special mention regular corporate loans in the
gross notional amount of LBP 36.25 billion were reported under
restructured loans. In addition, substandard corporate loans in the gross
notional amount of LBP 16.09 billion net of unrealized interest amounting
to LBP 2.69 billion were reported under restructured loans net of waived
loans in the amount of LBP 1.36 billion which was offset against unrealized
interest on substandard loans. Moreover, bad and doubtful loans in the
gross notional amount of LBP 173.97 billion net of unrealized interest and
provisions for credit losses amounting to LBP 51.24 billion and LBP 0.5
billion, respectively, were reported under restructured debts net of waived
loans in the amount of LBP 107.88 billion which was off-set against
unrealized interest and provision on bad and doubtful loans in the
amounts of LBP 73.48 billion and LBP 34.4 billion, respectively.
The movement of unrealized interest on substandard loans during 2007
and 2006 is summarized as follows:

Balance January 1

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

8,695,430

Additions from entities acquired by merger in 2006
Additions
Write-back to income statement
Write-off
Transfer to off-balance sheet
Transfer from/to doubtful and bad loans
Effect of exchange rate changes
Other

15,267,278

-

11,311

3,746,417

4,462,761

(603,085)

(4,369,830)

(1,010,217)

(1,950,602)

(231,362)

(1,291,708)

159,523

(3,435,510)

-

1,730

(11,552)

-

Balance December 31

10,745,154

8,695,430

Contractual write-off on restructured debts

(1,358,897)

(3,487,517)

9,386,257

5,207,913

Net balance, end of year
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The movement of allowance for impairment on substandard loans during
2007 is summarized as follows:
2007
LBP'000
Balance January 1

-

Additions

3,233,852

Write-back to income statement

(2,340)

Transfer to/from doubtful and bad loans

(3,551,596)

Effect of exchange rate changes

320,084

Balance December 31

-

The movement of unrealized interest on doubtful and bad loans during
2007 and 2006 is summarized as follows:
2007
Balance January 1

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

321,113,336

372,781,271

Additions

45,698,503

54,304,585

Write-off

(34,303,951)

(35,734,055)

(2,624,658)

(12,586,237)

Write-back to income statement
Transfer to/from substandard loans
Transfer to off-balance sheet
Transfer to unrealized interest for
non-consolidated subsidiary

(159,523)

3,219,321

(75,220,843)

(59,206,316)

(1,111,972)

(1,934,987)

Effect of exchange rate changes

(76,681)

283,283

Other

111,552

(13,529)

Balance December 31

253,425,763

321,113,336

Contractual write-off on restructured debts

(73,480,011)

(71,424,023)

Net balance, end of year

179,945,752

249,689,313

The movement of allowance for impairment on doubtful and bad loans
during 2007 and 2006 is summarized as follows:
2007
Balance January 1

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

154,348,513

182,201,840

Additions from acquisition of a new subsidiary

5,660,435

-

Additions

3,696,387

26,355,981

Write-off

(23,744,004)

(20,204,696)

Write-back to income statement

(7,828,714)

(8,094,911)

Transfer from substandard loans

3,551,596

-

(19,386,870)

(29,984,194)

Transfer to provision for non-consolidated subsidiary

(222,300)

4,005,669

Effect of exchange rate changes

1,301,250

68,824

Balance December 31

117,376,293

154,348,513

Contractual write-off on restructured debts
(including regular restructured loans)

(34,399,620)

(49,944,751)

82,976,673

104,403,762

Transfer to off-balance sheet

Net balance, end of year
Escrow funds
Balance end of year, (net)
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9,950,435

92,426,572

114,354,197
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The movement of the escrow funds is summarized as follows:
December 31,

Balance, beginning of year

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

9,950,435

Write-backs

12,353,755

-

(98,650)

Transfer to off-balance sheet

(500,536)

(2,304,670)

Balance, end of year

9,449,899

9,950,435

Escrow funds in the amount of USD 6,268,590 as at December 31, 2007, are
partially funded by the Group to the extent of USD 2 million and the
balance is funded by the previous shareholders of Allied Bank S.A.L., a
merged subsidiary, for the purpose of covering any shortfall in the
provision for doubtful accounts. An amount of USD 4,105,859 out of the
escrow funds as at December 31, 2007, became the irrevocable right of the
Group as of the year 2002.
The movement of the allowance for collective impairment during 2007 and
2006 is as follows:
2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

Balance January 1

12,373,560

-

Additions

36,788,790

12,373,560

Additions due to acquisition of subsidiary

1,787,785

-

Write-back to income statement

(233,998)

-

Effect of exchange rate changes
Balance December 31

477,683

-

51,193,820

12,373,560

9. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO RELATED PARTIES

December 31,
2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

Regular Retail Accounts:
Mortgage loans

2,858,494

-

100,055

103,959

Overdrafts

200,681,185

206,094,968

Medium and long term loans

190,008,954

41,601,966

11,138

204,336,333

Other
Regular Corporate Accounts:

Accidentally debtors
Accrued interest receivable

107

4,689

4,374

393,664,515

452,141,600
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10. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

December 31, 2007
Available-for-Sale
LBP
LBP’000

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Quoted equity securities

2,667,732

601,771,773

Unquoted equity securities

6,238,680

7,262,852

13,501,532

803,658,621

-

803,658,621

-

1,366,484,034

1,366,484,034

Lebanese treasury bills
Lebanese government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon

604,439,505

58,700,883

508,604,710

567,305,593

Certificates of deposit issued by banks

-

-

-

Corporate debt securities

-

154,830,953

154,830,953

Cumulative preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese Bank

-

6,030,000

6,030,000

Convertible preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank

-

4,543,228

4,543,228
31,783,678

Non-cumulative preferred shares
issued by a Lebanese bank
Accrued interest receivable

-

31,783,678

24,798,407

45,365,517

70,163,924

896,064,323

2,726,676,745

3,622,741,068

Held-to-Maturity
LBP
LBP’000

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Quoted equity securities

-

-

Unquoted equity securities

-

-

-

351,553,038

-

351,553,038

-

1,209,434,796

1,209,434,796

Lebanese treasury bills
Lebanese government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon

-

10,240,796

90,850,922

101,091,718

Certificates of deposit issued by banks

-

1,507,500

1,507,500

Corporate debt securities

-

3,768,750

3,768,750

Cumulative preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese Bank

-

-

-

Convertible preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank

-

-

-

Non-cumulative preferred shares
issued by a Lebanese bank
Accrued interest receivable

-

-

-

7,084,492

26,599,384

33,683,876

368,878,326

1,332,161,352

1,701,039,678
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December 31, 2006
Available-for-Sale
LBP
LBP’000

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Quoted equity securities

2,656,377

392,642,372

Unquoted equity securities

6,238,680

2,336,625

8,575,305

733,260,433

-

733,260,433

-

1,393,995,916

1,393,995,916

Lebanese treasury bills
Lebanese government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon

395,298,749

28,963,899

264,046,126

293,010,025

Certificates of deposit issued by banks

-

-

-

Corporate debt securities

-

-

-

Cumulative preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese Bank

-

6,030,000

6,030,000

Convertible preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank

-

4,543,228

4,543,228
31,783,678

Non-cumulative preferred shares
issued by a Lebanese bank
Accrued interest receivable

-

31,783,678

18,240,109

39,068,089

57,308,198

789,359,498

2,134,446,034

2,923,805,532

Held-to-Maturity
LBP
LBP’000

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Quoted equity securities

-

-

-

Unquoted equity securities

-

-

-

Lebanese treasury bills

385,743,738

-

385,743,738

-

1,272,870,042

1,272,870,042

Lebanese government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon

10,348,975

253,166,529

263,515,504

Certificates of deposit issued by banks

-

1,507,500

1,507,500

Corporate debt securities

-

6,026,400

6,026,400

Cumulative preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank

-

-

-

Convertible preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank

-

-

-

Non-cumulative preferred shares
issued by a Lebanese bank
Accrued interest receivable

-

-

-

8,037,023

30,740,338

38,777,361

404,129,736

1,564,310,809

1,968,440,545
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A. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT SECURITIES

December 31, 2007
LBP Base Accounts

1,542,754
6,238,680
793,766,984
-

2,667,732
6,238,680
803,658,621
-

Cumulative
Change in
Fair Value
LBP’000
1,124,978
9,891,637
-

57,219,266
-

58,700,883
-

1,481,617
-

7,478,979
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

858,767,684

871,265,916

12,498,232
(1,874,735)
10,623,497

24,798,407

Amortized Cost
LBP’000
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities at cost
Lebanese treasury bills
Lebanese Government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by Central
Bank of Lebanon
Corporate debt securities
Cumulative preferred shares issued by
a Lebanese Bank
Convertible preferred shares issued by
a Lebanese bank
Non-cumulative preferred shares issued by
a Lebanese bank

Fair Value
LBP’000

Less: Deferred tax

Accrued
Interest
Receivable
LBP’000
17,319,428
-

F/Cy Base Accounts

Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities at cost
Lebanese treasury bills
Lebanese Government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by Central
Bank of Lebanon
Corporate debt securities
Cumulative preferred shares issued by
a Lebanese Bank
Convertible preferred shares issued by
a Lebanese bank
Non-cumulative preferred shares issued by
a Lebanese bank

Accrued
Interest
Receivable
LBP’000

Amortized Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

Cumulative
Change in
Fair Value
LBP’000

199,468,416
7,262,852
1,472,222,457

601,771,773
7,262,852
1,366,484,034

402,303,357
(105,738,423)

35,196,079

527,934,453
153,569,025

508,604,710
154,830,953

(19,329,743)
1,261,928

5,858,397
4,311,041

6,030,000

6,030,000

-

-

4,543,228

4,543,228

-

-

31,783,678
2,402,814,109

31,783,678
2,681,311,228

278,497,119
(42,265,167)
236,231,952

45,365,517

Less: Deferred tax
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December 31, 2006
LBP Base Accounts
Amortized Cost
LBP’000
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities at cost
Lebanese treasury bills
Certificates of deposit issued by Central
Bank of Lebanon

Fair Value
LBP’000

1,542,754
6,238,680
732,748,835

2,656,377
6,238,680
733,260,433

28,960,772
769,491,041

28,963,899
771,119,389

Less: Deferred tax

Cumulative
Change in
Fair Value
LBP’000
1,113,623
511,598
3,127
1,628,348
(244,252)
1,384,096

Accrued
Interest
Receivable
LBP’000
15,482,149
2,757,960
18,240,109

F/Cy Base Accounts

Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities at cost
Lebanese treasury bills
Lebanese Government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by Central
Bank of Lebanon
Cumulative preferred shares issued by
a Lebanese Bank
Convertible preferred shares issued by
a Lebanese bank
Non-cumulative preferred shares issued by
a Lebanese bank

Amortized Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

Cumulative
Change in
Fair Value
LBP’000

129,135,649
2,336,625
1,485,529,985

392,642,372
2,336,625
1,393,995,916

263,506,723
(91,534,069)

34,924,957

272,044,018

264,046,126

(7,997,892)

4,143,132

6,030,000

6,030,000

-

-

4,543,228

4,543,228

-

-

31,783,678
1,931,403,183

31,783,678
2,095,377,945

163,974,762
(24,166,642)
139,808,120

39,068,089

Less: Deferred tax
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Available-for-sale investments are segregated over remaining periods to
maturity as follows:
Lebanese Pounds Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Lebanese treasury bills
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
Certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
Total Lebanese Pounds Base Account 2007

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

146,634,480
641,144,450
5,100,000
792,878,930

146,660,926
642,010,975
5,095,083
793,766,984

148,124,054
650,751,787
4,782,780
803,658,621

6.443
8.609
11.719

9,000,000
47,000,000
56,000,000
848,878,930

9,119,985
48,099,281
57,219,266
850,986,250

9,287,661
49,413,222
58,700,883
862,359,504

7.542
9.032

Yield
%

December 31, 2006
Contractual Maturity
Lebanese treasury bills
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
Certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
Total Lebanese Pounds Base Account 2006

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

167,881,633
544,381,980
20,100,000
732,363,613

167,857,589
544,380,558
20,510,688
732,748,835

168,797,952
544,187,300
20,275,181
733,260,433

6.3441
8.294
9.976

28,000,000
28,000,000
760,363,613

28,960,772
28,960,772
761,709,607

28,963,899
28,963,899
762,224,332

9.830

Yield
%

Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Lebanese Government bonds
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
Beyond 10 years

Nominal
Value
LBP’000
253,502,708
309,883,994
111,245,555
380,830,680
390,113,111
1,445,576,048

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

256,852,249
251,712,860
314,036,295
298,893,176
111,301,024
103,078,317
400,182,694
361,385,790
389,850,195
351,413,891
1,472,222,457 1,366,484,034

Yield
%

9.089
9.492
8.439
9.551
9.583

December 31, 2006
Contractual Maturity
Lebanese Government bonds
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
Beyond 10 years

Nominal
Value
LBP’000
69,699,263
313,888,263
216,447,084
437,930,854
410,806,564
1,448,772,028
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Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

70,872,039
69,796,251
327,889,245
318,742,387
217,913,647
205,202,856
458,211,522
421,379,562
410,643,531
378,874,860
1,485,529,984 1,393,995,916

Yield
%
8.335
8.663
8.488
8.653
9.146

Annual Report 08-08-2008 dergh (70-200).qxd7:Layout 1

8/12/08

11:55 AM

Page 113

Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon:
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

32,411,250
261,177,390
218,195,550
511,784,190

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

32,411,250
261,177,390
234,345,813
527,934,453

31,097,523
257,020,584
220,486,603
508,604,710

Yield
%

9.691
9.407
9.790

December 31, 2006
Contractual Maturity
Certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon:
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

94,972,500
161,242,200
256,214,700

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

94,972,500
177,071,518
272,044,018

93,833,745
170,212,381
264,046,126

Yield
%

8.501
9.055

Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Corporate Debt securities
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years

Nominal
Value
LBP’000
128,137,500
15,075,000
10,356,525
153,569,025

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

128,137,500
15,075,000
10,356,525
153,569,025

129,776,906
14,547,375
10,506,672
154,830,953

Yield
%

8.306
10.018
6.998

December 31, 2006
Contractual Maturity

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

Corporate Debt securities
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000
-

Fair Value
LBP’000
-

Yield
%
-

Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Cumulative preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank
3 years to 5 years

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

6,030,000
6,030,000

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

6,030,000
6,030,000

Fair Value
LBP’000

6,030,000
6,030,000

Yield
%

7.500

December 31, 2006
Contractual Maturity
Cumulative preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank
3 years to 5 years

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

6,030,000
6,030,000
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Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

6,030,000
6,030,000

Fair Value
LBP’000

6,030,000
6,030,000

Yield
%

7.500
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Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Convertible preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

1,516,922
3,026,306
4,543,228

1,516,922
3,026,306
4,543,228

Fair Value
LBP’000

1,516,922
3,026,306
4,543,228

Yield
%

7.000
9.000

December 31, 2006
Contractual Maturity
Certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

3,026,306
1,516,922
4,543,228

3,026,306
1,516,922
4,543,228

Fair Value
LBP’000

3,026,306
1,516,922
4,543,228

Yield
%

8.000
7.000

Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Non-cumulative preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
Total Foreign Currency Base Accounts 2007

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

6,156,178
25,627,500
31,783,678
2,153,286,169

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

6,156,178
6,156,178
25,627,500
25,627,500
31,783,678
31,783,678
2,196,082,841 2,072,276,603

Yield
%

8.500
8.618

December 31, 2006
Contractual Maturity
Non-cumulative preferred shares issued
by a Lebanese bank
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
Total Foreign Currency Base Accounts 2006

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

31,783,678
31,783,678
31,783,678
31,783,678
31,783,678
31,783,678
1,747,343,634 1,799,930,908 1,700,398,948
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Yield
%

8.595
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The available-for-sale certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of
Lebanon include certificates of deposit maturing on April 25, 2015 which are
puttable at a price of 91.63 in year 2012. The Group is providing over time
for the difference between the par value and the redemption value in year
2012 by recognizing the effective yield applicable for the period until 2012.
This cost which is expected to increase year by year, is reflected as an
adjustment to the carrying book value.
During 2007, the Group entered into an agreement with a foreign bank
whereby the Group bought credit linked notes issued by that bank with a
nominal amount of USD 10,000,000, and earning interest at the rate of sixmonths Libor plus a margin, and classified as available-for-sale corporate
debt securities, partly financed by a loan from the same non-resident bank
secured by transfer of debt securities classified as held-to-maturity
corporate debt securities. The loan maturity coincides with the maturity of
the debt securities. The underlying assets of the credit linked notes consist
of Lebanese Government bonds and certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon.
Furthermore, the Group entered into another agreement with the same
foreign bank in 2007, whereby the Group bought credit linked notes issued
by that bank with a nominal amount of USD 25,000,000, and earning
interest at the rate of six-months Libor plus a margin, and classified as
available-for-sale corporate debt securities. The notes mature on February
20, 2008. The underlying assets consist of Lebanese Government bonds
and certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank.
The Group also entered during 2007 into an agreement with another
foreign bank whereby the Group acquired credit linked notes issued by
that non-resident bank with a nominal value of USD 10,000,000 earning
interest at a rate of three-months Libor plus a margin, and maturing on
November 20, 2008. The underlying assets consist of Lebanese
Government bonds.
The Group entered during 2007 into an agreement with a third foreign
bank whereby the Group acquired Lebanese Republic credit linked notes
with a nominal amount of USD 25,000,000 and earning interest at a rate of
six-months Libor plus a margin. The notes mature on February 9, 2008.
Furthermore, the Group entered during 2007 into another agreement with
the same bank whereby the Group acquired fixed income USD Leveraged
credit-linked unsecured notes with a nominal amount of USD 25,000,000.
The notes mature on August 20, 2008. The underlying assets are either
Lebanese Government bonds or certificates of deposit issued by the Central
Bank of Lebanon.
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The movement during the year 2007 of available-for-sale investment
securities denominated in LBP and in foreign currencies is summarized
as follows:

LBP Base Accounts
Unquoted
Equity
Securities
LBP’000

Quoted Equity
Securities
LBP’000
Balance January 1, 2007

Lebanese
Treasury
Bills
LBP’000

Certificates of
deposit issued
by BDL
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

2,656,377

6,238,680

733,260,433

28,963,899

771,119,389

-

-

326,738,921

27,903,197

354,642,118

Sale

-

-

(87,710,775)

-

(87,710,775)

Redemptions

-

-

(162,318,060)

-

(162,318,060)

11,355

-

(7,105,777)

1,492,617

(5,601,805)

Additions

Unrealized gain/(loss) from
change in fair value
Effect of amortization of
premium /discount
Balance December 31, 2007

-

-

793,879

341,170

1,135,049

2,667,732

6,238,680

803,658,621

58,700,883

871,265,916

The Group entered into a total return swap transaction with a non-resident
related financial institution established under the Swiss law and operating
out of Geneva.
Coupled with a promissory note that pays a pre-agreed fixed interest rate,
the transaction is composed of a spot and a forward contract to sell and buy
back the economic benefits of a portfolio of Lebanese traded equity
securities classified as available-for-sale. The transaction originated and
matured in 2007.
Interest income in the amount of LBP 24.32 billion on the promissory note
was recorded under “Interest Income on note receivable” net of transaction
cost in the amount of LBP 361.8 million in the interim consolidated
income statement.
Dividends received during year 2007 and 2006 on available-for-sale
securities in the amount of LBP 27.61 billion and LBP 16.45 billion
respectively, are reflected under “Other operating income” in the
consolidated income statement (Note 37).
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Balance January 1, 2007

117
-

Addition from swap

Disposal due to Swap

Balance December 31, 2007

Effect of amortization of
premium /discount
601,771,773

7,262,852

-

-

-

-

-

1,366,484,034

(14,267,034)

(29,421,401)

-

-

(69,699,263)

(121,246,068)

-

207,121,884

-

1,393,995,916

Lebanese
Government
Bonds
LBP’000

508,604,710

30,869

(11,272,497)

(94,972,500)

261,177,390

-

(1,278,873)

-

90,874,195

-

264,046,126

Certificates of
deposit issued
by CBL
LBP’000

-

-

154,830,953

-

1,036,406

-

-

-

-

-

153,794,547

Corporate
Bonds
LBP’000

42,356,906

-

-

-

-

(3,026,306)

-

-

3,026,306

-

42,356,906

Preferred
Shares
LBP’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

(2,904,330)

-

-

2,904,330

-

Foreign
Government
Bonds
LBP’000

2,681,311,228

(14,236,165)

99,139,143

(94,972,500)

261,177,390

(72,725,569)

(125,429,271)

24,324,947

505,648,826

3,006,482

2,095,377,945

Total
LBP’000

11:55 AM

138,796,635

-

Redemptions

-

-

4,824,075

102,152

2,336,625

Unquoted
Equity
Securities
LBP’000

8/12/08

Unrealized gain / (loss) from
change in fair value

-

24,324,947

Effect of Total Return Swap

Sales

46,007,819

-

392,642,372

Additions

Additions due to acquisition
of a subsidiary

Quoted Equity
Securities
LBP’000

F/Cy Base Accounts

Annual Report 08-08-2008 dergh (70-200).qxd7:Layout 1
Page 117

Annual Report 08-08-2008 dergh (70-200).qxd7:Layout 1

8/12/08

11:56 AM

Page 118

h i gi h
n ldiegphetnsd oe fn tt h e
a u d yi te oa rr ’s2 0r0e 7p o r t

B. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENT SECURITIES

December 31, 2007
LBP Base Accounts
Amortized
Cost
LBP’000
Lebanese treasury bills

351,553,038

Accrued Interest
Receivable
LBP’000
6,804,320

-

-

10,513,737

Lebanese Government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon

Fair Value
LBP’000
356,767,032

10,240,796

280,172

Certificates of deposit issued by banks

-

-

-

Corporate debt securities

-

-

-

361,793,834

7,084,492

367,280,769

December 31, 2007
F/Cy Base Accounts
Amortized
Cost
LBP’000
-

Accrued Interest
Receivable
LBP’000
-

1,209,434,796

24,181,729

1,127,159,727
90,201,522

Lebanese treasury bills
Lebanese Government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon

Fair Value
LBP’000
-

90,850,922

2,075,076

Certificates of deposit issued by banks

1,507,500

31,021

1,470,114

Corporate debt securities

3,768,750

311,558

3,771,675

1,305,561,968

26,599,384

1,222,603,038

December 31, 2006
LBP Base Accounts
Amortized
Cost
LBP’000
Lebanese treasury bills

385,743,738

Accrued Interest
Receivable
LBP’000
7,759,800

-

-

10,320,701

Lebanese Government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon

Fair Value
LBP’000
387,534,792

10,348,975

277,223

Certificates of deposit issued by banks

-

-

-

Corporate debt securities

-

-

-

396,092,713

8,037,023

397,855,493

December 31, 2006
F/Cy Base Accounts
Amortized
Cost
LBP’000
-

Accrued Interest
Receivable
LBP’000
-

1,272,870,042

24,897,377

1,203,651,560
252,381,269

Lebanese treasury bills
Lebanese Government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon

Fair Value
LBP’000
-

253,166,529

5,573,441

Certificates of deposit issued by banks

1,507,500

74,234

1,456,999

Corporate debt securities

6,026,400

195,286

6,030,000

1,533,570,471

30,740,338

1,463,519,828
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Held-to-maturity Lebanese Government bonds include securities
amounting to LBP 291 billion (USD 193,160,000) pledged against a long term
borrowing in the amount of LBP 143.2 billion (USD 143,212,500) granted to
the Group and reflected under “Other borrowings” in the consolidated
balance sheet (Refer to Note 22).
The movement during the year 2007 of held-to-maturity investment
securities denominated in LBP and foreign currencies is summarized as
follows:

LBP Base Accounts

Balance January 1, 2007

385,743,738

Certificates of
Deposit Issued
by the Bank of
Lebanon
LBP’000
10,348,975

Redemptions

(34,112,500)

-

Lebanese
Treasury
Bills
LBP’000

Effect of discount/premium amortization
Balance December 31, 2007

Total
LBP’000
396,092,713
(34,112,500)

(78,200)

(108,179)

(186,379)

351,553,038

10,240,796

361,793,834

F/Cy Base Accounts
Certificates of
Deposit Issued
by the Bank of
Lebanon
LBP’000

Lebanese
Government
Bonds
LBP’000
Balance January 1, 2007
Additions
Redemptions
Swaps

Certificates of
Corporate
deposit issued
Debt Securities
by banks
LBP’000
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

1,272,870,042

253,166,529

1,507,500

6,026,400

7,511,764

-

-

753,750

1,533,570,471
8,265,514

(65,279,273)

-

-

(3,015,000)

(68,294,273)

-

(161,035,672)

-

-

(161,035,672)

(5,667,737)

(1,279,935)

-

3,600

(6,944,072)

1,209,434,796

90,850,922

1,507,500

3,768,750

1,305,561,968

Effect of discount /
premium amortization
Balance December 31, 2007
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Held-to-maturity investments denominated in LBP are segregated over
remaining period to maturity as follows:
Lebanese Pounds Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Lebanese treasury bills
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
Certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon:
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
Total Lebanese Pounds Base Account 2007

Redemption
Value
LBP’000

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

227,500,000
118,000,000
6,000,000
351,500,000

227,575,083
117,981,850
5,996,105
351,553,038

230,848,932
120,291,300
5,626,800
356,767,032

7.688
8.320
11.719

10,000,000
10,000,000
361,500,000

10,240,796
10,240,796
361,793,834

10,513,737
10,513,737
367,280,769

8.710

Yield
%

December 31, 2006
Lebanese treasury bills
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
Certificates of deposit issued by
the Central Bank of Lebanon:
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
Total Lebanese Pounds Base Account 2006

34,112,500
345,500,000
6,000,000
385,612,500

34,109,375
345,639,463
5,994,900
385,743,738

34,228,352
347,636,440
5,670,000
387,534,792

10,000,000
10,000,000
395,612,500

10,348,975
10,348,975
396,092,713

10,320,701
10,320,701
397,855,493

4.739
8.666
10.460

9.550

Held-to-maturity investments denominated in foreign currencies are
segregated over remaining period to maturity as follows:
Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Lebanese Government bonds
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
Beyond 10 years

Redemption
Value
LBP’000
107,447,063
270,246,766
177,178,050
325,185,840
304,579,069
1,184,636,788

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000
108,870,042
272,872,434
178,722,161
344,427,874
304,542,285
1,209,434,796

Fair Value
LBP’000

106,604,939
261,488,731
167,021,453
317,679,779
274,364,825
1,127,159,727

Yield
%

9.284
9.147
8.847
9.582
9.583

December 31, 2006
Lebanese Government bonds
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
3 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
Beyond 10 years

65,279,273
64,953,125
179,738,448
186,042,541
281,980,380
284,622,984
410,297,640
432,711,902
304,579,068
304,539,490
1,241,874,809 1,272,870,042
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65,356,227
182,903,464
267,543,422
406,944,265
280,904,183
1,203,651,561

8.221
8.599
8.750
8.784
9.100
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Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon:
1 year to 3 years
5 years to 10 years

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

27,888,750
62,561,250
90,450,000

27,888,750
62,962,172
90,850,922

26,983,379
63,218,143
90,201,522

Yield
%

9.798
9.790

December 31, 2006
Certificates of deposit issued by the
Central Bank of Lebanon:
1 year to 3 years
5 years to 10 years

188,924,423
62,561,250
251,485,673

188,924,423
64,242,106
253,166,529

186,339,628
66,041,641
252,381,269

8.402
9.055

Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Certificates of deposit issued by banks
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years

Nominal
Value
LBP’000

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

1,507,500
1,507,500

1,507,500
1,507,500

Fair Value
LBP’000

1,470,114
1,470,114

Yield
%

10.672

December 31, 2006
Certificates of deposit issued by banks
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years

1,507,500
1,507,500

1,507,500
1,507,500

1,456,999
1,456,999

9.481

Foreign Currency Base Accounts
December 31, 2007
Contractual Maturity
Corporate debt securities
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
Total Foreign Currency Base Account 2007

Nominal
Value
LBP’000
753,750
3,015,000
3,768,750
1,280,363,038

Amortized
Cost
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

753,750
753,750
3,015,000
3,017,925
3,768,750
3,771,675
1,305,561,968 1,222,603,038

Yield
%

6.210
6.000

December 31, 2006
Corporate debt securities
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years
Total Foreign Currency Base Account 2006

6,026,400
6,026,400
1,500,894,382
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6,026,400
6,026,400
1,533,570,471

6,030,000
6,030,000
1,463,519,829

5.50
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The option on the held-to-maturity certificates of deposit maturing on
April 25, 2015 to redeem in year 2012, is treated in the same manner as
described under available-for-sale certificates of deposit above.
During the year 2006, the Group entered into a repurchase agreement with
a non-resident financial institution whereby it sold under a repurchase
agreement Lebanese Government Eurobonds classified as held-to-maturity
in the aggregate amount of USD 142 million for a total value of USD 120
million. The fair value of the bonds as at the agreement date aggregated
USD 132,060,000. The original margin between the sale price and the fair
value of the underlying securities should be compensated by the Group
either by cash compensation or by temporary transfer of additional
securities in the amount of the deficit. The final maturity of this agreement
was June 2008 but the Group terminated the deal in September 2007.

11. CUSTOMERS’ ACCEPTANCE LIABILITY
Acceptances represent documentary credits which the Group has
committed to settle on behalf of its customers against commitments by
those customers (acceptances). The commitments resulting from these
acceptances are stated as a liability in the balance sheet for the same
amount.

12. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND INVESTMENTS HELD FOR SALE
This caption consists of the following:
December 31, 2007
Name

Country of
Incorporation

Interest
Held

Carrying
Value

Investments in Associates
CreditCard Services Company

Lebanon

40.00

13,236,191

Ciment de Sibline S.A.L.

Lebanon

19.36

27,096,403

Light Metal Products S.A.L.

Lebanon

60.83

6,633,000

Long-term loan to Light Metal
products S.A.L. Lebanon

Lebanon
3,869,719
50,835,313

Investments held for sale
Berkely Hotel

Lebanon

48.00

1,153,539

Beverly Hotel

Lebanon

99.00

2,810,652

Le Gabriel Hotel

Lebanon

32.00

4,168,238

Sidem S.A.L.

Lebanon

20.00

13,296,053
21,428,482
72,263,795
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December 31, 2006
Name

Country of
Incorporation

Interest
Held

Carrying Value

Investments in Associates
CreditCard Services Company

Lebanon

40.00

9,613,479

British Virgin Islands

100.00

1,432,125

Ciment de Sibline S.A.L.

Lebanon

22.00

40,289,689

Light Metal Products S.A.L.

Lebanon

60.83

6,633,000

Long-term loan to Light Metal
Products S.A.L.

Lebanon

Medfinance Holding Ltd.

3,321,855
61,290,148

Investments held for sale
Berkely Hotel

Lebanon

48.00

979,875

Beverly Hotel

Lebanon

99.00

2,442,150

Le Gabriel Hotel

Lebanon

32.00

4,168,238

Sidem S.A.L.

Lebanon

20.00

14,167,695
21,757,958
83,048,106

During the first half of 2007, the Group sold shares of Ciment de Sibline
which resulted in a gain in the amount of LBP 11.3 billion recorded under
“Other operating income” in the consolidated income statement (Note 37).
This sale brought down the equity stake of the Group to 19.36%.
The investment in CreditCard Services Company S.A.L. is reflected as at
December 31, 2007 and 2006 using the equity method whereby the Group
accounts for its share in the net income of the associate net of deferred
dividend tax, the change in fair value of the associate's portfolio of
available-for-sale securities, and net of dividends received. In this
connection, the Group recorded its share in the net income of the associate
in the amount of LBP 3.88 billion for the year 2007 (LBP 2.28 billion for the
year 2006) net of deferred tax liability in the amount of LBP 388 million as
at December 31, 2007 (LBP 228 million as at December 31, 2006), under
“Other operating income” (Note 37).
During the first half of the year 2006, the Group sold its investment in
“Idarat Investment S.A.L. (Holding)” of net book value of LBP 13.82 billion as
at December 31, 2005 for a consideration of USD 8,700,000 recorded under
“Other assets” and payable over a ten year period. An amount of USD
348,000 was collected up to December 31, 2007 (an amount of USD 250,000
up to December 31, 2006). Refer to Note 16.
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13. ASSETS ACQUIRED IN SATISFACTION OF LOANS
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans have been acquired through
enforcement of security over loans and advances.
The movement of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans during 2007 and
2006 was as follows:

LBP'000
Gross amount
Balance January 1, 2006

308,622,165

Additions due to settlement of loans
Additional fees/charges paid

9,724,640
27,872

Disposals

(221,028,946)

Effect of subsidiary acquisition

3,742,331

Effect of exchange rate

114,048

Balance December 31, 2006

101,202,110

Effect of subsidiary acquisition

377,716

Additions due to settlement of loans
Additional fees/charges paid

15,042,195
613,286

Disposal

(19,954,252)

Effect of exchange rate

191,565

Balance December 31, 2007

97,472,620

Impairment allowance
Balance January 1, 2006

(10,045,275)

Additions

(7,653,353)

Write-back

3,228,536

Balance December 31, 2006

(14,470,092)

Additions

(3,739,387)

Write-back

2,304,450

Effect of exchange rate changes

(1,752)

Balance December 31, 2007

(15,906,781)

Carrying amount
December 31, 2007

81,565,839

December 31, 2006

86,732,018
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During the year 2007, the Group sold assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
of aggregate net book value LBP 17.65 billion (LBP 217.8 billion in 2006) for a
total consideration of LBP 20.58 billion (LBP 222.14 billion in 2006), thus
resulting in net gain on sale in the amount of LBP 634 million recorded
under “Other operating income” and write-back of impairment provision in
the amount of LBP 2.3 billion recorded under “provision for impairment of
assets acquired in satisfaction of loans” in the accompanying consolidated
income statement (LBP 1.15 billion and LBP 3.23 billion, respectively in 2006).
The Group collected LBP 18.27 billion (LBP 76 billion in 2006) during 2007
and LBP 2.35 billion remains outstanding as at December 31, 2007 and is
recorded under “Other assets” (LBP 146 billion in 2006).
Included in the sales of the year 2006, are sales in the aggregate amount of
USD 124.95 million to affiliated companies for a total consideration of USD
125.03 million. The Group collected 25% of the selling price at the date of the
contract and the remaining balance of USD 93.77 million (LBP 141.36 billion)
was recorded under “Other assets” to be collected over three equal annual
installments starting December 30, 2007. This receivable earns interest at
an annual rate of three-months LIBOR + one basis point. No collections
were made up to the date of issuance of the financial statements.
Provision for impairment in the amount of LBP 1.42 billion for the year 2007
is reflected under “provision for impairment of assets acquired in
satisfaction of debts” in the consolidated income statement (LBP 4.42 billion
for year 2006).
The acquisition of assets in settlement of loans requires the approval of the
banking regulatory authorities and these should be liquidated within 2
years. In case of default of liquidation, a regulatory reserve should be
appropriated from the yearly net profits over a period of 5 years. However,
the intermediary circular No.41 has allowed banks to extend yearly
appropriation over a period of 20 years with respect to those assets
acquired through loans’ restructurings approved by Central Bank of
Lebanon or with respect to the entirety of those assets acquired in
settlement of loans provided that banks restructure before 2007 year end,
at least 50% of the balance of non-performing loans outstanding at June 30,
2003. This condition was satisfied by the Group during 2007.
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14. GOODWILL
The goodwill balance outstanding as of the balance sheet date consists of
the following:
December 31,
Percentage
of acquired
ownership
%

Transaction
Value
LBP’000

Net Assets
Value
LBP’000

Allocation to
assets
revaluation
LBP’000

2007
LBP’000

2006
LBP’000

Goodwill from Subsidiaries:
BankMed (Suisse) S.A.

100

86,653,140

56,240,341

-

30,412,799

30,412,799

25

76,882,500

34,160,882

10,956,160

31,765,458

31,765,458

Turkland Bank A.S.
(formerly MNG Bank A.S.)

41

125,405,579

48,542,956

-

76,862,623

-

Med Finance Holding Ltd.

100

1,356,750

740,183

-

616,568

-

Saudi Lebanese Bank S.A.L.

Cumulative effect of exchange rates
changes up to balance sheet date
Less: Accumulated amortization up
to December 31, 2003

139,657,448

62,178,257

14,658,742

11,361,955

(10,516,708)

(9,747,457)

143,799,482

63,792,755

Goodwill from Business Combination:
Allied Bank S.A.L.
Goodwill (net)

23,068,898

23,068,898

166,868,380

86,861,653

The transactions giving rise to goodwill include the purchase of 90% of
Allied Bank S.A.L. with an effective date of November 30, 2001. The Group’s
acquisition during 2003 of the remaining 10% equity stake in Allied Bank
S.A.L. resulted in an addition to goodwill of LBP 2.8 billion. In addition, and
due to a court resolution dated March 4, 2004, the Group paid an amount of
USD 2,653,657 to the previous owners of Allied Bank S.A.L. This resulted in
a further addition to goodwill in the amount of LBP 3 billion.
On May 31, 2006, the Group acquired the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary bank, Allied Business Bank S.A.L., as at that date in a business
combination approved by the Group’s General Assembly in its meeting on
May 13, 2006 in addition to the approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon
dated May 17, 2006. As a result of the business combination, the related
accumulated amortization in the amount of LBP 4.68 billion was offset
against goodwill.

126

Annual Report 08-08-2008 dergh (70-200).qxd7:Layout 1

8/12/08

11:58 AM

Page 127

Furthermore, the acquisition of 100% equity stake in BankMed (Suisse) S.A.
effective August 31, 2001 resulted in goodwill in the amount of CHF
33,868,768 as at acquisition date.
On May 11, 2006, the Group purchased the minority interest of 25% in Saudi
Lebanese Bank S.A.L. in accordance with the resolution of the General
Assembly dated November 28, 2005 for a total consideration of USD 51
million (LBP 76.88 billlion) of which USD 38.25 million were settled up to
December 2006. The remaining balance of USD 12.75 million (LBP 19.22
billion) reflected under “Notes payable” under “Other liabilities” as at
December 31, 2006 was paid in February 2007 (Note 24). The excess of the
purchase price over the net asset value of the acquired interest in the
amount of LBP 42 billion was allocated to property and equipment and
assets acquired in satisfaction of debts in the amount of LBP 7.21 billion and
LBP 3.74 billion, respectively, to recognize these assets at their fair values at
the date of acquisition. The residual unallocated excess in the amount of
LBP 31.77 billion was recognized as goodwill.
On January 28, 2007, the Group acquired an equity stake of 41% in Turkland
Bank A.S. (formerly MNG Bank A.S.) in accordance with the resolution of the
Board of Directors dated June 26, 2006 for a total consideration of USD
71,852,867 (LBP 108.32 billion). The excess of the purchase price over the net
asset value of the acquired interest in the amount of LBP 76.86 billion was
recognized as goodwill.
The remaining change in accumulated amortization is due to exchange
rate fluctuation.
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if
there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. Goodwill is
considered to be impaired when the carrying value exceeds the recoverable
amounts of the merged business which are determined from value in use
calculations. The value in use is determined as a multiple of the
contribution generated by the business units and customers’ accounts
acquired by the parent bank.
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-

128
1,175,793

-

142,533,954

December 31, 2006

22,884,237

21,623,074

(68,115,702)

(909,887)

126,628

(7,457,400)

(4,058,325)

(55,816,718)

1,309,696

11,996,484

14,751,846

(35,103,764)

(1,094,797)

1,872,731

(4,409,364)

(4,779,805)

(26,692,529)

(10,085)

1,985,325

(3,708,305)

-

(24,959,464)

49,855,610

662,305

705,776

(905,460)

(104,378)

530,490

(174,591)

(482,755)

(674,226)

-

89,665

(141,881)

-

(622,010)

1,611,236

108,389

-

(536,500)

193,536

509,280

1,336,531

-

-

-

(91,870)

366,221

-

1,062,180

301,358

-

-

(206,402)

-

19,111

-

-

(225,513)

-

-

-

75,845

(301,358)

206,402

-

-

(19,111)

-

-

225,513

-

-

-

-

-

(75,845)

-

-

(202,199)

-

-

-

-

(202,199)

-

-

-

-

(202,199)

202,199

-

-

-

-

-

202,199

-

-

-

-

-

-

202,199

Key Money
LBP’000

As discussed under Note 3(C), the Group sold during 2006 its equity stake in Al-Shua’a S.A.L., a wholly owned subsidiary, which is a real estate company
that owns property used in the operations of the Group. As a result, real estate properties decreased during 2006 by an amount of LBP 14 billion.

140,091,721

December 31, 2007

Net book value

(14,842,758)

(130,542)

Effect of exchange rate changes

Balance December 31, 2007

1,376,955

(1,505,574)

(594,160)

(13,989,437)

(7,069)

15,416
-

(7,121,891)

-

(48,687,758)

(1,532,239)

2,801,203

(15,273,817)

Write-off on disposal

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiary

Balance December 31, 2006

Effect of exchange rate changes

Write-off on disposal

Additions

Effect of sale of a subsidiary

932,367
89,738,776

368,580

(1,954,082)

5,449,875

5,992,528

38,689,013

27,831

288,595

-

(2,144,728)

3,685,606

-

36,831,709

Vehicles
LBP’000

Establishment
Costs
LBP’000

3,904,061

5,162,848

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,162,848

-

(1,797,602)

-

3,056,389

-

3,904,061

-

(562,760)

-

(3,584)

467,582

-

4,002,823

Advance
payments on
capital
expenditure
LBP’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

647,256

(3,669,982)

(649,286)

168,572

(260,908)

(2,928,360)

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,317,238

2,592,160

-

(2,120,662)

626,666

3,219,074

Other
LBP’000

(1,400,000)

(1,400,000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1,400,000)

-

-

-

-

-

(1,400,000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1,400,000)

Allowance for
impairment loss
on property &
equipment
LBP’000

180,581,041

181,582,521

(123,046,267)

(2,888,890)

4,094,487

(13,807,837)

(12,843,405)

(97,600,622)

(17,154)

2,090,406

(12,504,316)

2,877,048

(90,046,606)

304,628,788

6,118,405

-

(14,839,382)

15,700,874

19,467,228

278,181,663

56,421

-

7,213,829

(2,308,622)

7,704,953

(14,085,122)

279,600,204

Total
LBP’000

11:58 AM

Balance January 1, 2006

Accumulated depreciation

154,934,479

Effect of exchange rate changes

76,611

(416,604)

6,223,728

4,221,719

78,700,955

28,590

274,165

-

-

3,185,544

-

75,212,656

Improvements
Furniture and
and
Equipment
Installations
LBP’000
LBP’000

8/12/08

Balance December 31, 2007

1,352,411

(9,792,423)

150,680

5,524,627

Transfers

Disposals / retirements

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiary

156,523,391

-

Effect of exchange rate changes

Balance December 31, 2006

-

7,213,829

(68,440)

Transfers

Revaluation upon acquisition
of a subsidiary

Disposals / retirements

Additions

163,387,279
(14,009,277)

Effect of sale of a subsidiary

Real Estate
Properties
LBP’000

Balance January 1, 2006

Cost

15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
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16. OTHER ASSETS
December 31,
2007
Receivables on properties sold with deferred payment
Change in fair value of derivatives
Deferred tax asset
Deferred charges
Accrued income
Prepayments

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

157,281,987

146,133,538

515,755

1,221,232

2,053,749

17,943

18,631

48,104

790,477

-

10,203,466

7,859,517

Due from personnel

1,813,667

422,134

Regulatory blocked deposit

1,507,500

1,507,500

Sundry accounts receivable

2,607,722

1,403,737

Positive fair value of derivatives

6,264,944

-

Intangible asset

1,055,184

-

Other – Note 12

54,283,304

23,779,440

238,396,386

182,393,145

The receivables on properties sold with deferred payment are mainly due
from related parties and are payable over a period of 3 years with interest
to be accrued annually.
The movement of intangible asset which represents computer software
consists of the following:
Purchased Software
LBP'000
Cost
Balance January 1, 2007

-

Effect of subsidiary acquisition

4,717,206

Acquisitions

486,414

Effect of exchange rate changes

1,003,951

Balance December 31, 2007

6,207,571

Amortization
Balance January 1, 2007

-

Effect of subsidiary acquisition

(3,967,079)

Amortization for the period

(308,759)

Effect of exchange rate changes

(876,549)

Balance December 31, 2007

(5,152,387)

Carrying amount
December 31, 2007

1,055,184

The regulatory blocked deposit represents a non-interest earning
compulsory deposit placed with the Lebanese Treasury upon the inception
of banks according to Article 132 of the Lebanese Code of Money and Credit,
and is refundable in case of cease of operations.
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17. DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS
Deposits and borrowings from banks and financial institutions are
reflected at amortized cost and consist of the following:

December 31, 2007
LBP
LBP’000
Current deposits of banks and
financial institutions
Money market deposits
Money market deposits – related parties

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

953,841

16,523,266

17,477,107

88,500,000

562,846,791

651,346,791

4,500,000

15,075,000

19,575,000
30,943,090

Borrowings under sale and repurchase
agreements (Repos)

-

30,943,090

53,751

9,493,370

9,547,121

94,007,592

634,881,517

728,889,109

Accrued interest payable

December 31, 2006
LBP
LBP’000
Current deposits of banks and
financial institutions

Overnight deposits – related parties

17,785,017

-

10,353,325

10,353,325

82,092,934

-

82,092,934

19,069,988

4,000,000

-

4,000,000

-

15,470,671

15,470,671

7,275,000

363,882,650

371,157,650

-

30,150,000

30,150,000
180,900,000

Call deposits
Money market deposits

Total
LBP’000

1,284,971

Current deposits – related parties
Overnight deposits

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Money market deposits – related parties
Borrowings under sale and repurchase
agreements

-

180,900,000

59,472

11,763,767

11,823,239

94,712,377

630,305,430

725,017,807

Accrued interest payable

The maturities of money market, overnight and call deposits are as follows:
December 31, 2007

Maturity

LBP Base Accounts
Average
Amount
Interest Rate
LBP’000
%

F/Cy Base Accounts
Average
Amount
Interest Rate
LBP’000
%

1st quarter of 2008

93,000,000

201,046,791

5.55

4.53

2nd Half of 2008

-

15,075,000

5.72

Year 2009

-

361,800,000

7.41

93,000,000

577,921,791
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December 31, 2006

Maturity

LBP Base Accounts
Average
Amount
Interest Rate
LBP’000
%

1st quarter of 2007

93,367,934

4.00

F/Cy Base Accounts
Average
Amount
Interest Rate
LBP’000
%
80,868,321

6.13

2nd quarter of 2007

-

12,060,000

5.88

2nd half of 2007

-

150,750,000

6.75

Year 2008

-

165,825,000

7.17

93,367,934

409,503,321

Borrowings under sale and repurchase agreements (Repos) arose from the
following:

December 31, 2007
Gross
Amount
LBP’000
Held for trading foreign government bonds
Held-to-maturity corporate bonds

Balance of
Associated
Liability
LBP’000

Balance Subject
to Repurchase
Agreement
LBP’000

31,090,616

31,090,616

3,015,000

3,015,000

28,338,130
2,604,960

34,105,616

34,105,616

30,943,090

December 31, 2006
Gross
Amount
LBP’000
Held-to-maturity Lebanese
Government bonds

Balance Subject
to Repurchase
Agreement
LBP’000

Balance of
Associated
Liability
LBP’000

282,030,638

214,065,000

180,900,000

282,030,638

214,065,000

180,900,000

The maturities of borrowings under sale and repurchase agreements
(Repos) are as follows:

December 31, 2007

December 31, 2006

F/Cy Base Accounts

F/Cy Base Accounts

Maturity

Amount
LBP’000

1st quarter of year 2008

28,338,130

16.72

2,604,960

5.54

Year 2009

Average
Interest Rate %

30,943,090

Amount
LBP’000

Average
Interest Rate %

180,900,000
180,900,000
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Accrued interest payable is segregated between the different categories as
follows:
December 31, 2007
Non
related
LBP’000
Current deposits
Overnight Deposits
Money market deposits
Borrowings under sale
and repurchase
agreements

December 31, 2006
Related
Parties
LBP’000

Non
related
LBP’000

Related
Parties
LBP’000

1,583

-

2,318

-

-

-

27,734

1,233

9,450,132

68,908

10,622,184

531,283

26,498

-

638,487

-

9,478,213

68,908

11,290,723

532,516

18. CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS
This section consists of the following:
December 31, 2007
C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

December 31, 2006
LBP
LBP’000

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Customers' deposits
designated at FVTPL
Accrued interest Payable

153,200,828

153,200,828

3,031,875

27,263,703

2,596,199

2,596,199

120,051

796,876

916,927

155,797,027

155,797,027

3,151,926

28,060,579

31,212,505

Deposits from customers matched with an embedded derivative have been
designated at fair value through profit or loss. The underlying assets vary
from product to product. An accounting mismatch would arise if
customers’ deposits were accounted for at amortized cost, because the
related derivative is measured at fair value with movements in the fair
value taken through the income statement. By designating those deposits
from customers at fair value, the movements in the fair value of these
deposits are recorded in the income statement.
The Group has deposits where the underlying consists of baskets of
currencies hedged through an effective over-the-counter call option.
The Group also has deposits where the underlying consists of global indices
hedged through an effective over-the-counter option.
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The changes in the fair value recognized on these deposits and the related
derivative acquired for hedging is broken down as follows:

December 31, 2007
Initial
Value
LBP’000
Customers’ deposits at
fair value through
profit or loss
Related derivative contracts
(held for hedging)

Change in Fair Value
For the
year 2007
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

151,810,043

153,200,827

(5,517,273)

(5,842,844)

Net effect of profit or loss

Cumulative
2007
LBP’000

1,390,784

1,390,784

(325,571)

(325,571)

(1,065,213)

(1,065,213)

The net effect on profit or loss represents the amortization of the deferred
option premium and is recorded as a yield adjustment under “Net interest
and gains and losses on financial instruments designated at fair value
through profit or loss” (Note 36).

19. CUSTOMERS’ ACCOUNTS AT AMORTIZED COST

December 31, 2007
LBP Base Accounts
Interest
Bearing
LBP’000
Current/demand
deposits
Term deposits
Collateral against
loans & advances
Margins for irrevocable
import letters of credit
Margins on letters
of guarantee
Other margins
Accrued interest
payable

Non-Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

F/Cy Base Accounts
Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Non-Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Total
Cutomers’
Accounts
LBP’000

505,288,125

604,662,339

37,563,356

61,810,858

99,374,214

50,792,241

454,495,884

959,266,705

-

959,266,705

5,365,951,816

-

10,966,135

-

10,966,135

593,702,013

-

593,702,013

604,668,148

-

-

-

5,152,220

1,781,540

6,933,760

6,933,760

2,068,346

485,527

2,553,873

5,427,545

2,226,462

7,654,007

10,207,880

26,386

98,722

125,108

3,632,207

26,589,096

30,221,303

30,346,411

79,693,465

87,837,009

8,143,544

-

8,143,544

79,693,465

-

1,018,034,472

62,395,107

1,080,429,579

6,104,351,507

485,092,982
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December 31, 2006
LBP Base Accounts
Interest
Bearing
LBP’000
Current/demand
deposits
Term deposits
Collateral against
loans & advances

Other margins
Accrued interest
payable

Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Non-Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Total
Cutomers’
Accounts
LBP’000

88,039,577

4,179,086

92,218,663

276,211,022

80,124,309

356,335,331

448,553,994

964,994,445

-

964,994,445

3,806,428,242

-

3,806,428,242

4,771,422,687

10,583,204

-

10,583,204

583,815,130

-

583,815,130

594,398,334

-

-

-

6,063,522

1,993,170

8,056,692

8,056,692

2,209,089

2,015,566

4,224,655

6,276,336

1,748,453

8,024,789

12,249,444

40,556

409,701

450,257

6,954,401

3,225,472

10,179,873

10,630,130

9,400,754

36,046,073

-

36,046,073

45,446,827

1,081,871,978 4,721,794,726

87,091,404

Margins for irrevocable
import letters of credit
Margins on letters
of guarantee

Non-Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

F/Cy Base Accounts

9,400,754

-

1,075,267,625

6,604,353

4,808,886,130 5,890,758,108

Deposits from customers at amortized cost are allocated by brackets of
deposits as follows:
December 31, 2007
Total
Deposits
LBP’000

% to Total
Deposits
%

No. of
customers

Total
Deposits
LBP’000

% to Total
Deposits
%

No. of
customers

Less than LBP 50 million

234,859,536

21.74

40,136

294,498,797

4.47

42,990

From LBP 50 million to LBP 100 million

145,282,319

13.45

3,305

277,880,662

4.22

4,635

From LBP 100 million to LBP 200 million

174,183,314

16.12

2,326

417,650,619

6.34

3,570

From LBP 200 million to LBP 500 million

181,068,879

16.75

1,519

727,427,189

11.04

2,744
1,314

From LBP 500 million to LBP 1.5 billion

137,942,664

12.77

659

958,070,511

14.54

Over LBP 1.5 billion

207,092,867

19.17

221

3,913,916,711

59.39

534

1,080,429,579

100.00

48,166 6,589,444,489

100.00

55,787

December 31, 2006
Total
Deposits
LBP’000

% to Total
Deposits
%

No. of
customers

Total
Deposits
LBP’000

% to Total
Deposits
%

No. of
customers

Less than LBP 50 million

274,670,349

25.39

39,603

292,507,164

6.08

36,702

From LBP 50 million to LBP 100 million

166,717,139

15.41

2,269

270,933,326

5.64

4,376

From LBP 100 million to LBP 200 million

179,676,504

16.61

1,298

395,002,398

8.21

2,391

From LBP 200 million to LBP 500 million

165,156,586

15.27

544

649,705,959

13.51

1,835
878

From LBP 500 million to LBP 1.5 billion

110,726,691

10.23

137

831,540,703

17.29

Over LBP 1.5 billion

184,924,709

17.09

34

2,369,196,580

49.27

420

1,081,871,978

100.00

43,885

4,808,886,130

100.00

46,602
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Deposits from customers at amortized cost include at December 31, 2007
coded deposit accounts in the aggregate of LBP 26.09 billion (LBP 36.1 billion
in 2006). These accounts are subject to the provisions of Article 3 of the
Banking Secrecy Law dated September 3, 1956 which provides that the
Bank’s management, in the normal course of business, cannot reveal the
identities of these depositors to third parties, including its independent
public accountants.
Deposits from customers at amortized cost include at December 31, 2007
fiduciary deposits received from non-resident banks and financial
institution for a total amount of LBP 245.38 million (LBP 133.38 billion in
2006) out of which LBP 70.47 billion from a related company and a
subsidiary bank (LBP 72 billion in 2006).

The average balance of deposits at amortized cost and related cost of funds
over the last 2 years were as follows:

LBP Base Accounts
Year

Average Balance
of Deposits
LBP’000

F/Cy Base Accounts

Average
Interest
Rate
%

Average
Balance of
Deposits
LBP’000

Average
Interest
Rate
%

Cost of
Funds
LBP’000

2007

1,063,778,063

7.30

6,142,531,475

5.68

427,190,391

2006

1,209,646,486

7.10

4,917,169,615

4.98

330,451,904
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20. RELATED PARTIES’ ACCOUNTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS
This section consists of the following:

December 31, 2007
C/V of F/Cy LBP’000
Related parties' deposits designated at FVTPL

3,009,435

Accrued interest Payable

198,247
3,207,682

The changes in the fair value recognized on these deposits and the related
derivative acquired for hedging is broken down as follows:

December 31, 2007
Initial Value
LBP’000

Change in Fair Value
For the
year 2007
LBP’000

Fair Value
LBP’000

Related parties’ deposits at fair
value through profit or loss

3,005,829

3,009,435

Related derivative contracts
(held for hedging)

431,145

422,100

Cumulative
2007
LBP’000

3,606

Net effect of profit or loss

3,606

(9,045)

(9,045)

(5,439)

(5,439)

21. RELATED PARTIES’ ACCOUNTS AT AMORTIZED COST
December 31, 2007
LBP Base Accounts
Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

Non-Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

F/Cy Base Accounts
Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Non-Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Total Related
Parties’
Accounts
LBP’000

Current and demand
deposits

3,681,496

754,393

4,435,889

34,289,521

4,002,654

38,292,175

42,728,064

Term deposits

2,105,775

-

2,105,775

1,981,157,570

-

1,981,157,570

1,983,263,345

11,165,231

-

11,165,231

665,121,900

-

665,121,900

676,287,131

220,025

-

220,025

2,346

7,538

9,884

229,909

-

-

-

-

5,223

5,223

5,223

Collateral against
loans and advances
Margins on letters
of guarantee
Other margins
Accrued interest
payable

54,725

-

54,725

6,932,066

-

6,932,066

6,986,791

17,227,252

754,393

17,981,645

2,687,503,403

4,015,415

2,691,518,818

2,709,500,463
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December 31, 2006
LBP Base Accounts
Interest
Bearing
LBP’000
Current and demand
deposits
Term deposits
Collateral against loans
and advances

Non-Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

F/Cy Base Accounts
Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Non-Interest
Bearing
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Total Related
Parties’
Accounts
LBP’000

729,656

-

729,656

327,655,956

-

327,655,956

328,385,612

23,188

-

23,188

685,509,832

-

685,509,832

685,533,020

14,897,432

-

14,897,432

168,952,313

-

168,952,313

183,849,745

Margins for letters
of credit

-

-

-

63,034

25,065

88,099

88,099

Margins on letters
of guarantee

219,557

-

219,557

-

9,799

9,799

229,356

-

50,000

50,000

-

8,593

8,593

58,593

Other margins
Accrued interest
payable

59,885

-

59,885

6,427,806

-

6,427,806

6,487,691

15,929,718

50,000

15,979,718

1,188,608,941

43,457

1,188,652,398

1,204,632,116

Deposits from related parties at amortized cost are allocated by brackets of
deposits as follows:

December 31, 2007
LBP Base Accounts
Total
Deposits
LBP’000
Less than LBP 50 million

F/Cy Base Accounts
Total
Deposits
LBP’000

% to Total
Deposits %

% to Total
Deposits %

122,040

0.68

152,051

0.01

to LBP 100 million

151,793

0.84

81,514

0.01

From LBP 100 million
to LBP 200 million

347,617

1.93

544,181

0.02

From LBP 200 million
to LBP 500 million

-

-

1,368,530

0.05

From LBP 500 million
to LBP 1.5 billion

1,964,684

10.93

6,248,811

0.23

From LBP 50 million

From LBP 1.5 billion
to LBP 5 billion
Over LBP 5 billion

4,759,178

26.47

28,546,794

1.06

10,636,333

59.15

2,654,576,937

98.62

17,981,645

100.00

2,691,518,818

100.00
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December 31, 2006
XX. R E L A T E D
LBP
Base
Accounts
F/CyPROFIT
Base Accounts
PARTIES’ ACCOUNTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OR LOSS
Total
Deposits
LBP’000
Less than LBP 50 million

Total
Deposits
LBP’000

% to Total
Deposits %

% to Total
Deposits %

560,820

3.5

93,169

0.008

From LBP 50 million
to LBP 100 million

267,340

1.7

322,667

0.027

From LBP 100 million
to LBP 200 million

360,196

2.3

561,952

0.047

From LBP 200 million
to LBP 500 million

495,955

3.1

2,253,046

0.190

From LBP 500 million
to LBP 1.5 billion

2,952,182

18.5

7,087,854

0.596

From LBP 1.5 billion
to LBP 5 billion

1,925,157

12.0

13,323,535

1.121

Over LBP 5 billion

9,418,068

58.9

1,165,010,175

98.011

15,979,718

100.00

1,188,652,398

100.00

The average balance of deposits at amortized cost and related cost of funds
over the last 2 years were as follows:

LBP Base Accounts

Year

Average Balance
of Deposits LBP’000

F/Cy Base Accounts

Average
Interest
Rate %

Average
Balance of
Deposits
LBP’000

Average
Interest
Rate
%

Cost of Funds
LBP’000

2007

33,934,180

7.00

1,528,005,608

5.75

89,721,959

2006

30,245,646

7.20

745,533,789

6.02

45,873,779

22. OTHER BORROWINGS
Long term borrowings are reflected at amortized cost and consist of the
following:
December 31,

Borrowings from a non-resident investment bank

2007

2006

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

6,777,893

7,629,355

Short term borrowings

184,012,543

-

Long term borrowings

218,587,500

-

7,974,132

64,679

417,352,068

7,694,034

Accrued interest payable
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“Long term borrowings” includes as at December 31, 2007, LBP 143.2 billion
granted to the Group against the pledge of held-to-maturity Lebanese
Government bonds in the amount of LBP 291.2 billion (Refer to Note 10).
The remaining contractual maturities of the above borrowings are as
follows:

December 31,

Maturity
Less than 1 year

2007
F/Cy Base Accounts
Average
Amount
Interest Rate
LBP’000
%

2006
F/Cy Base Accounts
Average
Amount
Interest Rate
LBP’000
%

187,063,436

5.85

-

1 to 3 years

12,203,571

7.30

-

3 to 5 years

49,131,464

6.96

-

5 to 10 years

102,994,554

7.31

7,629,355

57,984,911

7.22

-

Beyond 10 years

409,377,936

4.92

7,629,355

The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches
with respect to its borrowings during 2007 and 2006.

23. CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT
Certificates of deposit consist of the following as at December 31, 2007
and 2006:

December 31,

Global certificates of deposit

2007

2006

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

C/V of F/Cy
LBP’000

708,525,000

934,650,000

Discount on issuance of global certificates of deposit

(3,477,742)

(4,440,740)

Accrued interest payable

10,562,384

16,333,095

715,609,642

946,542,355

Certificates of deposit are reflected at amortized cost.
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A. GLOBAL CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT
During 1996, the Group set up a USD 500 million Euro Deposit Program to
be issued in series through international financial institutions. Eleven
series had been issued under this program up to December 2005, of which
the first eight series were redeemed. During 2006, the Group redeemed
series Nº. 9 in the amount of USD 100 million at its maturity on October 6,
2006. During 2007, the Group redeemed series Nº. 10 in the amount of USD
100 million at its maturity on August 6, 2007.
During 2005, the Group augmented the above mentioned program by USD
500,000,000 to become USD 1 billion to be issued in series through
international financial institutions. In this respect, the Group issued series
No.12 in the amount of USD 300 million representing the first series of the
above mentioned program after its increase.
The outstanding series are summarized as follows:
Series 11

Series 12

Nominal amount of certificates

USD 170,000,000

USD 300,000,000

Issue price

USD 168,218,400

USD 298,005,000

Issue date

July 19, 2005

December 15, 2005

Maturity

July 19, 2010

December 14, 2012

Fixed rate of interest
Interest payment date

7.625%

7.625%

July & January 19

December & June 15

B. LOCAL CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT
The balance of local certificates of deposit in the amount of USD 2.3 million
as at December 31, 2005 bearing interest of 4.5% per annum was redeemed
upon maturity during the year 2006.
Certificates of deposit mature as follows with related average coupon rate:
December 31,

Maturity

2007
F/Cy Base Accounts
Average
Amount
Interest Rate
LBP’000
%

2007

-

2010

256,275,000

7.625

452,250,000

7.625

2012

708,525,000

2006
F/Cy Base Accounts
Average
Amount
Interest Rate
LBP’000
%
226,125,000

6.250

256,275,000

7.625

452,250,000

7.625

934,650,000

The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches
with respect to its certificates of deposit during 2007 and 2006.
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24. OTHER LIABILITIES
December 31,
2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

Accrued income tax and other

6,127,240

3,495,812

Withheld taxes on staff benefits and payments
to non-residents

2,280,804

1,098,847

Withheld tax on interest

2,770,069

3,601,756

51,079,747

24,932,568

1,663,460

1,221,250

22,576,395

1,912,757

Deferred tax liability
Due to the Social Security National Fund
Checks and incoming payment orders in course
of settlement
Blocked capital subscriptions for companies
under incorporation

15,512,218

41,071

Accrued expenses

19,443,712

7,609,518

513,437

-

Financial guarantee contracts issued

Derivative liabilities held for risk management

1,190,180

1,038,207

Negative fair value of derivatives

3,294,963

-

Payable to personnel and directors
Unearned revenues
Sundry accounts payable

694,662

-

5,699,076

3,385,098

46,588,884

38,976,624

Notes payable – Note 14

-

19,984,043

179,434,847

107,297,551

During 2007, the tax authorities reviewed the tax returns for the years
2003, 2004 and 2005 of BankMed S.A.L. and its subsidiary Saudi Lebanese
Bank S.A.L. which resulted in additional taxes in the aggregate amount of
LBP 1.54 billion reflected in the income statement. The tax returns for the
years 2006 and 2007 of the Group entities remain subject to examination
and final tax assessment by the tax authorities. Management does not
expect any material additional tax liability as a result of the expected
tax review.
Deferred tax liability consists of the following:

December 31,

Deferred tax liability on available-for-sale securities
Deferred tax liability on undistributed income of subsidiaries
Deferred tax liability on income from associates
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2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

44,139,902

24,410,892

6,030,000

-

909,845

521,676

51,079,747

24,932,568
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25. PROVISIONS
Provisions consist of the following:
December 31,

Provision for staff end of service indemnity
Provision for contingencies

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

13,394,324

12,346,192

7,273,668

5,948,305

Provision for loss on foreign currency position

412,227

132,930

Other

465,824

-

21,546,043

18,427,427

The movement of provision for staff end-of-service indemnity is as follows:
December 31,

Balance January 1

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

12,346,192

9,636,461

Acquisition of subsidiary

1,106,623

-

Additions

640,630

3,341,746

Settlements

(930,797)

(632,015)

Write-back

(42,628)

-

Effect of exchange rate charges

274,304

-

13,394,324

12,346,192

Balance December 31

The movement of the provision for contingencies was as follows:
December 31,
2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

Balance January 1

5,948,305

Acquisition of subsidiary

1,112,989

-

Additions

1,716,503

3,800,000

Settlements

3,383,911

(1,743,432)

(1,235,606)

Write-back

(16,380)

-

Effect of exchange rate charges

255,683

-

7,273,668

5,948,305

Balance December 31
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28. CUMULATIVE CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
SECURITIES
This caption consists of the following:
December 31, 2007

December 31, 2006

Cumulative
Change in
Fair Value
LBP’000

Deferred Tax
LBP’000

9,870,708

(1,480,607)

8,390,101

(431,942)

64,792

(367,150)

(106,134,544)

14,783,839

(91,350,705)

(91,007,581)

13,651,137

(77,356,444)

(18,365,779)

2,754,867

(15,610,912)

(8,512,421)

1,276,863

(7,235,558)

Unrealized gain/(loss)
on corporate bonds

1,261,928

56,622

1,318,550

-

-

Unrealized gain/(loss)
on equity securities

403,183,679

(60,077,719)

343,105,960

264,375,687

(39,226,780)

5,513,993

-

5,513,993

6,644,611

-

6,644,611

295,329,985

(43,962,998)

251,366,987

171,068,354

(24,233,988)

146,834,366

Unrealized gain/(loss) on
Lebanese treasury bills
Unrealized gain/(loss) on
Lebanese Government Bonds
Unrealized gain/(loss) on certificates of
deposit issued by BDL

Unrealized gain/(loss) from associates

Cumulative
Change in Fair
Value
LBP’000

Net
LBP’000

Deferred Tax
LBP’000

As a result of the acquisition in 2006 of the 25% minority equity stake in
Saudi Lebanese Bank S.A.L., a consolidated subsidiary, cumulative change in
fair value equivalent to the minority’s share as at the purchase date is
eliminated from the consolidated cumulative change in fair value of
available-for-sale securities.

29. MINORITY INTEREST

December 31,
2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

Capital

139,927,990

680,000

Reserves and retained earnings

(69,044,683)

272,396

Currency translation adjustment

11,617,176

-

(538,623)

76,416

81,961,860

1,028,812

(Loss)/profit for the year
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LBP’000

225,148,907
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30. INCOME FOR THE YEAR
The consolidated income is allocated as follows between the Bank and its
subsidiaries:
December 31, 2007
Bank’s Share Minority Share
LBP’000
LBP’000
Income of the Bank

26,478,111

Net results of foreign branches,
subsidiaries and associates

-

December 31, 2006
Total
LBP’000

Minority
Share
LBP’000

Bank’s Share
LBP’000

26,478,111

(19,138,380)

Total
LBP’000
-

(19,138,380)

34,706,522

(538,623)

34,167,899

23,917,083

76,416

23,993,499

61,184,633

(538,623)

60,646,010

4,778,703

76,416

4,855,119

31. INTEREST INCOME
Year Ended December 31,
2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

Deposits with the central banks

67,487,020

48,741,105

Deposits with banks and financial institutions

61,137,415

34,825,771

9,272,360

1,971,200

24,324,946

-

Available-for-sale investment securities

225,198,412

211,824,763

Held to maturity investment securities

141,040,387

127,108,119

Loans and advances to customers

209,765,031

125,654,908

43,989,222

31,737,797

10,229,027

-

Deposits with related party banks and financial institutions
Notes receivable - Note 10

Loans and advances to related parties
Receivable from properties sold with deferred
payment Note 16
Interest recognized on impaired loans and advances
to customers

3,227,743

16,956,067

795,671,563

598,819,730

Interest income realized on impaired loans and advances to customers
represent recoveries of interest. Accrued interest on impaired loans and
advances is not recognized until recovery or a rescheduling agreement is
signed with customers.
Interest income on trading portfolio is included under “Net interest and
gains and losses on trading portfolio” (Note 35).
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32. INTEREST EXPENSE

Year ended December 31,

Deposits and borrowings from banks and
financial institutions
Deposits and borrowings from related party banks and
financial institutions
Securities lent and repurchase agreements
Customers’ accounts at amortized cost
Related parties’ accounts at amortized cost
Other borrowings
Certificates of deposit

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

43,579,402

36,072,143

2,909,841

-

12,082,385

638,487

427,190,391

330,451,904

89,721,959

45,873,779

9,298,248

37,449

63,734,070

77,616,680

648,516,296

490,690,442

Interest expense on customers’ and related parties’ accounts designated at
fair value through profit or loss is included under “Net interest and gains
and losses on financial instruments designated at fair value through profit
or loss” (Note 36).

33. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
This caption consists of the following:

Year ended December 31,

Commission on documentary credits

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

3,256,340

Commission on acceptances
Commission on letters of guarantee
Service fees on customers’ transactions
Brokerage fees
Commission on transactions with banks

1,951,347

902,293

693,810

6,773,723

3,431,524

18,529,009

11,065,946

4,063,662

2,873,892

712,590

-

Asset management fees

6,329,454

1,308,442

Commissions on fiduciary activities

3,336,854

4,056,103

Other

1,573,356

1,502,687

45,477,281

26,883,751

34. FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE
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This caption consists of the following:

Year ended December 31,

Commission on transactions with banks and
financial institutions
Safe custody charges
Other

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

1,548,454

708,674

411,540

315,066

3,075,754

1,232,288

5,035,748

2,256,028

35. NET INTEREST AND GAINS AND LOSSES ON TRADING PORTFOLIO
This caption consists of the following:

Year ended December 31,

Interest income on Lebanese and other Government
bonds held for trading
Interest income on certificates of deposit in
foreign currencies

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

13,434,219

98,006

-

42,969

128,408

40,497

10,639,208

(481,722)

Gain on sale of trading assets

520,445

241,622

Loss on sale of trading assets

(101,939)

-

24,620,341

(58,628)

Dividends received on trading securities
Change in fair value of trading portfolio (net)
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36. NET INTEREST AND GAINS AND LOSSES ON FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

This caption consists of the following:

December 31,

Interest expense on customers’ accounts at fair
value through profit or loss
Fee income on customers’ accounts at fair value
through profit or loss

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

(5,254,181)

(916,926)

788,338

488,194

(198,247)

-

Interest expense on related parties' accounts at fair
value through profit or loss
Fee expense on related parties’ accounts at fair value
through profit or loss

(248)

-

(4,664,338)

(428,732)

37. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
This caption consists of the following:

December 31,
2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

Gain on sale of available-for-sale securities:
Equities
Lebanese and Turkish Government bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by Central Bank

4,980,384

12,488,462

922,044

1,362,419

56,320

840,485

Gain on sale of an associate – Note 12

11,314,651

-

Income from equity investment securities – Note 10

27,613,882

17,282,977

Income from associates at equity method – Note 12

3,493,520

2,051,181

Rent revenues

1,504,262

-

(78,436)

43,979

31,052,850

17,365,512

474,484

450,288

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property and equipment
Foreign exchange gain
Income earned on derivatives
Gain on sale of assets acquired in satisfaction
of loans – Note 13
Other
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1,115,719

4,004,733

2,842,955

85,972,896

55,843,977
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISKS
The guarantees and standby letters of credit and the documentary and
commercial letters of credit represent financial instruments with
contractual amounts representing credit risk. The guarantees and standby
letters of credit represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make
payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third
parties and are not different from loans and advances on the balance sheet.
However, documentary and commercial letters of credit, which represent
written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorizing a
third party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under
specific terms and conditions, are collateralized by the underlying
shipments documents of goods to which they relate and, therefore, have
significantly less risks.
Forward exchange contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2006
represent positions held for customers' accounts and at their risk. The
Group entered into such instruments to serve the needs of customers, and
these contracts are fully hedged by the Group. The forward exchange
contracts outstanding as at December 31, 2007 include a forward
transaction for the purchase of USD 75.61 million versus CHF 87.10 million
(USD 80.08 million versus CHF 96.5 million as at December 31, 2006). This
transaction was effected to hedge an investment referred to in Note 14.

39. FIDUCIARY ACCOUNTS
Fiduciary accounts consist of the following:
December 31, 2007
Resident
LBP’000

Non-Resident
LBP’000

Fiduciary deposits invested in deposits
with other non-resident banks

-

843,377,005

843,377,005

Fiduciary deposits invested in portfolio
securities (non-resident)

-

688,032,044

688,032,044

Fiduciary deposits invested in back to
back lending

Total
LBP’000

402,119,079

24,981,676

427,100,755

402,119,079

1,556,390,725

1,958,509,804
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December 31, 2006
Customers’ Base Accounts
Resident
LBP’000

Non-Resident
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

Fiduciary deposits invested in deposits
with non-resident banks

-

1,010,781,830

1,010,781,830

Fiduciary deposits invested in portfolio
securities (non-resident)

-

585,448,783

585,448,783

Fiduciary deposits invested in
back-to-back lending

58,055,081

29,179,842

87,234,923

58,055,081

1,625,410,455

1,683,465,536

December 31, 2007
Resident
LBP’000
Discretionary
Non-Discretionary

Non-Resident
LBP’000

December 31, 2006
Resident
LBP’000

Non-Resident
LBP’000

-

20,186,204

-

10,583,170

402,119,079

1,536,204,521

58,055,081

1,614,827,285

402,119,079

1,556,390,725

58,055,081

1,625,410,455

40. BALANCES / TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
In the ordinary course of its activities, the Bank conducts transactions with
related parties including shareholders, directors, subsidiaries and
associates. Balances with related parties consist of the following:

Year End Balance
2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

Shareholders, directors and other key management
personnel and close family members
Direct facilities and credit balances
Secured loans and advances

157,358,472

Unsecured loans and advances
Deposits

124,191,493

-

291

2,295,596,877

2,448,199

92,800,802

258,213,865

Associated companies:
Direct facilities and credit balances
Secured loans and advances
Unsecured loans and advances

143,500,552

69,731,577

Deposits

409,926,229

1,195,696,226
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Interest rates charged on balances outstanding are the same rates that
would be charged in an arm’s transaction.
The financial statements include balances with banks and related parties
that are reflected under deposits with banks and financial institutions,
loans and advances to related parties, deposits from related parties, other
assets, other liabilities and off balance sheet accounts. Refer to the balance
sheet and notes thereto.
Related party transactions not disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the
consolidated financial information are as follows:
• General operating expenses include approximately LBP 32.59 billion for
the year ended December 31, 2007 (LBP 17.95 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2006) representing charges transacted with affiliated
companies for services rendered to the Group.
• Acceptances payable include acceptances payable to a related bank in the
amount of LBP 162.16 million as at December 31, 2007 (LBP 713 million as at
December 31, 2006).
• Acceptances receivable include acceptances receivables from related
parties in the amount of LBP 20.76 billion as at December 31, 2007 (LBP
11.94 billion as at December 31, 2006).
• Guarantees, and standby letters of credit include guarantees issued on
behalf of related parties in favor of third parties in the amount of LBP
90.07 billion as at December 31, 2007 (LBP 79.88 billion as at December 31,
2006).
• Guarantees, and standby letters of credit include guarantees issued to the
benefit of related parties on behalf of third parties in the amount of LBP
7.67 billion as at December 31, 2007 (LBP 69.42 billion as at December 31,
2006).
• Documentary and commercial letters of credit include letters of credit
issued on behalf of related parties in favor of third parties in the amount
of LBP 62.86 billion as at December 31, 2007 (LBP 17.45 billion as at
December 31, 2006).
• Documentary and commercial letters of credit include letters of credit
issued to the benefit of related parties on behalf of third parties in the
amount of LBP 1.1 billion as at December 31, 2007 (LBP 480 million as at
December 31, 2006).
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• Forward contracts include currencies to be received from a related party
in the amount of LBP 332.5 million as at December 31, 2007 (none in 2006)
and currencies to be delivered to the same related party in the amount of
LBP 331.9 million as at December 31, 2007 (none in 2006).
• Other liabilities includes an amount of LBP 6 billion due to related parties
(none in 2006) representing accrued charges for services received.
On December 24, 2004, the Group signed a contract with Allemby 171 Real
Estate Co. S.A.L., a company owned by the previous Chairman and General
Manager of the Group, whereby it renounced its right to own 2,400 shares in
part 6 of plot # 171 in Marfaa district for a total consideration of USD 3,400,000
paid upon the registration of the plot in the name of the Company. In addition,
it was agreed that the Group renounces its leasing rights in the building
erected on the plot mentioned above and evacuate the leased property and
deliver it to the Company against receiving USD 800,000 representing cost of
decorations incurred by the Group and USD 800,000 representing key money.
Moreover, it was agreed that the Company pays the total consideration due to
the Group that resulted from the above mentioned agreement in the amount
of USD 5,000,000 plus interest at the rate of 5% per annum in annual
installments due on December 31 of each year starting December 31, 2005 and
ending December 31, 2009, provided that the Company provides the Group
with a first degree real estate mortgage on the above mentioned plot. During
the second half of 2007, the outstanding balance was fully settled.

41. ACQUISITIONS
On January 28, 2007, the Group acquired 41% of the share capital of
Turkland Bank A.S. (formerly MNG Bank A.S.). At acquisition date the
details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill
arising are as follows:
LBP'000
Cash and cash equivalents

21,661,375

Securities

94,119,188

Loans and advances to customers

312,193,945

Investments

14,286,365

Other assets

3,597,851

Property and equipment

7,749,544

Customer’s deposits

(367,589,816)

Other liabilities

(6,838,145)

Provision for losses and contingencies

(2,459,398)

Fair value of net assets of subsidiary bank
Less: Minority interest in net assets

76,720,909
(45,265,336)

Fair value of the Group’s equity stake

31,455,573

Goodwill

76,862,624

Total purchase price

108,318,197

Less: Net cash of subsidiary bank at acquisition

(21,661,375)

Net cash flow on acquisition of investment
in subsidiary bank
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42. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement
consist of the following:

December 31,
2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

Cash

51,320,789

39,123,005

Checks for collection

33,988,702

24,271,923

Current accounts with central banks

10,892,004

11,695,797

Time deposits with central banks

569,839,861

644,456,250

Current accounts with banks and financial institutions

209,559,172

20,799,663

2,554,966,230

838,256,834

Time deposits with banks and financial institutions
Demand deposits from banks
Time deposits from banks

(17,477,106)

(29,371,761)

(152,037,420)

(126,710,106)

3,261,052,232 1,422,521,605

Time deposits with and from Central Banks and banks and financial
institutions represent inter-bank placements and borrowings with an
original term of 90 day or less.
The following operating, investing and financing activities, which
represent non-cash items were excluded from the consolidated cash flow
statement as follows:
(a) Net increase in change in fair value of available-for-sale securities and
deferred liability in the amounts of LBP 124.9 billion and LBP 19.73 billion,
respectively, against investment securities for the year ended December
31, 2007 (Net decrease of LBP 135.32 billion and LBP 23.78 billion,
respectively, against investment securities for the year ended December
31, 2006).
(b) Assets acquired in satisfaction of debts in the amount of LBP 15.04
billion against loans and advances to customers for the year ended
December 31, 2007 (LBP 9.7 billion for the year ended December 31, 2006).
(c) Increase in deferred liability on income from associates and decrease in
change in fair value on available-for-sale securities in the amount of LBP
258.98 million and LBP 388.17 million, respectively, against investments
in associates and investments held for sale for the year ended December
31, 2007 (Increase of LBP 228 million and LBP 60 million, respectively, for
the year ended December 31, 2006).
(d) Increase in deferred liability on undistributed income from subsidiaries
against income for the year in the amount LBP 6 billion for the year
ended December 31, 2007.
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(e) Increase in notes payable in the amount of LBP 19.22 billion against
goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2006.
(f) Increase in other assets in the amount of LBP 141.36 billion against a
decrease in assets acquired in satisfaction of debts for the year ended
December 31, 2006.
(g) Increase in other assets in the amount of LBP 14.32 billion against a
decrease in investments in associates and investments held for sale for
the year ended December 31, 2006.
(h) Decrease in property and equipment and prepaid expenses and
increase in accounts payable and other liabilities in the amount of LBP
11.21 billion, LBP 1.3 million and LBP 743 million against a decrease in
related parties’ deposits in the amount of LBP 10.47 billion for the year
ended December 31, 2006.

43. COLLATERAL GIVEN
The carrying values of financial assets given as collateral are as follows at
December 31, 2007:

Corresponding Facilities
Pledged
Amount
LBP’000

Held to maturity corporate bonds

Amount of
Facility LBP’000

Nature of Facility

Amount of
Facility LBP’000

3,015,000

Borrowing under
sale and repurchase
agreements

2,604,960

-

-

88,605,876

Borrowing under
sale and repurchase
agreements

28,338,130

Transaction
guarantee

57,515,260

291,188,700

Long term
borrowing

143,212,500

-

-

301,500

Letter of guarantee

904,500

-

-

Held for trading foreign
government bonds

Held to maturity
Lebanese government bonds
Pledged deposits with banks &
financial institutions

Nature of Facility
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The carrying values of financial assets given as collateral are as follows at
December 31, 2006:

Corresponding Facilities
Pledged
Amount
LBP’000

Held to maturity corporate bonds

Pledged deposits with banks &
financial institutions

Nature of Facility

Amount of
Facility LBP’000

214,065,000

Borrowing under
sale and repurchase
agreements

180,900,000

749,502

Letter of credit

224,985

Over and above, the Group had contractual right of setoff arrangements
with correspondent banks, details of which are disclosed under Note 6.

44. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to comply with the
capital requirements set by Central Bank of Lebanon, the Group’s main
regulator, to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain a strong capital base.
Risk weighted assets and capital are monitored periodically to assess the
quantum of capital available to support growth and optimally deploy
capital to achieve targeted returns.
The Central Bank of Lebanon requires each bank or banking group to hold
a minimum level of regulatory capital of LBP 10 billion for the head office
and LBP 250 million for each local branch and LBP 750 million for each
branch abroad. In addition, the bank is required to observe the minimum
capital adequacy ratio set by the regulator which is 12% (Basle Ratio).
The Group monitors the adequacy of its capital using the methodology and
ratios established by Central Bank of Lebanon. These ratios measure capital
adequacy by comparing the Group’s eligible capital with its balance sheet
assets, commitments and contingencies, and notional amount of
derivatives at a weighted amount to reflect their relative risk.
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The Group’s capital is split as follows:
Tier I capital: Comprises share capital after deduction of treasury shares,
shareholders’ cash contribution to capital, non-cumulative perpetual
preferred shares, share premium, reserves from appropriation of profits
and retained earnings. Goodwill and cumulative unfavorable change in
fair value of available-for-sale securities are deducted from Tier I Capital.
Tier II capital: Comprises qualifying subordinated liabilities, collective
impairment allowance, cumulative favorable change in fair value of
available-for-sale securities and revaluation surplus of owned properties.
Investments in associates are deducted from Tier I and Tier II capital.
Also, various limits are applied to the elements of capital base: Qualifying
Tier II capital cannot exceed Tier I capital and qualifying short term
subordinated loan capital may not exceed 50% of Tier I capital.
The Group has complied with the regulatory capital requirement
throughout the period.
The Group’s consolidated risk based capital ratio as at December 31, 2007
and 2006 amounted to 16.6% and 21.1% respectively, and is determined as
follows:

Tier I and Tier II capital are composed of the

Consolidated assets and off-balance sheet weighted risk
Tier I and Tier II capital (including income for the year)
Risk based capital ratio
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December 31,
2007

2006

LBP Millions

LBP Millions

4,820,131

3,381,935

800,888

713,804

16.6%

21.1%
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following:

Balances December 31,
2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

Share capital

530,000,000

530,000,000

Legal reserves

25,212,282

23,458,080

Reserve for general banking risks

41,168,527

40,271,533

Attributable to Equity holders of the Group

Retained earnings
Minority Interest
Less: Goodwill
Total Tier I capital

109,862,157

107,734,650

706,242,966

701,464,263

70,883,307

952,396

(166,868,380)

(86,861,653)

610,257,893

615,555,006

Balances December 31,
TIER II:

2007

2006

LBP'000

LBP'000

Attributable to Equity holders of the Group
Property revaluation surplus

3,213,000

3,213,000

Cumulative translation adjustment

7,976,435

-

125,683,494

146,834,366

Cumulative change in fair value of
available-for-sale securities
Profit for the year

61,184,633

4,778,703

198,057,562

154,826,069

Minority interest

11,078,553

76,416

Total Tier II capital

209,136,115

154,902,485

Less: Ineligible investments

(18,506,000)

(56,653,491)

Total Tier I and Tier II capital

800,888,008

713,804,000
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities are principally related to the use of financial
instruments including derivatives. It accepts deposits from customers at
both fixed and floating rates and for various periods and seeks to earn
interest margins by investing these funds in high quality assets. It also
seeks to increase these margins by consolidating short-term funds and
lending for longer periods at higher rates while maintaining sufficient
liquidity to meet all claims that may fall due.
The Group also seeks to raise interest margins through lending to
commercial and retail borrowers with a range of credit standing. Such
exposures include guarantees and other commitments such as letters of
credit and performance and other bonds.
With the exception of specific hedging arrangements, foreign exchange
and interest rate exposures associated with derivatives are normally offset
by entering into counter balancing positions, thereby controlling the
variability in the net cash amounts required to liquidate market positions.
Risk management is a systematic process of identifying and assessing the
Group risks and taking actions to protect the Group against these risks.
The use of financial instruments also brings with it associated inherent
risks. The Group recognizes the relationship between returns and risks
associated with the use of financial instruments and the management of
risks forms an integral part of the Group’s strategic objectives.
The strategy of the Group is to maintain a strong risk management culture
and manage the risk/reward relationship within and across each of the
Group’s major risk-based lines of business. The Group continuously reviews
its risk management policies and practices to reflect changes in markets,
products and emerging best practice.
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial
instruments:
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk
• Operational risk
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A – CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if counterparty to a
financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation. Financial assets that
are mainly exposed to credit risk are deposits with banks, loans and
advances to customers and other banks and investment securities. Credit
risk also arises from off-balance sheet financial instruments such as letters
of credit and letters of guarantee.
Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counterparties are
engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same geographic
region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to
meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in
economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk
indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance affecting a
particular industry or geographical location.
Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s
performance to developments affecting a particular industry or
geographical location. The Group limits the impact of concentration risk in
exposure by setting progressively lower limits for longer tenors and taking
security, where considered appropriate, to mitigate such risks.

1- Management of credit risk
The Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures,
limiting transactions with specific counterparties, and continually
assessing the creditworthiness of counterparties. The Group’s risk
management policies are designed to identify and to set appropriate risk
limits and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits. Actual exposures
against limits are monitored daily. In certain cases the Group may also
close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate
credit risk. The Group’s credit risk for derivatives represents the potential
cost to replace the derivative contracts if counterparties fail to fulfill their
obligation, and to control the level of credit risk taken, the Group assesses
counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities.
The Group seeks to manage its credit risk exposure also through
diversification of lending activities to ensure that there is no undue
concentration of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific
locations or business. It also takes security when appropriate. The Group also
seeks additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment
indicators are noticed for the relevant individual loans and advances.
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Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional
collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement and monitors the
market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the
allowance for impairment losses.
The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to
reflect changes in markets products and emerging best practice.

2- Measurement of credit risk
a) Loans and advances
The Group assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties
using internal rating tools. The Group’s rating scale reflects the range of
default probabilities defined for each rating class as explained below:
•Watch List: Loans and advances rated Watch List are loans that are not
impaired but for which the Group determines that they require special
monitoring.
•Past due but not impaired: Loans past due but not impaired are loans
where contractual interest or principal are past due but the Group’s
management believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of
the level of collateral available and the stage of collection of amounts owed
to the Group.
•Substandard loans: Substandard loans are loans that are inadequately
protected by current sound worth and paying capacity of the obligor or by
any collateral pledged in favor of the group. Exposures where an indication
of the possibility that the Group will sustain a loss if certain irregularities
and deficiencies are not addressed exists are classified under this category.
•Doubtful loans: Doubtful loans have, in addition to the weaknesses
existing in substandard loans, characteristics indicating that current
existing facts and figures make the collection in full highly improbable.
The probability of loss is high but certain reasonable and specific pending
factors which if addressed could strengthen the probability of collection,
result in the deferral of the exposure as an estimated loss until a more exact
status is determined.
•Loss: Loans classified as loss are considered as uncollectible and of such
minimal value that their classification as assets is not warranted. This does
not mean that the loan is absolutely unrecoverable or has no salvage value.
However, the amount of loss is difficult to measure and the Group does not
wish to defer the writing of the loan even partial recovery might occur in
the future. Loans are charged off in the period in which they are deemed
uncollectible and therefore classified as loss.
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The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its
estimate of incurred losses in its loan portfolio. The main component of its
allowance are specific loss component that relate to individually significant
exposures, and a minor part of a collective loan loss allowance established
for retail and Small and Medium Enterprises (SME's) where there is
objective evidence that unidentified losses exist at the reporting date. This
provision is estimated based on various factors including credit ratings
allocated to a borrower or group of borrowers, the current economic
conditions, the experience the Group has had in dealing with a borrower or
group of borrowers and available historical default information.
The Group writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances
for impairment losses) when it determines that the loans/securities are
uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information
such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower / issuer's
financial position such as the borrower / issuer can no longer pay the
obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back
the entire exposure.

b) Government Debt Securities
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Lebanese Government sovereign
credit risk rating and therefore the Government debt securities credit risk
was downgraded to CCC+ by an international rating agency. However, no
impairment loss was recognized against Government debt securities since
the downgrading is the result of circumstantial and temporary events, and
recovery of debt at maturity is probable as the Government has had no
history of default.

3- Risk mitigation policies
Collateral:
The Group mainly employs collateral to mitigate credit risk. The principal
collateral types for loans and advances are:
• Pledged deposits
• Mortgages over real estate properties (land, commercial and residential
properties)
• Bank guarantees
• Financial instruments (equities and debt securities)
• Business other assets (such as inventories and accounts receivable)
Collateral generally is not held over loans and advances to banks, except
when securities are held as part of reverse repurchase and securities
borrowing activity. Collateral usually is not held against investment
securities.
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Other specific risk mitigation policies include:
Netting arrangements:
The Group further restricts its exposure to credit losses by entering into
netting arrangements with counterparties. Netting arrangements reduce
credit risk associated with favorable contracts to the extent that if a default
occurs, all amounts with the counterparty are terminated and settled on a
net basis.

4-Financial assets with credit risk exposure and related concentrations
a) Exposure to credit risk and concentration by counterparty
The tables below reflect the Group’s exposure to credit risk by counterparty
segregated between the categories of financial assets:

a.1) Compulsory reserves and central banks:

December 31,2007
LBP Base Account
Total
Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

F/Cy Base Account

No. of counter
parties

Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

No. of counter
parties

Less than LBP 30 billion

-

-

-

895,608

0.07

1

From LBP 30 billion to LBP 50 billion

-

-

-

39,760,611

3.23

1

From LBP 50 billion to LBP 100 billion

-

-

-

50,590,641

4.11

1

158,387,115

100

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,139,341,072

92.59

1

158,387,115

100

1

1,230,587,932

100

4

From LBP 100 billion to LBP 350 billion
Over LBP 350 billion

December 31,2006
LBP Base Account
Total
Amount
(Net)
LBP’000
Less than LBP 100 billion
From LBP 100 billion to LBP 3500 billion
Over LBP 350 billion

% to total
deposits
%

F/Cy Base Account

No. of counter
parties

Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

No. of counter
parties

-

-

-

829,481

0.09

172,170,357

100

1

-

-

1
-

-

-

-

956,218,034

99.91

1

172,170,357

100

1

957,047,515

100

2
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a.2) Loans and advances to customers:

December 31,2007
LBP Base Account
Total
Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

F/Cy Base Account

No. of counter
parties

Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

No. of counter
parties

Less than LBP 50 million

26,279,310

16.46

5,520

80,895,095

2.95

From LBP 50 million to LBP 100 million

11,726,636

7.34

166

28,466,512

1.04

16,428
407

From LBP 100 million to LBP 200 million

6,435,537

4.03

51

44,695,352

1.63

301

From LBP 200 million to LBP 500 million

5,984,005

3.75

24

122,268,355

4.46

363

From LBP 500 million to LBP 1.5 billion

12,539,608

7.85

19

302,917,632

11.06

346

From LBP 1.5 billion to LBP 5 billion

13,951,876

8.74

4

471,908,657

17.22

173

From LBP 5 billion to LBP 10 billion

29,282,461

18.34

4

279,060,696

10.19

42

From LBP 10 billion to LBP 15 billion

14,170,500

8.87

1

140,993,887

5.15

11

39,313,908

24.62

1

1,268,478,909

46.30

24

159,683,841

100

5,790

2,739,685,095

100

18,095

Above LBP 15 billion

December 31,2006
LBP Base Account
Total
Amount
(Net)
LBP’000
Less than LBP 50 million

% to total
deposits
%

F/Cy Base Account

No. of counter
parties

Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

No. of counter
parties

21,283,325

11.05

6,507

50,437,537

2.95

From LBP 50 million to LBP 100 million

4,878,386

2.53

84

18,991,979

1.11

10,092
277

From LBP 100 million to LBP 200 million

4,769,393

2.48

44

37,452,339

2.19

214

From LBP 200 million to LBP 500 million

7,145,206

3.71

32

63,449,604

3.71

170

From LBP 500 million to LBP 1.5 billion

7,128,285

3.70

19

161,242,825

9.42

179

From LBP 1.5 billion to LBP 5 billion

8,447,334

4.38

4

257,271,046

15.04

99

From LBP 5 billion to LBP 10 billion

28,000,828

14.53

4

166,292,138

9.72

35

From LBP 10 billion to LBP 15 billion

19,694,018

10.22

4

38,748,570

2.26

11

Above LBP 15 billion

91,322,470

47.40

3

916,983,071

53.60

26

192,669,245

100

6,701

1,710,869,109

100

11,103
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a.3) Loans and advances to related parties:
December 31,2007
LBP Base Account
Total
Amount
(Net)
LBP’000
Less than LBP 100 million

% to total
deposits
%

F/Cy Base Account

No. of counter
parties

Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

No. of counter
parties

68

-

2

40,100

0.02

From LBP 100 millionto LBP 500 million

-

-

-

100,053

0.04

4
1

From LBP 500 millionto LBP 1.5 billion

-

-

-

854,705

0.35

1
1

From LBP 1.5 billionto LBP 5 billion

-

-

-

2,858,494

1.18

From LBP 5 billion to LBP 10 billion

9,978,864

6.55

1

14,931,196

6.19

2

From LBP 10 billion to LBP 15 billion

12,822,811

8.42

1

40,172,421

16.65

3

129,559,451

85.03

5

182,346,352

75.57

4

152,361,194

100

9

241,303,321

100

16

Above LBP 15 billion

December 31,2006
LBP Base Account
Total
Amount
(Net)
LBP’000
Less than LBP 100 million

% to total
deposits
%

F/Cy Base Account

No. of counter
parties

Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

No. of counter
parties

3,615

-

1

69,459

0.02

5

From LBP 100 million to LBP 200 million

-

-

-

100,053

0.03

1

From LBP 200 million to LBP 1.5 billion

-

-

-

441,735

0.13

1
1

From LBP 1.5 billion to LBP 5 billion

1,723,575

1.61

1

1,610,151

0.47

From LBP 5 billion to LBP 10 billion

8,900,375

8.32

1

28,379,539

8.22

2

From LBP 10 billion to LBP 15 billion

11,443,340

10.70

1

64,938,902

18.81

1

84,892,163

79.37

4

249,638,693

72.32

2

106,963,068

100

8

345,178,532

100

13

Above LBP 15 billion

a.4) Available-for-sale investment securities:

December 31,2007
LBP Base Account
Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

F/Cy Base Account

No. of counter
parties

Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

No. of counter
parties

Less than LBP 5 billion

3,878,428

0.43

15

16,864,899

0.62

9

From LBP 5 billion to LBP 15 billion

5,027,984

0.56

1

35,214,667

1.29

4

From LBP 15 billion to LBP 30 billion

-

-

-

48,421,858

1.77

3

From LBP 30 billion to LBP 50 billion

-

-

-

86,423,563

3.17

2

66,179,862

7.39

1

79,833,557

2.93

1

820,978,046

91.62

1

2,459,918,204

90.22

3

896,064,320

100

18

2,726,676,748

100

22

From LBP 50 billion to LBP 350 billion
Over LBP 350 billion
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December 31,2006
LBP Base Account
Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

F/Cy Base Account

No. of counter
parties

Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
deposits
%

No. of counter
parties

Less than LBP 5 billion

3,867,073

0.49

17

8,242,539

0.39

From LBP 5 billion to LBP 15 billion

5,027,984

0.64

1

27,988,568

1.31

3

-

-

-

18,090,000

0.85

1

31,721,859

4.02

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

268,189,258

12.56

1

748,742,583

94.85

1

1,811,935,668

84.89

2

789,359,499

100

20

2,134,446,033

100

12

From LBP 15 billion to LBP 30 billion
From LBP 30 billion to LBP 200 billion
From LBP 200 billion to LBP 350 billion
Over LBP 350 billion

5

a.5) Held-to-maturity investment securities:
December 31,2007
LBP Base Account
Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000
Less than LBP 5 billion
From LBP 5 billion to LBP 50 billion
From LBP 50 billion to LBP 100 billion
Over LBP 100 billion

F/Cy Base Account

% to total heldtoNo. of counter
maturity
parties
securities %

Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
held-tomaturity
securities %

No. of counter
parties
3

-

-

-

5,618,827

0.42

10,520,968

2.85

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

92,925,998

6.98

1

358,357,360

97.15

1

1,233,616,525

92.60

1

368,878,328

100

2

1,332,161,350

100

5

December 31,2006
LBP Base Account
Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000
Less than LBP 5 billion
From LBP 5 billion to LBP 200 billion
From LBP 200 billion to LBP 350 billion
Over LBP 350 billion

F/Cy Base Account

% to total heldtoNo. of counter
maturity
parties
securities %

Total Amount
(Net)
LBP’000

% to total
held-tomaturity
securities %

No. of counter
parties

1,581,734

0.10

1

-

-

-

10,626,198

2.63

1

6,221,686

0.40

1

-

-

-

258,739,970

16.54

1

393,503,538

97.37

1

1,297,767,419

82.96

1

404,129,736

100

2 1,564,310,809

100

4

165
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Bad and doubtful

(127,280,176)
(130,519,077)

2,899,368,936

-

(3,238,901)

165,257,627

37,858,572

2,696,252,737

Allowance for
Impairment
LBP’000

2,768,849,859

37,977,451

37,858,572

2,693,013,836

Net exposure
LBP’000

487,148,045

23,163

141,549

486,983,333

Pledged
Funds
LBP’000

517,638,612

147,087,096

1,319,063

369,232,453

Property
LBP’000

384,307,378

1,636,124

-

382,671,254

Equity
Securities
LBP’000

63,974,125

-

-

63,974,125

Debt
Securities
LBP’000

Fair Value of Collateral Received

December 31, 2007

52,752,815

319,128

368,028

52,065,659

Other
LBP’000

1,505,820,975

149,065,511

1,828,640

1,354,926,824

Total
LBP’000

8/12/08

Substandard

Regular loans and advances

Gross Exposure
Net of unrealized
interest LBP’000

Below are the details of the Group’s exposure to credit risk with respect to loans
and advances to customers (excluding deferred penalties and collective provision):
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167

securities

-

Forward exchange contracts

-

credit

Guarantees and standby letters of

of credit

Documentary and commercial letters

Off-Balance Sheet Risk

Financial Instruments with

338,033,642

17,220,362

511,719,633

3,549,985,403

74,172

-

5,618,829

5,724,113,733

-

1,695,420,849

578,907,755

100,053

40,820,187

3,126,266

-

14,243,923

-

1,292,418,870

-

198,820

-

554,048,758

52,583,373

682,511,009

3,076,910

-

-

Real Estate
Development
LBP’000

110,628

18,226,671

13,174,705

337,317,648

-

5,784,260

-

10,365,486

854,705

320,313,197

-

-

-

10,149,749

54,118,428

20,695,512

387,777,615

-

14,274,396

-

-

-

373,503,219

-

-

-

Consumer
Manufacturing
Goods Trading
LBP’000
LBP’000

-

-

-

142,470,200

-

-

-

-

-

142,470,200

-

-

-

Real Estate
Trading
LBP’000

-

-

-

-

94,109,623

2,894,711

861,330,234

157,660,471

4,576,170

-

1,910,197

168,783,713

528,399,683

Services
LBP’000

4,249,436

25,660,120

7,703,828

485,317,655

376,875

-

-

-

157,280,571

327,660,209

-

-

-

Private
Individuals
LBP’000

-

-

-

158,627,273

62,304,148

1,701,039,678

3,622,741,068

393,664,515

2,709,908,881

171,352,969

2,921,412,313

1,388,975,047

Total
LBP’000

1,973,854

105,304,085

84,240,956

354,517,309

328,883,212

640,429,345

349,294,534 13,130,025,892

515,755

37,470,502

-

3,015,000

14,062,100

294,231,177

Other
LBP’000

12:18 PM

Other assets

Customers’ acceptance liability

2,921,412,313

Financial
Services
LBP’000

December 31, 2007

8/12/08

Held-to-maturity investment

securities

2,474,493,872

-

Loans and advances to related parties

Available-for-sale investment

-

165,149,793

-

1,388,975,047

Loans and advances to customers

Trading assets

financial institutions

Deposits with banks and

Central Banks (excluding cash on hand)

Cash, compulsory reserves and

Balance Sheet Exposure:

Sovereign
LBP’000

b) Concentration of financial assets by industry:
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-

Forward exchange contracts

-

657,121,888

19,435,646

29,734,044

993,690,127

5,568,895,110

credit

Guarantees and standby letters of

letters of credit

Documentary and commercial

Off-Balance Sheet Risk

Financial Instruments with

1,173,259

-

7,803,420

38,790

-

1,960,637,125

49,903,186

100,053

-

3,619,144

76,140,000

42,090,592

2,586,772

1,093,211,260

-

13,066,820

-

383,816,061

211,744,246

484,584,133

-

-

-

Real Estate
Development
LBP’000

-

40,354,157

5,945,063

171,582,991

-

9,712,765

-

10,601,515

441,735

150,826,976

-

-

-

28,319,791

36,190,372

19,399,140

314,939,551

-

11,286,634

-

-

-

303,652,917

-

-

-

Consumer
Manufacturing
Goods Trading
LBP’000
LBP’000

-

-

-

142,204,950

-

-

-

-

-

142,204,950

-

-

-

Real Estate
Trading
LBP’000

-

-

-

38,742,869

105,910,026

1,997,863

547,597,026

146,376,107

3,469,354

-

1,910,197

115,658,517

280,182,851

Services
LBP’000

615,207

24,444,889

710,174

390,539,010

-

-

-

-

124,193,143

266,345,867

-

-

-

Private
Individuals
LBP’000

-

-

-

-

60,875,863

27,565,092

96,301,429

47,973

8,803,048

-

-

3,906

87,446,502

Other
LBP’000

800,939,755

329,301,545

87,938,148

9,318,961,454

147,636,129

46,338,621

1,968,440,545

2,923,805,532

452,141,600

1,715,244,196

5,045,894

931,091,065

1,129,217,872

Total
LBP’000

12:18 PM

Other assets

Customers’ acceptance liability

securities

931,091,065

Financial
Services
LBP’000

8/12/08

Held-to-maturity investment

securities

2,477,574,573

-

Loans and advances to related parties

Available-for-sale investment

-

1,426,750

-

1,129,217,872

Loans and advances to customers

Trading assets

and financial institutions

Deposits with banks

Central Banks (excluding cash on hand)

Cash, compulsory reserves and

Balance Sheet Exposure:

Sovereign
LBP’000

December 31, 2006
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c) Concentration of assets and liabilities by geographical area:

December 31, 2007
Middle East
& Africa
LBP’000

Lebanon
LBP’000

North America
LBP’000

Europe
LBP’000

Other
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

ASSETS
Cash, Compulsory Reserves
and Central Banks

1,341,603,412

-

-

98,692,424

-

1,440,295,836

Deposits with banks and
financial institutions

1,087,464,934

687,204,639

24,727,281

1,086,545,740

35,469,719

2,921,412,313

7,751,806

-

-

163,601,163

-

171,352,969

1,990,616,192

110,831,947

20,881,451

580,311,602

7,267,689

2,709,908,881

Trading assets
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties

245,162,606

52,683,426

-

95,818,483

-

393,664,515

Available for sale investment
securities

3,413,935,357

60,285,575

-

148,520,136

-

3,622,741,068

Held-to-maturity investment
securities

1,697,723,002

-

-

3,316,676

-

1,701,039,678

Customers' acceptance liability

44,144,033

18,160,115

-

-

-

62,304,148

Investments in associates and
investments held for sale

72,263,795

-

-

-

-

72,263,795

6,034,649

-

-

-

-

6,034,649

80,111,744

-

-

1,454,095

-

81,565,839

Investment properties
Assets acquired in satisfaction
of loans
Goodwill

166,868,380

-

-

-

-

166,868,380

Property and equipment

173,729,057

-

-

7,853,464

-

181,582,521

-

238,396,386

Other assets

209,397,813

-

-

28,998,573

Total Assets

10,536,806,780

929,165,702

45,608,732

2,215,112,356

Deposits and borrowings from banks

599,571,655

77,510,148

2,331,680

49,449,309

26,317

728,889,109

Customers deposits designated at
fair value through profit or loss

139,410,962

11,251,787

2,528,400

2,260,871

345,007

155,797,027

5,706,320,825

806,075,879

208,734,217

938,926,815

9,816,332

7,669,874,068

3,207,682

-

-

-

-

3,207,682
2,709,500,463

42,737,408 13,769,430,978

LIABILITIES

Customers' accounts at
amortized cost
Related parties' accounts at fair
value through profit or loss
Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

150,704,559

2,148,428,863

331,781,038

78,579,816

6,187

Acceptances payable

8,710,217

10,821,647

22,516,490

19,794,209

461,585

62,304,148

Other borrowings

6,837,822

-

21,054,785

388,719,545

739,916

417,352,068

-

-

-

715,609,642

-

715,609,642

139,007,991

1,912,009

-

38,311,530

203,317

179,434,847

-

21,546,043

Certificates of deposit
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total liabilities

16,290,491

-

-

5,255,552

6,770,062,204

3,056,000,333

588,946,610

2,236,907,289
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December 31, 2006
Middle East
& Africa
LBP’000

Lebanon
LBP’000

North America
LBP’000

Europe
LBP’000

Other
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

ASSETS
Cash, Compulsory Reserves
and Central Banks
Deposits with banks and
financial institutions
Trading assets
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties

1,167,006,742

-

-

1,334,135

-

1,168,340,877

61,078,321

10,833,858

16,518,442

839,848,670

2,811,774

931,091,065

5,045,894

-

-

-

-

5,045,894

1,559,248,256

94,999,035

16,501,171

43,598,594

897,140

1,715,244,196

399,668,646

37,951,368

-

14,521,586

-

452,141,600

Available for sale
investment securities

2,923,805,532

-

-

-

-

2,923,805,532

Held-to-maturity
investment securities

1,962,218,863

-

-

6,221,682

-

1,968,440,545

Customers' acceptance liability

35,226,829

9,402,969

-

1,708,823

-

46,338,621

Investments in associates and
investments held for sale

83,048,106

-

-

-

-

83,048,106

Investment property

5,175,375

-

-

-

-

5,175,375

Assets acquired in
satisfaction of loans

86,732,018

-

-

-

-

86,732,018

86,861,653

-

-

-

-

86,861,653

180,144,128

-

-

436,913

-

180,581,041

Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets

180,756,293

-

-

1,636,852

-

182,393,145

Total Assets

8,736,016,656

153,187,230

33,019,613

909,307,255

3,708,914

9,835,239,668

492,695,184

209,006,585

4,536,081

18,779,957

-

725,017,807

22,433,645

7,386,693

328,591

508,115

555,461

31,212,505

4,060,842,623

1,111,671,248

55,349,832

593,277,043

69,617,362

5,890,758,108

LIABILITIES
Deposits and borrowings from banks
Customers’ deposits designated
at fair value through profit or loss
Customers' accounts at
amortized cost
Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

169,990,028

965,785,716

57,615,031

264,220

10,977,121

1,204,632,116

Acceptances payable

5,252,192

494,600

12,520,236

24,333,655

3,737,938

46,338,621

Other borrowings

7,694,034

-

-

-

-

7,694,034

-

-

-

946,542,355

-

946,542,355

Other liabilities

97,788,129

4,221,768

-

5,287,654

-

107,297,551

Provisions

18,321,330

-

-

106,097

-

18,427,427

4,875,017,165

2,298,566,610

130,349,771

1,589,099,096

84,887,882

8,977,920,524

Certificates of deposit

Total liabilities
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B – LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its net
funding requirements. Liquidity risk can be caused by market disruptions
or credit downgrades, which may cause certain sources of funding to dry
up immediately.
1- Management of liquidity risk
To mitigate this risk, management has diversified funding sources,
manages assets with liquidity in mind, maintaining an adequate balance
of cash, cash equivalents and readily marketable securities and monitors
future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. The Group also has
committed lines of credit that it can access to meet liquidity needs.
Liquidity risk is the Group’s ability to ensure the availability of funding to
meet commitments, both on-balance and off-balance sheet commitments,
at a reasonable cost on time. The management of liquidity should not lead
to threats to the Group’s solvency.
Liquidity risk arises when in case of crisis, refinancing may only be raised at
higher market rates (funding risk), or assets may only be liquidated at a discount
to market rates (market liquidity risk). Liquidity risk is also caused by
mismatches in the maturities of assets and liabilities (uses and sources of funds).
In accordance with banking regulations issued by Central Bank of Lebanon,
the Group maintains compulsory reserves with Central Bank of Lebanon of
25% and 15% of the weekly average demand and term customers’ deposits
in Lebanese Pounds. The Group has the ability to raise additional funds
through repurchase facilities available with Central Bank of Lebanon
against Government debt securities.
The Group sets policies and procedures to ensure that its individual entities
are in compliance with liquidity ratios imposed by the regulators in the
countries in which each of these entities operates in addition to other
internal limits and thresholds.

2- Exposure to liquidity risk
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s assets,
liabilities and equity. The contractual maturities of assets and liabilities
have been determined on the basis of the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual maturity date, and do not take account of the
effective maturities as indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history
and the availability of liquid funds. Management monitors the maturity
profile to ensure that adequate liquidity is maintained.

171

172
(11,368,117)

103,729,033
252,995,129

Maturity Gap

16,187,780

Provisions

Total Liabilities

24,083,127

Other liabilities

754,393

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

50,627
62,653,106

Deposits and borrowings from banks

LIABILITIES

8,809,892
356,724,162

Total Assets

168,734,693

(944,918,670)

1,100,799,536

-

-

17,227,010

989,615,556

93,956,970

155,880,866

-

-

-

-

-

340,933,677

28,114,113

-

-

244

28,113,869

-

369,047,790

-

-

-

-

-

360,283,714

-

8,762,841

1,235

-

-

855,066,871

47,041

-

-

-

47,041

-

855,113,912

-

-

-

-

-

846,986,082

-

8,127,830

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

13,134,022

-

-

-

-

-

-

13,134,022

-

-

-

-

-

11,031,526

-

2,102,496

-

-

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

12,489,408

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,489,408

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,188,392

7,301,016

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

18,678,476

-

-

-

-

-

-

18,678,476

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,265,385

8,413,091

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

548,378,913

1,232,689,723

16,187,780

24,083,127

17,981,647

1,080,429,572

94,007,597

1,781,068,636

8,809,892

168,734,693

54,834,356

(11,368,117)

13,236,191

1,265,662,751

93,319,568

(6,344,980)

20,984,337

173,199,945

Total
LBP’000

12:19 PM

Other assets

Property and equipment

54,834,356

13,236,191

Assets acquired in satisfaction
of loans

38,455,016

93,319,568

23,916,668

189,614

-

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

8/12/08

Goodwill

8,906,413

Investments in associates and
investments held for sale

-

(64,708,592)

5,079,381

173,199,945

Held for trading, available for sale
and held to maturity securities

Loans and advances to related
parties

Loans and advances to customers

Deposits with banks and
financial institutions

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks

ASSETS

Accounts with
Up to 3 months
No maturity
LBP’000
LBP’000

LBP Base Accounts

December 31, 2007
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Residual contractual maturities of financial assets and liabilities:
The tables below show the Bank’s assets and liabilities in Lebanese Pounds
and foreign currencies base accounts segregated by maturity:

173
-

627,643,861
850,823,409

Maturity Gap

5,358,263

Total Liabilities

Provisions

122,202,208

-

Certificates of deposit

Other liabilities

-

Other borrowings

3,955,389
2,370,116

Acceptances payable

-

485,983,494

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

Related parties' accounts at FVTPL

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

Customers' deposits at fair value
through profit or loss

Deposits and borrowings from banks

7,774,391

1,478,467,270

Total Assets

(823,114,071)

6,238,521,710

-

31,699,278

-

16,368,223

48,302,195

1,824,389,963

-

4,064,666,317

13,907,877

239,187,857

5,415,407,639

22,615,459

-

-

-

2,152,504,218

-

998,565

263,973,370

12,588,175

807,733

830,697,280

-

530,375,426

140,683,150

372,380,519

1,106,978,702

-

-

-

-

-

-

807,733

753,700,439

33,761,326

184,962,548

-

133,746,656

(811,511,569) (1,045,525,516)

1,694,222,514

-

451,669

-

174,659,515

10,824,104

32,476,184

-

1,459,066,297

1,206,000

15,538,745

882,710,945

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,824,104

573,978,076

7,888,415

268,949,446

5,434,267

15,636,637

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

676,695,416

542,191,113

-

-

451,636,272

50,579,749

-

-

-

39,975,092

-

-

1,218,886,529

-

-

-

-

-

-

--

595,097,844

-

116,006,224

-

507,782,461

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

1,094,545,960

113,664,620

-

-

-

104,286,750

-

-

-

9,377,870

-

-

1,208,210,580

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,018,583,741

39,441,554

150,185,285

-

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

229,586,494

12,847,828

112,034,024

92,933,956

6,034,649

59,027,604

62,304,148

4,229,470,964

300,344,947

2,716,253,861

2,900,427,976

1,267,095,891

Total
LBP’000

5,358,263

155,351,720

715,609,642

417,352,068

62,304,148

2,691,518,816

3,207,682

6,589,444,496

155,797,027

634,881,512

615,623,339

557,536,968

62,077,338 11,430,825,374

-

-

-

58,869,656

-

-

3,207,682

-

-

-

677,700,677 11,988,362,342

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

673,552,888

-

4,147,789

-

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

12:19 PM

LIABILITIES

206,971,035

Other assets

12,847,828

112,034,024

92,933,956

-

-

48,302,195

763,632

216,295,105

1,845,400,934

2,762,087,499

519,942,815

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

8/12/08

Property and equipment

Goodwill

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

6,034,649

59,027,604

Investments in associates and
investments held for sale

Investment properties

2,370,116

613,794,344

2,958,547

Customers' acceptances liability

Held for trading, available for sale
and held to maturity securities

Loans and advances to related parties

132,906,210
146,601,635

Loans and advances to customers

89,987,322

Deposits with banks and
financial institutions

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks

ASSETS

Accounts with
Up to 3 months
No maturity
LBP’000
LBP’000

F/Cy Base Accounts

December 31, 2007

Annual Report 08-08-2008 dergh (70-200).qxd7:Layout 1
Page 173

174
14,962,611
43,694,921
377,615,809

Provisions

Total Liabilities

Maturity Gap

-

Certificates of deposit
14,772,824

-

Other borrowings

Other liabilities

-

50,000

-

13,294,101

-

615,385

Acceptances payable

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

Related parties' accounts at fair
value through profit or loss

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

Customers' deposits at fair value
through profit or loss

Deposits and borrowings from banks

(797,312,701)

967,606,405

-

-

-

-

-

15,739,835

-

857,823,082

-

94,043,488

170,293,704

-

-

-

-

(45,252,450)

214,137,629

-

-

-

-

-

189,890

-

210,750,646

3,151,926

45,167

168,885,179

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

155,410,249

-

13,474,930

-

-

-

938,421,592

4,150

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,150

-

-

938,425,742

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

935,321,275

-

3,104,467

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

38,867,914

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

38,867,914

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

37,384,854

-

1,483,060

-

-

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

4,162,025

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,162,025

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,128,095

3,033,930

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

4,569,311

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,569,311

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,569,311

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

521,071,500

1,225,443,105

14,962,611

14,772,824

-

-

-

15,979,725

-

1,081,871,979

3,151,926

94,704,040

1,746,514,605

15,380,701

176,495,288

54,834,355

(8,879,896)

-

10,289,298

-

1,194,050,054

75,477,674

34,528,892

11,729,172

182,609,067

Total
LBP’000

12:19 PM

LIABILITIES

15,380,701
421,310,730

Total Assets

176,495,288

54,834,355

(8,879,896)

-

-

-

56,949,094

75,477,674

37,866,936

-

-

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

8/12/08

Other assets

Property and equipment

Goodwill

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

-

10,289,298

Investments in associates and
investments held for sale

Investment properties

-

8,984,582

-

(22,528,596)

4,125,931

182,609,067

Customers' acceptance liability

Held for trading, available for sale
and held to maturity securities

Loans and advances to related parties

Loans and advances to customers

Deposits with banks and
financial institutions

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks

ASSETS

Accounts with
Up to 3 months
No maturity
LBP’000
LBP’000

LBP Base Accounts

December 31, 2006
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20,499,583

95,611,914

175
-

754,647,994 (1,089,374,399) (1,506,209,072)

1,995,594,034

-

-

Maturity Gap

4,029,575,635

-

-

230,821,338

-

11,744,097

365,861,392

-

1,189,892,942

28,060,579

169,213,686

489,384,962

203,116,883

3,464,816

-

-

33,675,377

822,747,543

-

3,086,039,429

-

87,113,286

2,940,201,236

-

-

-

-

Total Liabilities

Provisions

92,524,727

-

Certificates of deposit

Other liabilities

-

896,002

43,456

-

84,645,242

Other borrowings

Acceptances payable

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

Related parties' accounts at fair
value through profit or loss

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

Customers' deposits at fair value
through profit or loss

Deposits and borrowings from banks

21,542,640

957,764,877

Total Assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,025,022

144,752,547

-

161,954,227

6,214,903

164,438,263

428,601,380

755,489,345

-

-

-

-

23,145

-

-

403,022,045

-

352,444,155

1,184,090,725

-

-

-

-

-

-

23,146

815,983,680

10,072,316

225,396,368

-

132,615,215

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

292,927,962

297,143,384

-

-

264,013,655

-

-

-

-

33,129,729

-

-

590,071,346

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

534,542,678

31,489,897

12,940,254

-

11,098,517

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

759,716,159

471,558,138

-

-

451,707,362

7,694,034

-

-

-

12,156,742

-

-

1,231,274,297

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,114,017,010

-

117,257,287

-

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

695,937,620

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

695,937,620

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

695,937,620

-

-

-

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

336,247,644

7,752,477,419

3,464,816

92,524,727

946,542,355

7,694,034

46,338,621

1,188,652,391

-

4,808,886,129

28,060,579

630,313,767

8,088,725,063

167,012,444

4,085,753

32,027,298

95,611,914

5,175,375

72,758,808

46,338,621

3,703,241,917

376,663,926

1,680,715,304

919,361,893

985,731,810

Total
LBP’000

12:19 PM

LIABILITIES

167,012,444

4,085,753

32,027,298

-

-

33,394,451

1,507,504

335,001,660

1,030,341,574

892,647,407

647,308,640

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

8/12/08

Other assets

Property and equipment

Goodwill

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

5,175,375

72,758,808

Investments in associates and
investments held for sale

Investment properties

896,002

396,500,878

100,053

Customers' acceptance liability

Held for trading, available for sale
and held to maturity securities

Loans and advances to related parties

132,825,594

Deposits with banks and
financial institutions

Loans and advances to customers

30,271,175

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks

ASSETS

Accounts with
Up to 3 months
No maturity
LBP’000
LBP’000

F/Cy Base Accounts

December 31, 2006
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Concentration of Liabilities by counterparty:
Information regarding the concentration of liabilities by counterparty is
disclosed under the respective notes to the financial statements.

C – MARKET RISKS
Market Risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the
financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables
such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices.

1- Management of market risks
The Group classifies exposures to market risk into either trading or banking
(non-trading) book. The market risk for the trading book is managed and
monitored using a combination of limits monitoring and VAR
methodology. Market risk for non-trading book includes Price and Liquidity
risks that are managed and monitored through internal limits, gap
analysis, stress testing and sensitivity analysis.

a) Market Risk-Trading Book
Trading Book contains the Group's positions in financial instruments
which are held intentionally for short-term resale and/or with the intent of
benefiting from actual or expected short-term price movements or to lock
in arbitrage profits.
The Board has set limits for the acceptable level of risks in managing the
trading book. The Group applies a VAR methodology to assess the market
risk positions held and to estimate the potential economic loss based upon
a number of parameters and assumptions for change in market conditions.
A VAR methodology estimates the potential negative change in market
value of a portfolio at a given confidence level and over a specified time
horizon. The Group uses simulation models to assess the possible changes
in the market value of the trading book based on historical data. VAR
models are usually designed to measure the market risk in a normal market
environment and therefore the use of VAR has limitations as it is based on
historical correlations and market price volatilities and assumes that the
future movements will follow a statistical distribution.
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The VAR that the Group measures is an estimate, using a confidence level
of 95% of the potential loss that is not expected to be exceeded if the
current market positions were to be held unchanged for one day. The use of
95% confidence level depicts that within a one-day horizon, losses
exceeding VAR figure should occur, on average, not more than once every
hundred days.
The VAR represents the risk of portfolios at the close of a business day, and
it does not account for any losses that may occur beyond the defined
confidence interval. The actual trading results however, may differ from the
VAR calculations and, in particular, the calculation does not provide a
meaningful indication of profits and losses in stressed market conditions.

b) Market Risk – Non-Trading Or Banking Book
Market risk on non-trading or banking positions mainly arises from the
interest rate, foreign currency exposures, equity price changes and
liquidity risk.

2- Exposure to Foreign Exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that changes in foreign currency rates will
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial
instruments. The objective of foreign currency risk management is to
manage and control foreign currency risk exposure within acceptable
parameters while optimizing the return on risk.
Foreign exchange exposure arises from normal banking activities,
primarily from the receipt of deposits and the placement of funds. Future
open positions in any currency are managed by means of forward foreign
exchange contracts. It is the policy of the Group that it will, at all times,
adhere to the limits laid down by the Central Bank as referred to below. It
is not the Group’s intention to take open positions on its own account
(proprietary trading) but rather to maintain square or near square
positions in all currencies.
The Management sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in
the aggregate for both overnight and intra-day positions and hedging
strategies, which are monitored daily and are in compliance with Central
Bank of Lebanon rules and regulations.
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Below is the carrying value of assets and liabilities segregated by major
currencies to reflect the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk
at year end:

December 31, 2007
USD
LBP’000

Other
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

173,199,945
20,984,337
(6,344,980)
93,319,568

1,196,636,705
2,709,229,497
2,176,856,513
202,233,814

70,459,186
191,198,479
539,397,348
98,111,133

1,440,295,836
2,921,412,313
2,709,908,881
393,664,515

1,265,662,751
-

3,861,989,061
39,076,302

367,481,903
23,227,846

5,495,133,715
62,304,148

LBP
LBP’000
ASSETS
Cash, compulsory deposits and deposits
with Central Banks
Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Held for trading, available-for-sale and
held-to-maturity securities
Customers' acceptances liability
Investments in associates and investments
held for sale
Investment properties
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Deposits and borrowings from banks
Liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss
Customers' accounts at amortized cost
Related parties' accounts at FVTPL
Related parties' accounts at amortized cost
Acceptances payable
Other borrowings
Certificates of deposit
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total Liabilities
Currencies to be delivered
Currencies to be received
Discount/premium

Net on-balance sheet financial position

13,236,191
55,460,626
6,034,649
(11,368,117)
91,479,861
54,834,356
77,479,191
168,734,693
5,039,832
8,809,892
199,014,186
1,781,068,636 10,620,530,237

94,007,597

591,200,457

155,797,027
1,080,429,572 5,980,758,950
3,207,682
17,981,647 2,661,649,975
39,076,302
389,502,319
715,609,642
32,327,923
105,252,209
16,187,780
14,761
1,240,934,519 10,642,069,324

3,566,978
72,263,795
6,034,649
1,454,095
81,565,839
34,554,833
166,868,380
7,807,996
181,582,521
30,056,553
237,880,631
1,367,316,350 13,768,915,223

43,681,055

728,889,109

155,797,027
608,685,546 7,669,874,068
3,207,682
29,868,841 2,709,500,463
23,227,846
62,304,148
27,849,749
417,352,068
715,609,642
38,559,754
176,139,886
5,343,502
21,546,043
777,216,293 12,660,220,136

(679,355)
8,924,151
8,244,796

(13,973,235)
331,322,459
(1,875,647)
315,473,577

(340,765,037)
14,270,699
(3,241)
(326,497,579)

(355,417,627)
354,517,309
(1,878,888)
(2,779,206)

548,378,913

293,934,490

263,602,478

1,105,915,881
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December 31, 2006
USD
LBP’000

Other
LBP’000

Total
LBP’000

182,609,067
11,729,172
34,528,892
75,477,674

980,188,117
832,174,965
1,511,241,770
285,096,286

5,543,693
87,186,928
169,473,534
91,567,640

1,168,340,877
931,091,065
1,715,244,196
452,141,600

1,194,050,054
-

3,556,967,804
28,124,086

146,274,113
18,214,535

4,897,291,971
46,338,621

10,289,298
(8,879,896)
54,834,355
176,495,288
6,809,051
1,737,942,955

69,436,953
5,175,375
95,611,914
3,699,308
172,574,066
7,540,290,644

3,321,855
32,027,298
386,445
1,640,962
555,637,003

83,048,106
5,175,375
86,732,018
86,861,653
180,581,041
181,024,079
9,833,870,602

94,704,040

612,248,198

18,065,569

725,017,807

3,151,926
1,081,871,979
15,979,725
14,772,824
14,962,611
1,225,443,105

28,060,579
4,613,091,627
1,173,460,937
28,124,085
4,973,936
946,542,355
87,158,098
2,925,493
7,496,585,308

195,794,502
15,191,454
18,214,536
2,720,098
5,366,629
539,323
255,892,111

31,212,505
5,890,758,108
1,204,632,116
46,338,621
7,694,034
946,542,355
107,297,551
18,427,427
8,977,920,524

(4,524,450)
13,096,100
8,571,650

(243,559,058)
545,900,826
(2,971,140)
299,370,628

(548,512,495)
241,942,829
(3,546)
(306,573,212)

(796,596,003)
800,939,755
(2,974,686)
1,369,066

521,071,500

343,075,964

(6,828,320)

857,319,144

LBP
LBP’000
ASSETS
Cash, Compulsory deposits and deposits with
Central Banks
Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Held for trading, available-for-sale and
held-to-maturity securities
Customers' acceptance liability
Investments in associates and investments
held for sale
Investment properties
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Deposits and borrowings from banks
Liabilities designated at fair value through profit
or loss
Customers' accounts at amortized cost
Related parties' accounts at amortized cost
Acceptances payable
Other borrowings
Certificates of deposit
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total Liabilities
Currencies to be delivered
Currencies to be received
Net Premium/ discount

Net on-balance sheet financial position
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3- EXPOSURE TO INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk arises when there is a mismatch between positions, which
are subject to interest rate adjustment within a specified period. The
Group’s lending, funding and investment activities give rise to interest rate
risk. The immediate impact of variation in interest rate is on the Group’s
net interest income, while a long term impact is on the Group’s net worth
since the economic value of the Group’s assets, liabilities and off-balance
sheet exposures are affected.
The Group manages this risk by matching or hedging the repricing profile
of assets and liabilities through risk management strategies.
The Board has established interest rate gap limits for stipulated periods.
The effective interest rate (effective yield) of a monetary financial
instrument is the rate that, when used in a present value calculation, results
in the carrying amount of the instrument. The rate is a historical rate for a
fixed rate instrument carried at amortized cost and a current market rate for
a floating rate instrument or an instrument carried at fair value.
Below is a summary of the Group’s interest rate gap position on assets and
liabilities reflected at carrying amounts at year end segregated between
floating and fixed interest rate earning or bearing and between Lebanese
Pound and foreign currencies base accounts:

180

38,455,016

8,906,412

181
754,393
24,083,127
16,187,780
103,471,034
251,712,504

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total Liabilities

Interest rate gap position

50,627
62,395,107

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

93,956,970

(944,861,581)

17,227,010
1,101,057,535

989,873,555

1,382,494

1,824,000

1,824,000

-

3,206,494

-

3,206,494
-

-

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

-

1,436,520

-

-

-

1,436,520

-

1,436,520
-

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

1,687,394

-

-

-

1,687,394

-

1,687,394
-

-

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

5,187,685

-

-

-

5,187,685

-

5,187,685
-

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

10,265,385

-

-

-

10,265,385

-

10,265,385
-

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

-

(924,902,103)

17,227,010
1,102,881,535

991,697,555

93,956,970

177,979,432

38,455,016

1,731,471
44,473,377
93,319,568

Total
LBP’000

12:22 PM

Deposits and borrowings from banks

156,195,954

1,731,471
22,689,899
93,319,568

3,538,758
(64,708,592)
-

13,236,191
(11,368,117)
54,834,356
168,734,693
8,809,892
355,183,538

-

173,199,945

Up to 3 months
LBP’000

8/12/08

LIABILITIES

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks
Deposits with banks and
financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Held for trading, available-for-sale
and held-to-maturity Securities
Investments in associates and
investments held for sale
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total Assets

ASSETS

Non-interest
bearing
LBP’000

Floating Interest Rate

December 31, 2007
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Interest rate gap position in LBP:

846,986,082

360,283,714

182
26,289,869
244
26,290,113
340,776,717

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total Liabilities

Interest rate gap position

-

853,630,351

47,041

47,041

11,446,629

-

-

-

11,446,629

11,031,527

415,102
-

-

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

7,301,724

-

-

-

7,301,724

-

7,301,017
707
-

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

8,413,091

-

-

-

8,413,091

-

8,413,091
-

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

-

1,221,568,512

244
26,337,154

26,336,910

-

1,247,905,666

1,218,301,323

15,714,108
13,890,235
-

Total
LBP’000

548,378,913

17,981,647
24,083,127
16,187,780
1,232,689,723

1,080,429,572

94,007,597

13,236,191
(11,368,117)
54,834,356
168,734,693
8,809,892
1,781,068,636

1,265,662,751

20,984,337
(6,344,980)
93,319,568

173,199,945

Grand Total
LBP’000

12:23 PM

Deposits and borrowings from banks

853,677,392

6,691,310
-

6,783,116
-

367,066,830

-

-

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

8/12/08

LIABILITIES

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks
Deposits with banks and
financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Held for trading, available-for-sale
and held-to-maturity Securities
Investments in associates and
investments held for sale
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total Assets

ASSETS

Over 3 months
less than 1 year
LBP’000

Fixed Interest Rate

December 31, 2007
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-

62,304,148
59,027,604

investments held for sale

183

Deposits and borrowings from banks
-

4,015,415
62,304,148
153,216,902
5,358,263
710,059,911
612,905,447

Interest rate gap position

-

485,092,982

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost
Acceptances liability
Other borrowings
Certificates of deposit
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total Liabilities

Related parties' accounts at FVTPL

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

through profit or loss

Liabilities designated at fair value

72,201

Total Assets

(585,156,858)

1,824,329,937
16,368,223
684,583
6,167,737,496

-

4,065,556,829

13,907,877

246,890,047

5,582,580,638

5,147

-

-

-

30,706,567

138,719,405
153,912,011

-

14,529,883

-

662,723

184,618,578

-

-

-

-

-

-

(159,638,650)

264,080,511
284,423,867

-

20,343,356

-

-

124,785,217

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

124,686,064
99,153

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

104,930,232

-

-

-

-

-

104,930,232

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

104,930,232
-

-

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

173,894,559

-

-

-

-

-

173,894,559

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

148,515,106
25,379,453

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

4,147,789

-

-

-

-

-

4,147,789

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,147,789
-

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

(431,116,361)

2,088,410,448
155,087,628
684,583
6,606,073,374

-

4,100,430,068

13,907,877

247,552,770

6,174,957,013

5,147

-

-

-

-

-

-

763,632

2,860,030,466
2,482,642,557
252,520,621

578,994,590

Total
LBP’000

12:23 PM

LIABILITIES

229,581,347
1,322,965,358

Other assets

12,847,828

112,034,024

92,933,956

-

-

-

-

167,659,170
7,888,415

9,070,993

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

8/12/08

Property and equipment

Goodwill

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

6,034,649

763,632

613,794,344

Investment properties

2,860,030,466
1,932,704,196
219,153,600

35,002,492
59,298,373
100,053

-

569,923,597

40,006,540

Up to 3 months
LBP’000

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks
Deposits with banks and financial
institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Held for trading, available-for-sale
and held-to-maturity securities
Customers' acceptance liability
Investments in associates and

ASSETS

Non-interest
bearing
LBP’000

Floating Interest Rate

December 31, 2007
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Interest rate gap position in F/CY:

101,510,350

Loans and advances to customers

184

687,449,088

Investment properties

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

Goodwill

Property and equipment

Other assets

Total Assets

1,206,000

1,529,486,400
(842,037,312)

Interest rate gap position

-

451,670

-

35,940,110

-

32,476,184

-

1,444,536,414

Total Liabilities

Provisions

Other liabilities

Certificates of deposit

Other borrowings

Acceptances liability

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

Related parties' accounts at FVTPL

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

Liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss

(885,886,867)

1,867,272,618

-

998,565

263,973,370

12,588,175

-

566,616,769

-

510,032,070

140,683,150

372,380,519

981,385,751

-

-

-

-

-

-

571,765,184

542,191,113

-

-

451,636,272

50,579,749

-

-

-

39,975,092

-

--

1,113,956,297

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

595,097,844

-

11,075,992

-

507,782,461

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

920,431,327

113,664,620

-

-

-

104,286,750

-

-

-

9,377,870

-

-

1,034,095,947

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,018,583,741

14,062,101

1,450,105

-

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

611,475,550

62,077,338

-

-

-

58,869,656

-

-

3,207,682

-

-

-

673,552,888

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

673,552,888

-

-

-

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

229,586,494

12,847,828

112,034,024

92,933,956

6,034,649

59,027,604

62,304,148

4,229,470,964

300,344,947

2,716,253,861

2,900,427,976

1,267,095,891

Grand Total
LBP’000

5,358,263

155,351,720

715,609,642

417,352,068

62,304,148

2,691,518,816

3,207,682

6,589,444,496

155,797,027

634,881,512

375,747,882

557,536,968

4,114,692,089 11,430,825,374

-

1,450,235

715,609,642

262,264,440

-

599,092,953

3,207,682

2,003,921,446

141,889,150

387,256,541

4,490,439,971 11,988,362,342

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,614,912,988

47,724,273

174,312,931

5,395,018

648,094,761

Total
LBP’000

12:23 PM

Deposits and borrowings from banks

14,876,022

-

Investments in associates and
investments held for sale

-

753,700,439

33,662,172

60,276,484

-

133,746,656

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

8/12/08

LIABILITIES

-

573,978,076

Customers' acceptance liability

Held for trading, available-for-sale
and held-to-maturity securities

-

5,395,018

Deposits with banks and financial
institutions

Loans and advances to related parties

6,565,644

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks

ASSETS

Over 3 months
less than 1 year
LBP’000

Fixed Interest Rate

December 31, 2007
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185
-

50,000
14,772,824
14,962,611
37,005,173
384,305,556

Interest rate gap position

6,604,353

(804,002,448)

15,739,835
974,296,153

864,512,830

-

94,043,488

170,293,705

10,289,298
(8,879,896)
54,834,355
176,495,288
15,380,701
421,310,729

615,385

56,949,095

8,984,582

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total Liabilities

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

Liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss

37,866,936
75,477,674

4,125,930
(22,528,596)
-

(170,466,932)

185,874
182,155,596

181,364,213

560,342

45,167

11,688,664

-

11,688,664
-

-

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

-

2,015,036

4,150

4,150

-

-

2,019,186

-

2,019,186
-

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

1,476,405

-

-

-

-

1,476,405

-

1,476,405
-

-

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

1,128,095

-

-

-

-

1,128,095

-

1,128,095
-

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

-

(969,849,844)

15,925,709
1,156,455,899

1,045,881,193

560,342

94,088,655

186,606,055

56,949,095

54,179,286
75,477,674

Total
LBP’000

12:23 PM

Deposits and borrowings from banks

-

182,609,067

Up to 3 months
LBP’000

8/12/08

LIABILITIES

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks
Deposits with banks and financial
institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to related parties
Held for trading, available-for-sale
and held-to-maturity securities
Investments in associates and
investments held for sale
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total Assets

ASSETS

Non-interest
bearing
LBP’000

Floating Interest Rate

December 31, 2006
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Interest rate gap position in LBP:

Loans and advances to customers

186
157,196,514

Property and equipment

Other assets

Total Assets

2,591,584

Interest rate gap position

125,214,481

31,982,033

-

Provisions

Total Liabilities

-

4,016

29,386,433

Other liabilities

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

Liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss

Deposits and borrowings from banks

936,406,556

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

936,406,556

-

-

-

-

37,391,509

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

37,391,509

-

-

-

-

-

37,384,854

-

6,655

-

-

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

3,033,930

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,033,930

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,033,930

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

4,569,312

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,569,312

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,569,312

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

-

1,106,615,788

31,982,033

-

-

4,016

29,386,433

2,591,584

-

1,138,597,821

-

-

-

-

-

1,128,116,377

-

2,878,202

7,603,242

Total
LBP’000

521,071,500

1,225,443,105

14,962,611

14,772,824

15,979,725

1,081,871,979

3,151,926

94,704,040

1,746,514,605

15,380,701

176,495,288

54,834,355

(8,879,896)

10,289,298

1,194,050,054

75,477,674

34,528,892

11,729,172

182,609,067

Grand Total
LBP’000

12:24 PM

-

-

Goodwill

-

935,321,275

-

1,085,281

-

-

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

8/12/08

LIABILITIES

-

Assets acquired in satisfaction
of loans

155,410,248

investments held for sale

Investments in associates and

Held for trading, available-for-sale
and held-to-maturity securities

-

1,786,266

Deposits with banks and financial
institutions

Loans and advances to related parties

-

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks

ASSETS

Over 3 months
less than 1 year
LBP’000

Fixed Interest Rate

December 31, 2006
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187
728,932,777 (1,063,378,547) (423,798,013)

581,994,731

Interest rate gap position

4,014,490,883

-

-

-

229,968,877

3,464,816

-

-

-

-

-

3,554,756
574,636,077

3,803,898

158,196,718

-

-

Total Liabilities

Provisions

92,524,727

-

Certificates of deposit

Other liabilities

-

-

822,747,542

43,457
46,338,621

3,083,593,267

108,150,074

2,951,112,336

87,091,404

Other borrowings

Acceptances payable

Customers’ deposits designated at
fair value through profit or loss
Customers' accounts at amortized cost
Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

Deposits and borrowings from banks

505,852

958,901,654

Total Assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

290

151,306,258

2,367,670

4,522,500

3 months to
1 year
LBP’000

295,628,683

93,464

-

-

-

-

-

-

93,464

-

295,722,147

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,072,317

215,551,080

-

70,098,750

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

10,044,402

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,044,402

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,044,402

-

-

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

113,164,070

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

113,164,070

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

113,164,070

-

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

4,596,579,078

-

-

-

-

-

822,747,542

3,554,756
3,658,322,808

111,953,972

3,528,239,673

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,507,504

345,073,976

1,564,374,035

895,354,268

721,929,890

Total
LBP’000

- (1,068,339,405)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

12:24 PM

LIABILITIES

167,012,444

Other assets

4,085,753

-

-

-

-

-

1,507,504

335,001,369

1,074,308,225

92,986,598

647,308,640

Up to 3 months
LBP’000

8/12/08

Property and equipment

95,611,914
32,027,298

Goodwill

5,175,375

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

Investment properties

investments held for sale

72,758,808

46,338,621

Investments in associates and

396,500,878

Customers' acceptance liability

100,053

and held-to-maturity securities

Held for trading, available-for-sale

Loans and advances to related parties

20,160,392
88,858,943

institutions

30,271,175

Loans and advances to customers

Deposits with banks and financial

deposits with Central Banks

Cash, Compulsory deposits and

ASSETS

Non-interest
bearing
LBP’000

Floating Interest Rate

December 31, 2006
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Interest rate gap position in F/CY:

319,163,512

Investments in associates and
investments held for sale

Investment properties

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

Goodwill

Property and equipment

188

Other assets

Total Assets

Interest rate gap position

(1,082,691,694)

1,401,855,206

-

Provisions

Total Liabilities

-

Other liabilities

230,821,338

-

Other borrowings

Certificates of deposit

-

365,861,392

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

Acceptances payable

24,505,823
615,256,865

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

165,409,788

Customers’ deposits designated at
fair value through profit or loss

132,972,697

755,372,736

-

-

-

-

-

-

402,928,581

-

352,444,155

282,883,560

297,143,384

-

-

264,013,655

-

-

-

33,129,729

-

-

580,026,944

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

534,542,678

31,489,897

2,895,852

-

11,098,517

3 to 5 years
LBP’000

646,552,089

471,558,138

-

-

451,707,362

7,694,034

-

-

12,156,742

-

-

1,118,110,227

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,114,017,010

-

4,093,217

-

-

5 to 10 years
LBP’000

695,937,620

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

695,937,620

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

695,937,620

-

-

-

-

Over 10 years
LBP’000

675,654,272

2,925,929,464

-

-

946,542,355

7,694,034

-

365,861,392

1,063,471,917

24,505,823

517,853,943

3,601,583,736

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,305,233,535

31,489,897

27,482,326

3,847,233

233,530,745

Total
LBP’000

336,247,644

7,752,477,419

3,464,816

92,524,727

946,542,355

7,694,034

46,338,621

1,188,652,391

4,808,886,129

28,060,579

630,313,767

8,088,725,063

167,012,444

4,085,753

32,027,298

95,611,914

5,175,375

72,758,808

46,338,621

3,703,241,917

376,663,926

1,680,715,304

919,361,893

985,731,810

Grand Total
LBP’000

12:24 PM

Deposits and borrowings from banks

888,345,433

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

815,983,680

-

9,845,288

-

62,516,465

1 to 3 years
LBP’000

8/12/08

LIABILITIES

-

144,752,547

-

Customers' acceptance liability

Held for trading, available-for-sale
and held-to-maturity securities

Loans and advances to related parties

3,847,233
10,647,969

Loans and advances to customers

159,915,763

Deposits with banks and financial
institutions

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks

ASSETS

Over 3 months
less than 1 year
LBP’000

Fixed Interest Rate

December 31, 2006
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The effect of a 50 basis point change in interest rates upwards or
downwards on the earnings of the Group for the subsequent fiscal year for
the same balance sheet structure and exposure would be in the range of
LBP 9 billion, decrease/increase respectively.
The effect of a change in interest rate by 50 basis points on fair values of
financial assets and liabilities stated at fair value would be in the range of
LBP 33 billion summarized as follows:

Change in Fair Value
LBP’000
Trading assets (effect on profit or loss)

152,649

Available-for-sale investment securities (effect on equity)

(33,493,289)

D – OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. The Group can not expect to abolish all operational risks,
but the Group is able to manage the risk thought the development and
implementation of a control framework and by monitoring and
responding to potential risks. Control framework includes effective
segregation of duties, access control, authorization and reconciliation
procedures, staff know how and assessment processes, including the use of
internal audit division.
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-

-

Other assets

190
-

Other liabilities

Total

-

Other borrowings

Certificates of deposit

-

-

Related parties' accounts at FVTPL

-

-

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

Liability under acceptances

-

Customers' deposits designated at
fair value through profit or loss

162,299,672

3,294,963

-

-

-

-

3,207,682

-

155,797,027

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,622,741,068

-

-

3,622,741,068

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,701,039,678

-

1,701,039,678

HTM
LBP’000

-

-

-

164,892,217

1,701,039,678

3,622,741,068

393,664,515

2,709,908,881

171,352,969

2,921,412,313

1,440,295,836

164,892,217

1,589,883,807

3,622,741,068

394,615,342

2,712,824,024

171,352,969

2,921,417,459

1,440,737,961

Total Fair Value
LBP’000

-

715,609,642

417,352,068

62,304,148

2,709,500,463

-

7,669,874,068

-

728,889,109

3,294,963

715,609,642

417,352,068

62,304,148

2,709,500,463

3,207,682

7,669,874,068

155,797,027

728,889,109

3,294,963

688,065,991

417,230,385

62,304,148

2,790,467,979

3,207,682

7,769,291,925

155,797,027

744,897,053

4,361,708,149 13,125,307,477 13,018,464,847

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,921,412,313

1,440,295,836

Other at
Total carrying
Amortized cost
value
LBP’000
LBP’000

- 12,303,529,498 12,465,829,170 12,634,557,153

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,261,684,914

158,111,518

-

-

393,664,515

2,709,908,881

Loans &
Receivables
LBP’000

12:24 PM

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

-

Deposits and borrowings from banks

6,780,699

6,780,699

-

-

AFS
LBP’000

8/12/08

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

171,352,969

-

Held-to-maturity investment securities

Total

-

Loans and advances to related parties

-

-

-

-

-

At FVTPL
LBP’000

-

Available for sale investment securities

Loans and advances to customers

171,352,969

Deposits with banks and
financial institutions

Trading assets

-

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Trading Assets
LBP’000

December 31, 2007
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46. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The summary of the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets
and liabilities covered by IAS 39, and their fair values are as follows:

191
-

Held-to-maturity investment securities

Other assets

-

Other borrowings

Certificates of deposit

Total

-

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

Liability under acceptances

-

Customers' deposits designated
at fair value through profit or loss

Related parties' accounts at
amortized cost

-

The basis for the determination of the estimated fair values with respect to
financial instruments carried at amortized cost and for which quoted
market prices are not available is summarized as follows:
31,212,505

-

-

-

-

-

31,212,505

-

1,221,232

1,221,232

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,923,805,532

-

-

2,923,805,532

AFS
LBP’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,968,440,545

-

1,968,440,545

HTM
LBP’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,313,800,693

146,414,897

-

-

452,141,600

1,715,244,196

-

-

-

Loans &
Receivables
LBP’000

8,820,983,041

946,542,355

7,694,034

46,338,621

1,204,632,116

5,890,758,108

-

725,017,807

2,099,431,942

-

-

-

-

-

-

931,091,065

1,168,340,877

8,852,195,546

946,542,355

7,694,034

46,338,621

1,204,632,116

5,890,758,108

31,212,505

725,017,807

9,311,745,838

147,636,129

1,968,440,545

2,923,805,532

452,141,600

1,715,244,196

5,045,894

931,091,065

1,168,340,877

8,866,986,396

925,496,241

7,434,647

46,338,621

1,204,632,116

5,914,224,915

31,212,505

737,647,351

9,202,457,060

147,636,129

1,855,345,321

2,923,805,532

453,345,010

1,716,694,270

5,045,894

932,264,397

1,168,320,507

Other at
Total carrying
Total Fair Value
Amortized cost
value
LBP’000
LBP’000
LBP’000

12:24 PM

Deposits and borrowings from banks

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

5,045,894

-

Available for sale investment securities

At FVTPL
LBP’000

8/12/08

Total

-

Loans and advances to related parties

-

Loans and advances to customers

5,045,894

-

Deposits with banks and
financial institutions

Trading assets

-

Cash, Compulsory deposits and
deposits with Central Banks

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Trading Assets
LBP’000

December 31, 2006
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a) Deposits with Central Bank and financial institutions:
The fair value of current deposits (including non-interest earning
compulsory deposits with Central Banks), and overnight deposits is their
carrying amount. The estimated fair value of fixed interest earning
deposits with maturities or interest reset dates beyond one year from the
balance sheet date is based on the discounted cash flows using prevailing
money-market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and
remaining maturity.

b)Loans and advances to customers and to banks:
The estimated fair value of loans and advances to customers is based on the
discounted amount of expected future cash flows determined at current
market rates.

c) Held-to-maturity investment securities:
The estimated fair value of held-to-maturity investment securities is based
on current yield curve appropriate for the remaining period to maturity.
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d) Deposits and borrowings from banks and customers’ deposits:
The fair value of deposits with current maturity or no stated maturity is
their carrying amount. The estimated fair value on other deposits is based
on the discounted cash flows using interest rates for new deposits with
similar remaining maturity.

e) Other borrowings and certificates of deposit:
The estimated fair value of other borrowings and certificates of deposits is
the discounted cash flow based on a current yield curve appropriate for the
remaining period to maturity.

47. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007 were
approved by the Board of Directors in its meeting held on February 19, 2008.
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BankMed – Head Office
482 | Clemenceau Str. | Tel: 01-373937 | Fax: 01-362706 - 362806
P.O. Box: 11-0348, Riad El Solh, Beirut 1107 2030, Lebanon
www.bankmed.com.lb
Clemenceau Branch
BankMed Center | 482 Clemenceau Str. | Tel & Fax: 01-373937

REGION 1
Phoenicia Branch
Phoenix Tower | Ain Mreisseh | Tel & Fax: 01-369069/70
Hamra Branch
Al Nahar Bldg. | Banque Du Liban Str. | Tel & Fax: 01-353146/7/8 | 03-760007
Makdessi Branch
Diab Bldg. | Makdessi Str. | Hamra
Tel & Fax: 01-344395 | 01-346934 | 01-348167 | 03-288357
Koraytem Branch
Reda Mroue Bldg. | Mme Curie Str.
Tel & Fax: 01-780780 | 01-803160/1/2 | 03-760064
Raouche Branch
Salah Shamma Bldg. | Shouran Str.
Tel & Fax: 01-862696 | 01-808610/1 | 03-760002
Movenpick Branch
Movenpick Hotel | Tel & Fax: 01-799880/1
Justinian Branch
Justinian Center | Justinian Str. | Sanayeh | Beirut
Tel: 01-354866 | 03-094718 | Fax: 01-354474
Istiklal Branch
Tabsh Center | Istiklal Str. | Beirut | Tel & Fax: 01-737576/7 – 743420 | 03-094724
Fosh Branch
Saudi Lebanese Bank Bldg. | Fosh Str. | Beirut Central District | Lebanon
Tel & Fax: 01-976444 | 03-922296

REGION 2
Verdun Branch
Al Shuaa Bldg. | Rashid Karame Ave.
Tel & Fax: 01-866925/6/7 | 03-760063
Mazraa Branch
Etoile 2000 Center | Corniche El Mazraa
Tel & Fax: 01-818166/7/8 | 03-760017
Msaitbe Branch
Al Hana Bldg. | Mar Elias Str. | Tel & Fax: 01-819202/3 | 01-314655 | 03-760011
Summerland Branch
Coral Bldg. | Jnah | Tel & Fax: 01-853444/5/6 | 03-760020
Tarik Jdideh Branch
Malaab El Baladi Square | Tel & Fax: 01-303444 | 01-304861/3 | 03-035251
Airport Branch
MEA PREMISES | Tel & Fax: 01-629360/1/2/3 | 03-760026
Barbir Branch
Koussa Bldg. | Corniche Mazraa | Beirut
Tel & Fax: 01-653120/1 | 01-645115/6 | 03-094805
Chiyah Branch
Ismail Bldg. | Hadi Nasrallah Blvd. | Chiah
Tel & Fax: 01-551999 - 552999 | 01- 554999 | 03-500775
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REGION 3
Ashrafieh Branch
Hadife Bldg. | Charles Malek Avenue | Tel & Fax: 01-200135/6/7/8/9/40 | 03-760001
Hazmieh Branch
Brazilia Str. | Tufenkjian Center | New Damascus Highway
Tel & Fax: 05-450186/7 | 05- 450182 | 03-652402
Mkalles Branch
Al Shams Bldg. | Main Road | Tel & Fax: 01-684051/2 | 03-760008
Broumana Branch
Rizk Plaza | Tel & Fax: 04-860995/6/7/8/9 | 03-760023
Burj Hammoud Branch
Gold & Jewelry Trade Center | 52 Abboud Str. | Tel & Fax: 01-244000 | 03-760065
Jdeideh Branch
Zainoun & Saad Bldg. | Nahr El Maout | Tel & Fax: 01-892055/9 | 03-760006
Zalka Branch
Breezvale Center | Main Road | Tel & Fax: 01-884570/1/2 | 03-760021
Furn El Chebbak
Atallah Freij Bldg. | Damascus Road
Tel & Fax: 01-291618/9/21 | 01-292076 | 03-760009
Sodeco Branch
Sodeco Square | Tel & Fax: 01-611444 | 01-611070/1 | 03-760027
Dora Branch
United Court Bldg. | Dora Highway
Tel & Fax: 01-257960/1 | 01- 257958 | 03-095098

REGION 4
Zouk Mkayel Branch
Abi Chaker Bldg, Zouk | Tel & Fax: 09-211116 | 09-211124 | 03-760003
Kaslik Branch
Dibs Center | Kaslik | Tel & Fax: 09-639472/4 | 09-831599 | 03-241898
Jbeil Branch
Cordahi & Matta Center | Jbeil | Tel & Fax: 09-540195 | 03-760014
Chekka Branch
Mikhael Karam Bldg. | Main Road | Tel & Fax: 06-545121 | 06-545081 | 03-760010
Amioun Branch
Shamas Bldg. | Cedars Str. | Amioun | Tel & Fax: 06-950988/57 | 03-099122
Tripoli Branch
Al Hana Bldg. | Jemmayzat Str. | Tel & Fax: 06-440443 /7 | 03-760013
Tripoli (Al Maarad ) Branch
Al-Maarad Street | Sara Center | Tripoli | Tel & Fax: 06-629435 | 03-094875
Mina Branch
Al Bawab Street | Al – Shiraa Square | Jabado Bldg | Tripoli
Tel & Fax: 06-226700/1/2/3/4/5

REGION 5
Saida Branch
Riad Chehab Bldg. | Riad Solh Str.
Tel & Fax: 07-721788 | 07-723381 | 07-735119/21 | 03-760012
Tyr Branch
Saab & Fardoun Bldg. | Central Bank Str. | Tel & Fax: 07-351151 | 07-351251 | 03-332243
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Khaldé Branch
Salem Center | Main Road | Tel & Fax: 05-800703/4/5 | 03-760004
Saida (Eastern Boulevard) Branch
Al Misbah Bldg. | Jizzine Street | Saida
Tel & Fax: 07-725212 - 724892 - 728744 | 03-094868
Shehim Branch
Noureddine Mrad Bldg. | Shreifeh District | Shehim
Tel & Fax: 07-241005/6/7 | 03-094873
Sineek Branch
Boulevard Maarouf Saad | BankMed Bldg | Tel & Fax: 07-728451/2/7

REGION 6
Chtaura Branch
Al Jinan Bldg. | Main Road | Tel & Fax: 08-542491 | 03-760019
Zahlé Branch
Rashid Salim Khoury Bldg. | Hoshe Zaraina Blvd
Tel & Fax: 08-805777 | 08-805777 | 03-760015
Jib Jinnine Branch
Al Hana Bldg. | West Bekaa | Tel & Fax: 08-661503/4/5/6 | 03-760025

Limassol (IBU)
9 Constantinou Paparigopoulou Str. | Frema House | CY-3106 Limassol | Cyprus.
P.O.Box 54232, CY- 3722 Limassol | Cyprus.
Tel: +357 25817152/3 | 25817157/8 | 25817178/9
Fax: +357 25372711 | e-mail: abbcy@cylink.com.cy

SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES
BankMed Suisse
3, Rue du Mont-Blanc | casa postale 1523 1211 | Geneva 1 | Switzerland | Tel: (+41-22) 9060606
BankMed (Suisse) Representative Office - Beirut
Bashir Al-Kassar Street | Al-Shua'a Building | 3rd floor
Verdun | Beirut | Lebanon | Tel: 01 862042 | Fax: 01 862276
Turkland Bank (T-Bank)
19 Mayıs Cad Sisli Plaza A Blok No:7 | Sisli 34360 | Istanbul | Turkey
Tel: (90-212) 3683434 | Fax: (90-212) 3683535
www.turklandbank.com
Saudi Lebanese Bank S.A.L. Headquarters
Bashir Al-Kassar Street | Al-Shua'a Bldg. | Verdun
Tel: 01- 868987 | Fax: 01- 790250
Telex: 43587 LABANK LE | Cable: SAULBANK
P.O.Box: 11-6765 Riad El Solh | Beirut 1107 2220 | Lebanon | Swift: SLBL LB BX
SaudiMed Investment Company
Suite 1104 | Futuro Building | Al Ma'ather Road | P.O.Box: 63851, Riyadh 11526
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia | Tel: +966 920000371 | Fax: +966 920000372
www.saudimed.com.sa
MedSecurities Investments
482 | Clemenceau Str. | Tel: 01-373937 | Fax: 01-362706 - 362806
P.O. Box: 11-0348, Riad El Solh, Beirut 1107 2030, Lebanon
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LIST OF CORRESPONDENTS

C O U N T RY

C O R R E S P O N D E N T BA N K S

AUSTRALIA
AUSTRIA
BAHRAIN
BELGIUM

Arab Bank Australia *
Bank Austria Creditanstalt
Arab Banking Corporation
Fortis Bank *
ING Bank *
Royal Bank of Canada *
Bank of China Limited
Bank of Cyprus Public Company Limited *
Marfin Popular Bank Public Company Limited *
Danske Bank *
Arab Bank
BNP Paribas *
Natixis *
Commerzbank *
Deutsche Bank *
Dresdner Bank
Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank
Banca Nazionale del Lavoro
Banca UBAE
Intesa SanPaolo *
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ *
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
Arab Bank *
The Housing Bank for Trade & Finance *
Gulf Bank *
National Bank of Kuwait
DnB NOR Bank *
Qatar National Bank
Banque Saudi Fransi *
Riyad Bank *
Saudi Hollandi Bank *
The National Commercial Bank *
The Saudi Investment Bank *
The Standard Bank of South Africa *
Banco de Sabadell *
People's Bank *
Standard Chartered Bank*
Nordea Bank
Svenska Handelsbanken AB *
BankMed (Suisse) *
Credit Suisse *
UBS *
Turkland Bank *
MashreqBank *
Standard Bank PLC
HSBC Bank *
Wachovia Bank *
American Express Bank *
Bank of New York Mellon *
Citibank *
HSBC Bank USA *
JPMorgan Chase Bank *
National Bank of Kuwait, New York Branch *
Wachovia Bank *

CANADA
CHINA
CYPRUS
DENMARK
EGYPT
FRANCE
GERMANY

ITALY

JAPAN
JORDAN
KUWAIT
NORWAY
QATAR
SAUDI ARABIA

SOUTH AFRICA
SPAIN
SRI LANKA
SWEDEN
SWITZERLAND

TURKEY
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES
UNITED KINGDOM
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

* BankMed maintains Nostro account(s) with those banks.
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